

Beyond Jaws: exploring the unseen influence of white shark cage-diving on silver trevally (*Pseudocaranx georgianus*)



By Joshua Donovan Dennis

(BSc. Mar Biol, Hons)

Thesis Submitted to Flinders University for the degree of Doctorate of Philosophy College of Science and Engineering August 2024

CONTENTS

THESIS SUMMARY	III
DECLARATION	v
AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS, PERMITS AND FUNDING	VI
CONFERENCE PRESENTATIONS RELEVANT TO THIS THESIS	VIII
OTHER PAPERS OR CONTRIBUTIONS	IX
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	X
LIST OF FIGURES	XII
LIST OF TABLES	xv
PREFACE	XVII
CHAPTER 1	1
General Introduction	1
1.1 Fish in the Anthropocene	2
1.2 Wildlife tourism	4
1.3 Non-focal impacts	5
1.4 Study site and white shark cage-diving	7
1.5 Silver trevally	
1.6 Research objectives	
1.7 Thesis structure	
CHAPTER 2	14
Feeding from wildlife tourism alters the residency and space-use, but not the activity schooling bentho-pelagic fish	v of a non-focal 14
2.1 Abstract	
2.2 Introduction	
2.3 Methods	
2.4 Results	
2.5 Discussion	
2.6 Conclusion	
CHAPTER 3	
One fish, two fish, three fish, more: novel resighting method produces precise and co estimates of abundance	ost-effective
3.1 Abstract	
3.2 Introduction	
3.3 Methods	
3.4 Results	
3.5 Discussion	
3.6 Conclusions	59

CHAPTER 4
Abundance of silver trevally (Pseudocaranx georgianus) exposed to a resource pulse from wildlife
tourism
4.1 Abstract
4.2 Introduction
4.3 Methods
4.4 Results
4.5 Discussion
4.6 Conclusions
CHAPTER 5
Impacts of supplemental feeding on the growth, body condition, and fatty acid profiles of silver trevally
(Pseudocaranx georgianus)
5.1 Abstract
5.2 Introduction
5.3 Methods
5.4 Results
5.5 Discussion
5.6 Conclusions
CHAPTER 6
General discussion
6.1 Thesis overview
6.2 Ecological disruption: impacts on non-focal movement and behaviour
6.3 Physiological toll: non-focal provisioning and energy budgets
6.4 Nutritional ecology: exploring balanced diets and eco-moderation
6.5 Conserve, cull, compromise: a Neptune Islands case study
6.6 Conclusions
BIBLIOGRAPHY
APPENDICES

THESIS SUMMARY

Wildlife tourism often uses food-based attractants to aggregate focal species, unintentionally attracting and feeding non-focal species, the impact of which is poorly understood. In South Australia's Neptune Islands Group Marine Park, bait and berley (southern bluefin tuna *Thunnus maccoyii*) is used to entice white sharks (*Carcharodon carcharias*) to cage-diving vessels, inadvertently attracting silver trevally (*Pseudocaranx georgianus*). These silver trevally form large aggregations around cage-diving vessels as they consume the bait and berley, often impeding tourists' views of the focal white sharks. The impacts of the white shark tourism industry on the spatiotemporal distribution and behaviour of silver trevally, and potential flow-on effects on their physiological processes (i.e., growth, reproduction, healing) is unknown. This study aimed to comprehensively assess how the aggregatory behaviour and feeding of bait and berley may affect silver trevally movements, abundance, growth, and physiological condition.

Due to impacts on the spatiotemporal distribution and activity of similar non-focal species, I first monitored the movements, distribution, and activity of 25 silver trevally in response to cage-diving operators using a fine-scale acoustic telemetry array (Chapter 2). The number of days silver trevally were present per week and the number of hours per day at the Neptune Islands increased by 32% and 20%, respectively, when operators were present. However, a seasonal exodus by 76% of individuals triggered by low water temperature suggested that silver trevally are not permanent residents of the Neptune Islands, and still undergo natural movements away from this near-continuous source of food. Cage-diving tourism also reduced the core space use of silver trevally, aggregating them at the surface (< 5 m depth), close to food-based operators. Despite changes in space use and residency, overall activity did not substantially increase when operators were present, despite frequently observed bursts of acceleration. The near-continuous feeding on bait and berley, large amount of time spent at the Neptune Islands, and the lack of increased activity might result in an energy surplus in silver trevally and affect growth, reproduction, and physiology.

With an understanding of the spatiotemporal distribution and activity of the silver trevally (Chapter 2), the size of the affected population remained unknown. Therefore, I developed and tested novel mark-resight methods (Chapter 3), using the most precise method to quantify and assess trends in the population size of silver trevally occupying the Neptune Islands (Chapter 4). I tagged 700 silver trevally with conventional identification tags, undertook monthly surveys over two years, and used the acoustically tagged silver trevally from Chapter 2 to estimate resighting probability to improve the precision of modelled population size. I estimated up to ~4000 silver trevally at the Neptune Islands, with the population size decreasing with temperature, aligning with the seasonal exodus observed in Chapter 2. However, the number of silver trevally was not affected by the intensity of cage-diving operations.

iii

I then tested the physiological effects of silver trevally exposure to bait and berley using age-at-length, bioelectrical impedance, and fatty acid analysis (Chapter 5). The silver trevally at North Neptune Islands that are frequently exposed to bait and berley were larger than silver trevally of the same age from locations with similar habitats, but without supplemental feeding from cage-diving operations. This was supported by the higher levels of Eicosapentaenoic and Oleic acid in silver trevally from North Neptune Islands. Eicosapentaenoic and Oleic acid, which are known to be high in the bait and berley used, are also known to be important for multiple physiological functions and to increase the overall growth performance, welfare, and condition of teleosts. However, mortality rate and body condition were similar across locations, indicating that while silver trevally may grow faster, consumption of bait and berley may not lead to negative effects on the health or fitness of silver trevally.

This is the first study to assess the ecology of silver trevally in temperate southern Australia, and how it is influenced by wildlife tourism, providing a baseline for impacts of supplemental feeding on a non-focal species. I found effects on the movement, behaviours, and growth of silver trevally, but broader impacts on their health and physiology were undetected. Importantly, despite the effects described here, exodus from the Neptune Islands during cold periods, and the effect of temperature on population size, indicates that silver trevally are still undergoing natural movements and behaviours triggered by thermal cues. Overall, my study comprehensively assesses the ecology of silver trevally through a multidisciplinary approach, showing that small and non-focal species can be affected by provisioning, despite under representation in management frameworks and investigative studies.

DECLARATION

I certify that this thesis:

1. does not incorporate without acknowledgment any material previously submitted for a degree or diploma in any university

2. and the research within will not be submitted for any other future degree or diploma without the permission of Flinders University; and

3. to the best of my knowledge and belief, does not contain any material previously published or written by another person except where due reference is made in the text.

Signed

Date 21/12/2023

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS, PERMITS AND FUNDING

The following outline the author contributions and acknowledgments for each chapter:

Chapter 2

The conception and design, as well as the acquisition of field data, involved the efforts of <u>J Dennis</u>, L Meyer, T Clarke, and C Huveneers. <u>J Dennis</u> was responsible for analysing and interpreting the research data. H Pederson made substantial contributions to the design of the research and played a key role in the analysis and interpretation of the research data. All authors actively participated in revising drafts of this chapter.

I want to express my gratitude to the operators involved in white shark cage-diving industry: Rodney Fox Shark Expeditions, Calypso Star Charters, and Adventure Bay Charters. Special thanks go to the dedicated staff and crew who supported and facilitated my field work. Additionally, appreciation goes out to the members of the Southern Shark Ecology Group and other volunteers from Flinders University for their assistance in sampling silver trevally and maintaining acoustic receiver arrays.

Chapter 3

The conception and design, as well as the acquisition of field data, involved the efforts of <u>J Dennis</u>, L Meyer, and C Huveneers. <u>J Dennis</u> was responsible for analysing and interpreting the research data. C Dudgeon made substantial contributions to the design of the research and played a key role in the analysis and interpretation of the research data. All authors actively participated in revising drafts of this chapter.

I want to express my gratitude to the operators involved in white shark cage-diving industry: Rodney Fox Shark Expeditions, Calypso Star Charters, and Adventure Bay Charters. Special thanks go to the dedicated staff and crew who supported and facilitated my field work and conducted surveys. Additionally, appreciation goes out to the members of the Southern Shark Ecology Group and other volunteers from Flinders University for their assistance in sampling silver trevally and conducting surveys.

Chapter 4

The conception and design, as well as the acquisition of field data, involved the efforts of <u>J Dennis</u>, L Meyer, and C Huveneers. <u>J Dennis</u> was responsible for analysing and interpreting the research data. C Dudgeon and H Pederson made substantial contributions to the design of the research and played a key role in the analysis and interpretation of the research data. T Clarke aided in the acquisition of field data and analysis of research data. All authors actively participated in revising drafts of this chapter.

I want to express my gratitude to the operators involved in white shark cage-diving industry: Rodney Fox Shark Expeditions, Calypso Star Charters, and Adventure Bay Charters. Special thanks go to the dedicated staff and crew who supported and facilitated my field work and conducted surveys. Additionally,

vi

appreciation goes out to the members of the Southern Shark Ecology Group and other volunteers from Flinders University for their assistance in sampling silver trevally, conducting surveys, and servicing acoustic receiver arrays.

Chapter 5

The conception and design, as well as the acquisition of field data, involved the efforts of <u>J Dennis</u>, L Meyer, T Clarke, and C Huveneers. <u>J Dennis</u> was responsible for analysing and interpreting the research data. J Davey aided in the acquisition of field data and the processing of field data in the laboratory. G Grammer and J Smart made substantial contributions to the design of the research and played a key role in the analysis and interpretation of the research data. All authors actively participated in revising drafts of this chapter.

I want to express my gratitude to the operators involved in white shark cage-diving industry: Rodney Fox Shark Expeditions, Calypso Star Charters, and Adventure Bay Charters. Special thanks go to the dedicated staff and crew who supported and facilitated my field work. Special thanks are extended to J Davey, M Drew, T Rogers, K Sweeney, L Shepard, and K Clarke for their invaluable contributions in providing silver trevally samples. Special appreciation goes to the dedicated staff at SARDI West Beach for their assistance in processing silver trevally samples. I also express thanks to M Riley, C Roberts, C Edwards, B Heath, members of the Southern Shark Ecology Group, and other volunteers from Flinders University for their support in the sampling and dissections of silver trevally.

Permitting and funding

Fish handling and sampling procedures adhered to the ethical standards set by the Flinders University Animal Ethics Committee, as approved under AEB1698-7 and AEB1537/2019.1. All activities conducted within South Australian Marine Parks were carried out in compliance with the Department for Environment and Water Marine Parks Research Activity permit Q26612-6.

Funding was provided by Holsworth Wildlife Research Endowment (2019, 2020, 2021), and the 2020 DEW Marine and Research Scholarship in memory of Peter Fairweather. Joshua Dennis was supported by the Australian Government Research Training Program Scholarship.

CONFERENCE PRESENTATIONS RELEVANT TO THIS THESIS

Dennis JD, Meyer L, Clarke T, Pederson H, Huveneers C 2022. Going beyond the effects of wildlife tourism on target species: does white shark cage-diving change the spatiotemporal distribution of silver trevally (*Pseudocaranx georgianus*), presented at Australian Society for Fish Biology conference (oral presentation).

Dennis JD, Meyer L, Dudgeon C, Huveneers C 2021. Assessing the effect of non-lethal consumptive activities on a non-focal species, presented at World Fisheries Congress (oral presentation).

Dennis JD, Meyer L, Dudgeon C, Huveneers C 2021. Assessing the effects of cage-diving activities on a nonfocal species, presented at Australian Marine Science Association Conference (oral presentation).

Dennis JD, Meyer L, Dudgeon C, Huveneers C 2020. Assessing the effects of cage-diving activities on a nonfocal species, presented at the Australian Society for Fish Biology Conference (oral presentation).

Dennis JD, Meyer L, Huveneers C 2019. Collateral provisioning: effects of cage-diving on silver trevally (*Pseudocaranx georgianus*), presented at Flinders University Higher Degree of Research Conference (oral presentation).

Dennis JD, Meyer L, Huveneers C 2019. Collateral provisioning: effects of cage-diving on silver trevally (*Pseudocaranx georgianus*), presented at the Department of Environment and Water (oral presentation).

OTHER PAPERS OR CONTRIBUTIONS

Huveneers C, Clarke T, <u>Dennis JD</u>, Matley J, Meyer L, Roberts C 2023. Ecologic and economic assessment of the impact of COVID lockdowns and travel restrictions on the white shark cage-diving industry. (In preparation)

Niella Y, Meyer L, Clarke T, <u>Dennis JD</u>, Pederson H, Huveneers C 2024. Effects of wildlife tourism on white shark associative behaviour. Animal Behaviour.

Clarke T, Whitmarsh S, Champion C, Pederson H, Meyer L, <u>Dennis JD</u>, Dwyer R, Huveneers C 2023. Influence of shark tourism on the activity and physiological condition of a non-focal pelagic fish. ICES Journal of Marine Science.

Davey J, Clarke T, Niella Y, <u>Dennis JD</u>, Huveneers C 2023. Seasonal variation in space use and residency of the southern eagle ray *Myliobatis tenuicaudatus* in a temperate ecosystem. Marine Ecology Progress Series, 705:77-94

Huveneers C, Niella Y, Drew M, <u>Dennis JD</u>, Clarke T, Wright A, Bryars S, Braccini M, Dowling C, Newman SJ, and Butcher P 2022. Are sharks attracted to caged fish and associated infrastructure? Marine and Freshwater Research, *73*(11): 1404-1410.

Dennis JD, Huveneers C 2021. Baseline assessment of fish diversity and abundance at the proposed Boston Bay desalination site. Technical report.

Dennis JD, Grammer G, Ward T, Smart J, Huveneers C 2021. Using otolith chronologies to identify extrinsic drivers of growth of 2 commercially targeted small pelagic fish species. Fishery Bulletin, 119: 135-148.

Whitmarsh SK, Amin DB, Costi JJ, **Dennis JD**, Huveneers C 2019. Effectiveness of novel fabrics to resist punctures and lacerations from white shark (*Carcharodon carcharias*): Implications to reduce injuries from shark bites. PLOS ONE 14.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Firstly, I would like to thank my supervisor Charlie Huveneers, for your constant and unwavering guidance and support in all aspects of my project and life these past countless years. Your dedication, passion, drive, and approach to learning and teaching is unmatched, all of which have guided and moulded me into the researcher I am today. Thank you for the countless weeks, days, and hours you have spent revising drafts (even if it's at 3 am), all the time in the field, and keeping me headed in the right direction. I can confidently say that I will correctly use oxford commas, effect or affect, en and em dashes, subscript AIC_c, and many more (well at least 90% of the time). You have provided me with so many skills across fieldwork, data analysis, writing, and beyond, pushing my critical thinking abilities and showing me what I am truly capable of. I am unconditionally grateful to have had you as a supervisor.

To Lauren Meyer, thank you for the endless guidance and support these last several years, from countless drafts to hours catching trevally (even if it's 11pm, and not actually trevally). From helping remove otoliths for a third-year project, to an entire PhD on trevally, all sparking from one of your endless side project ideas. Your support of fun titles, crazy fieldwork ideas (literally chapter 3), and love of admin will not only help me navigate my research career but have fun along the way. I can't thank you enough for having such a pivotal part of my scientific and personal development. I am unreservedly grateful to have been your student.

Tom Clarke (aka Josh), I can safely say I would not have finished this thesis without your help as colleague and a friend, for this I cannot thank you enough. Across the many (mis)adventures and close calls (i.e., Fowler's wave), above and below the surface, and the many frustrations in R, you have always gone above and beyond to help me in every way possible. I couldn't have asked for a better mate to work with and look forward to many more camping, fishing, and jenny adventures into the future.

Throughout my PhD, I had the pleasure of working and collaborating with a number of outstanding researchers which have each played an important part in my research development. To Christine Dudgeon, thank you for the skills and knowledge you have provided in all thing's abundance. Your easy-going attitude and approach to science has shown me that we are never finished learning. To Hugh Pederson, thank you for the insight into the world of acoustic telemetry, so many aspects of my project would not have been possible without you. To Gretchen Grammer, thank you for sparking my interest in otoliths through my honours and now PhD. You started me down my journey with R which has proved to be invaluable in my research career. To Jonathan Smart, thank you for your mateship as a fellow student to professional colleagues. I couldn't think of a better mate to work alongside, but I can't promise I won't snap a few more rods along the way.

Х

To the Southern Shark Ecology Group, thank you for your friendship, support, and laughs over the past several years. Maddie and Isabella, from Mossel Bay to completing our PhDs together, thank you for the support and adventures along the way, I look forward to where our friendship takes us next. Chloe, Jess, Jordan, Sasha, Cameron, the many honours students, and countless volunteers, thank you for making the long days on the water and even longer days on the computer fly by.

To all the cage-diving operators, you have all provided endless support for my research, without which my project would not have been possible. To Andrew Fox and all the crew of Rodney Fox Shark Expeditions, thank you for all the help you have provided sampling trevally, having me onboard, and once in a lifetime experiences provided along the way. To Andrew Wright and all the crew of Calypso Star Charters, thank you for all the help with trevally surveys and servicing receivers, this project would not be possible without your efforts.

To my family and friends who provided endless support, encouragement, or accepting my last-minute trips away, thank you for everything. To my grandparents, your support has made all this possible, this one is for you. To my dogs Jesse, Marshall, and Cooper, coming home and seeing your faces everyday made me forget about even the most stressful times, you are good boys.

To my parents, thank you for the endless encouragement to pursue all my endeavours, your continual sacrifice and support has been the driving force of all the success in my life, for this I am unconditionally thankful. The importance you placed on education from a young age has provided me with the opportunities to pursue a career in something I truly love. I will forever appreciate the sacrifices you have made to allow me to achieve my goals. To my wife Madeline, together we have travelled the world, moved out of home, tied the knot, welcomed Marshall and Cooper to our family, and now completed a Doctorate. Thank you for the unwavering support and love through the highest highs and lowest lows, listening to my frustrations, enduring my long trips away, and putting up with my "delightful" self even after a long day. I honestly couldn't have done this without you by my side.

xi

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Locations of the A. Neptune Islands Group within South Australia, and locations of cage-diving operator anchorages at North (B, C) and South Neptune (B) Islands between August 2019–August 2022 8
Figure 2. Overall objective and aims of thesis with each chapter's contribution to those aim
Figure 3. Map of the Neptune Islands Group in South Australia with (A) positions of 15 acoustic receivers (black diamonds) and VEMCO Positioning System (VPS) locations from 25 acoustically tagged silver trevally (<i>Pseudocaranx georgianus</i>) for the northern side (red circles), and southern side (blue circles), dashed line indicates northern and southern boundary; (B) positions of all white shark cage-diving operations for the duration of the study (orange circles)
Figure 4. Abacus plot for 25 silver trevally (<i>Pseudocaranx georgianus;</i> 15 tagged in October 2019, 397 days battery life; 10 in January 2021, 564 days battery life) from the Neptune Islands, South Australia between November 2019 and August 2022. Size of point shows number of detections; Colour of point indicates sea surface temperature
Figure 5. Weekly summary plot for silver trevally (<i>Pseudocaranx georgianus</i>) at the Neptune Islands Group and for white shark cage-diving operators. Temperature was recorded and averaged across array of 15 acoustic receivers. Percentage of fish detected reflects proportion of tagged individuals at liberty. Residency indicates weekly detection index and activity space indicates 50% Brownian Bridges KUDs 26
Figure 6. Number operator days by white shark cage-diving operators and predicted time spent (minutes), weekly residency (detection index), distance (m), depth (m), activity (m/s; separate models) of silver trevally (<i>Pseudocaranx georgianus</i>) at the Neptune Islands for factor month. Shaded ribbons indicate 95% confidence intervals
Figure 7. Predicted daily time spent (estimated marginal means from Generalised Additive Mixed Model) for silver trevally (<i>Pseudocaranx georgianus</i>) at the Neptune Islands by operator type. Error bars indicate 95% confidence intervals
Figure 8. Predicted weekly residency (detection index) from Generalised Additive Mixed Models for silver trevally (<i>Pseudocaranx georgianus</i>) at the Neptune Islands Group for the number of operator days within a week. Shaded ribbon indicates 95% confidence intervals
Figure 9. Predicted distance to nearest operator vessel (m) from Generalised Additive Mixed Models for silver trevally (<i>Pseudocaranx georgianus</i>) at the Neptune Islands Group for the interaction between hour and operator type. Shaded ribbons indicate 95% confidence intervals
Figure 10. Differences in the use of A. 50% and B. 95% volumetric space on boat days and non-boat days by silver trevally (<i>Pseudocaranx georgianus</i>) at the Neptune Islands Group. Error bars indicate 95% confidence intervals. C. Mean overlap between boat days and non-boat days for 50% (orange) and 95% (light blue) volumetric space
Figure 11. Predicted depth (m) from Generalised Additive Mixed Models for silver trevally (<i>Pseudocaranx georgianus</i>) at the Neptune Islands Group for the interaction between distance and operator type. Shaded ribbons indicate 95% confidence intervals
Figure 12. Predicted activity (ms ⁻¹) from Generalised Additive Mixed Models for silver trevally (<i>Pseudocaranx georgianus</i>) at the Neptune Islands Group for A. depth (m), $R^2 = 8.4 \%$ B. the interaction between hour and operator type, $R^2 = 1.65\%$, and C. the interaction between distance and operator type, $R^2 = 0.86\%$. Shaded ribbons indicate 95% confidence intervals
Figure 13. A. Count of number of days at the Neptune Islands Group for number of days since last boat B. Predicted activity (ms ⁻¹) from Generalised Additive Mixed Models for silver trevally (<i>Pseudocaranx georgianus</i>) at the Neptune Islands Group for number of days since last boat. Shaded ribbons indicate 95% confidence intervals, dashed line indicates predicted activity for 0 days since last boat

Figure 15. Mark-resight and recapture methods. A: 360-Video comprised four GoPro Hero7 cameras mounted on each side of a square wooden board, facing out, deployed from the stern of a vessel to visually sight tagged and untagged individuals (silver trevally *Pseudocaranx georgianus*). B: Swim pass method wherein fish are aggregated at "start" with berley and then prompted to swim to "finish" with additional berley, resulting in individuals showing the tagged side to a single camera lowered from a vessel as they swim from start to finish. C: Large-scale capture where fish are aggregated into the submerged cage before it is lifted, capturing fish within the cage, where they are counted by hand, recording fish ID number if tagged, and then released. Mesh covering the sides of the cage not depicted here. Note the scale bar refers to methods (360-video apparatus, silver trevally swim distance, cage). Fish, cage gaps, and boats are not to scale (silver trevally size range 300–600mm). While not indicated, berley is used in all three methods. 48

Figure 21. Abundance estimates for silver trevally (*Pseudocaranx georgianus*) from the Neptune Islands Group Marine Park, South Australia, for different mark-resight models: IELNE^{AC}: Acoustically detected individuals within 200 m during surveys, and unmarked silver trevally during surveys. IELNE^{MR} & PLNE^{MR}: ID tagged individuals and untagged individuals during surveys. IELNE^{MR-AC}: IELNE^{MR} model with MCMC simulations using resighting probability from IELNE^{AC} model estimates. IELNE^{MR-SP}: IELNE^{MR} model with Figure 28. Predicted phase angle (marginal means) of silver trevally (*Pseudocaranx georgianus*) from South Australia showing effects of A) total length (mm), B) month, and C) habitat. Shaded error bars and error bars indicates 95% confidence intervals. Coastal n = 60 (1 location), North Neptune n = 449 (1 location), Offshore n = 191 (5 locations). 100

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Factors included in Generalised Additive Mixed Models (GAMMs) testing the effects of white sharkcage-diving on the spatiotemporal distribution and behaviour of silver trevally (<i>Pseudocaranx georgianus</i>)at the Neptune Islands Group, South Australia
Table 2. List of Generalised Additive Mixed Models (GAMMs) testing the effects of white shark cage-divingon the spatiotemporal distribution and behaviour of silver trevally (<i>Pseudocaranx georgianus</i>) at theNeptune Islands Group, South Australia.24
Table 3. Summary of models testing the effects of white shark cage-diving on the spatiotemporal distribution and behaviour of silver trevally (<i>Pseudocaranx georgianus</i>). df, degrees of freedom; AIC_c , Akaike's information criterion corrected for small sample size; LL, log-likelihood; ΔAIC_c , difference in AIC_c between the current and the top-ranked model; $wAIC_c$, model probability; variance explained by R_m , marginal (fixed effects) R^2 ; R_c , conditional (fixed and random effects) R^2 . Top-ranked model indicated in bold. Only the top 4 ranked models are presented for table clarity
Table 4. Model selection table for Generalised Linear Models (GLMs) of (a) the total number of individuals (silver trevally, <i>Pseudocaranx georgianus</i>) sighted and (b) the recapture rate (percentage of tagged individuals) at the Neptune Islands Group, South Australia, from three recapture/resight methods across five primary sampling intervals (months). df = degrees of freedom, AIC_c = Akaike's Information Criterion corrected for small sample size, ΔAIC_c = difference in AIC_c between current and top model, AIC_cWt = AIC_c Weight, LL = log-likelihood. The top-ranked model is highlighted in bold
Table 5. Generalised Linear Models (GLMs) estimated coefficients (β), standard errors (SE), z-values, and the individual coefficient Type 1 error estimate (P) for each variable and factor included in the top-ranked models (~Month + Method + Month*Method) for (a) the total number of individuals (silver trevally, <i>Pseudocaranx georgianus</i>) sighted and (b) the recapture rate (percentage of tagged individuals) at the Neptune Islands Group, South Australia, from three recapture/resight methods across five primary sampling intervals (months). Bold values indicate significant values (<0.05)
Table 6. Summary of three recapture/resight methods (360-video, Swim pass, Large-scale capture) across primary sampling periods (months). 55
Table 7. Coefficient of variation (%) for population estimates from three recapture/resight methods (360-video, Swim pass, Large-scale capture, Large-scale capture [with ID] across primary sampling intervals(months).55
Table 8. Mark-resight model input data from resighting surveys and acoustic detections for different models: IELNE ^{AC} : Acoustically detected individuals within 200 m during surveys, and unmarked silver trevally during surveys. IELNE ^{MR} & PLNE ^{MR} : ID tagged individuals and untagged individuals during surveys. IELNE ^{MR-AC} : IELNE ^{MR} model with MCMC simulations using resighting probability from IELNE ^{AC} model estimates. IELNE ^{MR-SP} : IELNE ^{MR} model with MCMC simulations using resighting probability from detected acoustic fish and sighted acoustic fish during surveys.
Table 9. Mean abundance estimates with standard error and coefficient of variance (CV) for four mark- resight models for two sampling years (2020; 2021): IELNE ^{MR} and PLNE ^{MR} : ID-tagged individuals and untagged individuals during surveys. IELNE ^{AC} : Acoustic detections during surveys and untagged individuals during surveys. IELNE ^{MR-AC} : IELNE ^{MR} model with MCMC simulations using resighting probability from IELNE ^{AC} model estimates. IELNE ^{MR-SP} : IELNE ^{MR} model with MCMC simulations using resighting probability from detected acoustic fish and sighted acoustic fish during surveys
Table 10. Summary of models testing the effects of temperature and white shark cage-diving on abundance of silver trevally (<i>Pseudocaranx georgianus</i>). df, degrees of freedom; AIC_c , Akaike's information criterion corrected for small sample size; LL, log-likelihood; ΔAIC_c , difference in AIC_c between the current and the top-ranked model; <i>w</i> AIC _c , model probability; variance explained by R _m , marginal (fixed effects) R ² ; R _c , conditional (fixed and random effects) R ² . Top-ranked model indicated in bold. Only the top 5 ranked models are presented for table clarity

PREFACE

This thesis adopts a thesis by publication format, presenting a collection of peer-reviewed style articles as standalone contributions to the overall research theme. The structure may thus result in some repetition across chapters, a deliberate choice for clarity and completeness within each chapter. Readers are encouraged to recognize the deliberate thematic overlap, appreciating the connection of the research and the cumulative contributions across the thesis to advance the understanding of impacts from wildlife tourism on non-focal species.



CHAPTER 1

General Introduction



1.1 Fish in the Anthropocene

The current geological epoch, termed the Anthropocene is characterised by the dominance of human activities on the climate and environment (Bailey et al., 2022). Since the 1950s, human influence on the natural world has continued to increase as human populations rapidly increase and expand, altering natural processes, and introducing pollutants (Lewis and Maslin, 2015). The impacts of human influence is so pervasive that anthropogenic stressors have been observed in every ecosystem globally, i.e., terrestrial (Ellis, 2011, Hoffmann et al., 2019, Raboin and Elias, 2019); deep-sea and shallow seas (Parton et al., 2019, Wheeler et al., 2020, Alava et al., 2023); and freshwater (Søndergaard and Jeppesen, 2007, Proulx et al., 2019, Häder et al., 2020).

Fish play an active role in the maintenance and functioning of marine ecosystems, occupying almost every trophic level, from the small zooplanktivores to meso-predators and higher top-level predators (Holmlund and Hammer, 1999). Predator-prey interactions involving fish are prominent regulatory processes in aquatic ecosystems affecting the structure, resilience, and stability of food web dynamics and species diversity (Hiddink et al., 2008, Baum and Worm, 2009). Fish also facilitate connection between ecosystems through daily, seasonal, and annual migrations, transporting nutrients across habitats and ecosystems (Polis et al., 1997). For example, millions of pacific sardines (*Sardinops sagax*) undertake a spawning migration during the sardine run, whereby the concentrated abundance during these spawning aggregations attracts opportunistic predators such as gamefish, sharks, seabirds, and marine mammals (Teske et al., 2021). These events act as a source of energy that many species rely on to support physiological processes and behaviours (Metcalfe, 1986, McBride et al., 2015, Kaplan et al., 2019).

The increasing demand for seafood supports wild-caught fisheries and aquaculture industries, providing food for ~1 billion people and 17% of the global protein for human consumption (Pikitch et al., 2014). Fishes therefore play an essential role in food security, especially in developing countries (Henchion et al., 2017). Wild-caught fisheries and aquaculture industries are also economically important, supporting employment and income (Béné et al., 2016, Naylor et al., 2021, Boyd et al., 2022, FAO, 2022). In 2020, ~59 million workers were employed in wild fisheries and aquaculture, with a combined value of ~US\$406 billion (wild fisheries US\$141 billion; aquaculture US\$265 billion) from production of 178 million tonnes (FAO, 2022). Direct economic values also do not consider the indirect economic value of wild fisheries and aquaculture (i.e., processing and transport industries, consumer marketing), estimated to be approximately three times the direct economic value (Lafferty et al., 2015). Several extractive (i.e., recreational fishing; Ditton et al., 2002) and non-extractive (i.e., snorkelling/scuba-diving; Mota and Frausto, 2014) industries also rely on fishes for personal fulfilment and cultural significance (Ignatius and Haapasaari, 2018), further providing social and economic benefits (Cooke et al., 2019, Pascoe et al., 2023). The broad and diverse importance of fishes, both ecologically and economically, highlights the significance of ensuring sustainable

use, particularly as anthropogenic activities continues to increase, potentially impacting fish populations (Díaz et al., 2019, He and Silliman, 2019, Popper and Hawkins, 2019).

In a rapidly changing environment, the increasing overlap and interactions between humans and fish has led to pervasive changes to fish populations (Levin and Poe, 2017, He and Silliman, 2019, Duarte et al., 2021, Bennett et al., 2023). Global fisheries harvesting fish stocks has continued to rise at a rate that has resulted in ~35% of fish stocks categorised as overfished or unsustainable in 2019 (FAO, 2022). Such declines not only impact the exploited species, but can affect entire ecosystems through bottom-up or topdown processes (Shakouri et al., 2010, Duncan et al., 2019). Some extractive methods can also have additional indirect impacts through habitat destruction or modification, e.g., trawling (Jennings and Kaiser, 1998, Halpern et al., 2015, Collie et al., 2017). Non-extractive methods can also affect fish populations. Coastal urbanisation and industrialisation has led to increased reliance on coastlines and oceans for human habitation and infrastructure (i.e., ports; Semeniuk and Cresswell, 2018), and recreation (Defeo and Elliott, 2021). Human expansion has led to increased pollutants and contaminants (Nieukirk et al., 2004, Erbe and McPherson, 2017, Bernaldo de Quirós et al., 2019, Defeo and Elliott, 2021), the spread of diseases (Baskin, 2006, Bowley et al., 2021), introduction of invasive species (Bailey, 2015), and disruption of key behavioural and physiological processes (Haviland-Howell et al., 2007, Hildebrand, 2009, Erbe et al., 2019). Additionally, climate change is driving substantial and wide-spread changes to the marine environment, including raised ocean temperature (Johnson and Lyman, 2020), ocean acidification (Doney et al., 2020), oxygen dead-zones (Altieri and Diaz, 2019), eutrophication (Ngatia et al., 2019, Malone and Newton, 2020), and greater environmental variability (Righetti et al., 2019). Fish can respond to such environmental changes by adjusting their behaviours (e.g. shifting vertical or horizontal movements, residency). This can lead to physiological impacts (i.e. increase rates of oxygen uptake; Clarke and Johnston, 1999) or changes to acidbase regulation (Cattano et al., 2018, Bailey et al., 2022), which in turn can influence vital metabolic processes, resulting in changes to the energy available for overall fitness (Chabot et al. 2016; Pankhurst and Munday 2011).

Other human activities such as provisioning, i.e., the action of providing wildlife with a supplemental food source, is overlooked in comparison to extractive pressures such as fishing. Yet, instances of provisioning are increasing globally and can affect fish communities and ecosystems (i.e., altering community compositions, foraging behaviours, and species abundances; Wen et al., 2019, Shutt and Lees, 2021). Intentional feeding involves food resources being directly provided to wildlife to feed or attract species either for management (human-wildlife conflicts or species recovery; Jones et al., 1995, Martínez-Abraín and Oro, 2013), research (Huveneers et al., 2018b, Whitmarsh et al., 2019), or tourism-related purposes (Sengupta et al., 2021, Meyer et al., 2022). Such intentional feeding occurs globally, across ecosystems, with a range of focal taxa (Green and Higginbottom, 2000, Oro et al., 2013, Meyer et al., 2019, Araujo et al., 2020). Human-mediated provisioning can also be unintentional, whereby wildlife use human food sources

such as crops or fisheries catch (i.e., depredation; Mitchell et al., 2018), food waste (i.e., aquaculture waste Felsing et al., 2005, Elvines et al., 2023), or industry discards (Depestele et al., 2019). For example, 9.13 million tonnes of annual fisheries catch was discarded as unwanted fish (i.e., high grading; Berg, 2019, Standal and Hersoug, 2023) and offal (Gilman et al., 2020, Viglia et al., 2022). Such practices has contributed to ~52 % of seabird species globally consuming marine fishing industry discards (Oro et al., 2013), constituting the primary food source in some populations and altering predator-prey interactions in others (Votier et al., 2004, Bicknell et al., 2013, Oro et al., 2013). Both unintentional and intentional provisioning increases the foraging success of species through a predictable and spatially- and temporallyconsistent food resource, far greater than is possible from natural sources (Becker and Hall, 2014). With the multitude of possible stressors from a variety of anthropogenic sources, identifying and quantifying causative human impacts to develop appropriate mitigation and management strategies is a priority to account for, and remedy these impacts.

1.2 Wildlife tourism

Wildlife tourism is one of the fastest-growing sectors of the tourism industry, with millions of annual participants globally (Scheyvens, 1999, Wearing and Neil, 2009, Trave et al., 2017). Wildlife tourism a significant source of both direct and indirect income, providing an alternative to the extractive use of resources (i.e., hunting and fishing; Higginbottom and Tribe, 2004), and is an effective tool for sustainable development of economies while protecting biodiversity (Twining-Ward et al., 2018). Wildlife tourism represented ~8.25% of the global tourism gross domestic products in 2022 (7.6%; US\$2 trillion; WTTC, 2023), had a value of US\$165 billion in 2022, which is predicted to nearly double to US\$300 billion in the next decade (Insight, 2022). Such economic benefits are driving the continued expansion and emergence of new operations targeting a diverse array of taxa (Patroni et al., 2018). Wildlife tourism has centred many of its core values on the promotion, sustainability, and conservation of the focal species (i.e., species targeted by the tourism operation), ensuring longevity of their industry. Such values have created both on-site (i.e., increased understanding or emotional responses to wildlife encounters) and offsite benefits (i.e., environmental awareness, philanthropic support; Higginbottom and Tribe, 2004, Apps et al., 2018), as well as psychological benefits (Muloin, 1998, Curtin and Kragh, 2014).

Wildlife tourism continues to increase in popularity, with operators using a range of practices to facilitate interactions between participants and species (Meyer et al., 2022). Practices to interact with wildlife can be simple, such as viewing naturally-occurring aggregations (Chapman and Jones, 2009), anticipating seasonal migratory routes (Sprogis and Waddell, 2022), or fenced nature reserves (Noack et al., 2019), allowing passive interactions between tourists and wildlife. However, many focal species are often naturally dispersed in low densities or have short residency periods as they undertake long-range movements or migrations. Controlling for predictability and close-proximity of encounters for tourists can therefore be challenging, placing pressure on operators to ensure customer satisfaction. In response, operators will

often use olfactory (e.g., feeding; Meyer et al., 2019), visual and auditory attractants (attracting, e.g., decoys and bird calls; Vagabov and Eldarov, 2019), or habitat modifications (e.g., artificial light and reefs; Lima et al., 2019), collectively referred to as provisioning (Meyer et al., 2022), to generate consistent, predictable, and up-close encounters. In terrestrial environments direct animal feeding, feeding stations, intentional growth of grasses or nectar-rich shrubs, and providing water is common practice to aggregate wildlife for convenient and consistent viewing (Green and Higginbottom, 2000). For example, feeding stations are used to increase density of game species for hunters, with ~2.8 trillion tonnes of shelled corn provided to big game ungulates every year in the United States (Oro et al., 2013, Murray et al., 2016). Likewise in the marine environment the feeding of sharks and teleosts for tourism also occurs, e.g., whale sharks in the Philippines are provided 150-400 kg per day of sergestid shrimp to allow in-water tourists to observe feeding individuals (Barry et al., 2023), and aggregations of yellowtail kingfish (Seriola lalandi) among other coastal fishes are fed aquaculture pellets and bread by tourists at Lord Howe Island (Brookhouse et al., 2013). As the demand for close encounters and unique experiences with wildlife is propelled by the influences of social media (Bergman et al., 2022) and economic benefits (Huveneers et al., 2017a, Barnes et al., 2019, Healy et al., 2020), so will the occurrence of new wildlife tourism operations to meet this demand.

Exposure to provisioning can have a range of short- and long-term effects on the focal species of wildlife tourism operations (Orams, 2002, Higginbottom et al., 2003, Trave et al., 2017, Meyer et al., 2021). However, the extent of these effects is varied, with some negatively impacting the focal species (i.e., negative), while others can be beneficial (i.e., positive), or have negligible impacts (i.e., neutral). Observed effects include changes to daily residency (negative; Hansen et al., 2023), feeding behaviour (negative; Brookhouse et al., 2013), diel movement patterns (negative; Fitzpatrick et al., 2011), home ranges (negative; Senigaglia et al., 2022), residency (neutral to positive; Brunnschweiler and Barnett, 2013, Sengupta and Radhakrishna, 2018), abundance (neutral; Clarke et al., 2013), encounter rates (neutral to negative; Brunnschweiler et al., 2014), diet (negative; Hines, 2011), energy requirements (neutral to positive; Brunnschweiler et al., 2018), and metabolic rate (negative; Barnett et al., 2016, Barry et al., 2023). These examples highlight the spectrum of effects from negative to positive that can be caused by provisioning and that effects are highly species and site specific. While wildlife tourism management and regulations have traditionally focused on focal species effects from tourism (Meyer et al., 2021), there is a limited understanding of how provisioning practices affect other species within the ecosystem.

1.3 Non-focal impacts

Provisioning during wildlife tourism is focused on attracting focal species, although such practices also lead to the unintentional attraction and feeding of non-focal species (Donalty et al., 2003, Inslerman et al., 2006, Meyer et al., 2021). In some terrestrial situations, non-focal species have been observed to consume the majority of the food supplied (i.e., 98 % of food intended for game wildlife is consumed by

non-game species such as rabbits and rodents; Donalty et al., 2003, Inslerman et al., 2006). Similarly, in the marine environment, wildlife tourism industries will typically select supplemental food that is similar to the natural prey items of focal species (Brunnschweiler et al., 2018, Barry et al., 2023), which are unlikely to represent the natural diets of the non-focal animals that are also attracted by, and consume, the food provided. Yet, in both marine and terrestrial environments, tourism management frameworks and polices that ensure the ecological sustainability of industries and conservation of focal species often do not account for the effects of these industries on non-focal species. Most studies examining the effects of wildlife tourism have largely been on focal species, with only 7% exploring non-focal species or ecosystem-wide effects (Trave et al., 2017, Meyer et al., 2020). Similar impacts to those observed in focal species have also been observed in non-focal species (Clarke et al. 2023, Vignon et al., 2010, Meyer et al., 2020), providing some of the only evidence of non-focal impacts. Due to the lack of studies examining non-focal impacts the need for further research has been highlighted in several studies and reviews (Gallagher et al., 2015, Trave et al., 2017, Gallagher and Huveneers, 2018, Patroni et al., 2018, Meyer et al., 2020, Meyer et al., 2021).

The impacts of provisioning from non-tourism-based industries on non-focal species can provide an insight into the potential effects of provisioning from tourism operations. In the terrestrial environment, about 85% of studies assessing behavioural responses of wildlife to supplementary (i.e., at risk populations) or diversionary feeding stations show some effects on non-focal species (Milner et al., 2014), with supplemental food sources increasing predation rates (Cooper and Ginnett, 2000, Hamilton et al., 2002) and in some cases poisoning non-focal species (i.e., containing species specific toxic compounds; Brown and Cooper, 2006). In the marine realm, wild fish often scavenge on waste material such as faecal matter and uneaten food pellets from open ocean aquaculture pens (Felsing et al., 2005) which also results in the organic enrichment of benthic habitats and flow on effects on benthic species (Elvines et al., 2023). Consumption of supplemental food sources has been detected in the fatty acid profiles of wild fishes, showcasing alterations to the diet and nutrition of these non-focal species, which can impact their physiology and behaviours (Fernandez-Jover et al., 2011, Uglem et al., 2014, Barrett et al., 2019), alter diets (Elvines et al., 2023, Takahata et al., 2023), and increase growth (Barrett et al., 2019) and energy stores (Uglem et al., 2014). Similar impacts on non-focal species have been observed from marine wildlife tourism operations that uses food-based attractant. For example, wildlife tourism can increase site fidelity and reduce space use of smooth stingray (Rizzari et al., 2017), alter fish behaviour and increase predation frequency (Milazzo et al., 2006), and increase the prevelance of parasite infestations of blacktip grouper (Epinephelus fasciatus; Vignon et al., 2010), none of which are the species targeted by the tourism industry.

The use of provisioning can result in an individuals' inability to adapt to the novel situation presented by the supplemental food source and to individuals being caught in an ecological trap. Human-driven change (i.e., through provisioning) can supress an individual's ability to assess a habitat's true quality, resulting in

behaviours based on false or altered environmental cues which they believe will maximise their fitness (Battin, 2004). Without negative feedback to discourage or prevent detrimental behaviour or interaction, the positive reinforcement can lead to reduced survival (Schlaepfer et al., 2002, Norris et al., 2013), altered reproductive behaviours (Pelicice and Agostinho, 2008, Penteriani et al., 2018), physiological impacts (Huang et al., 2018, Krams et al., 2022), and decreased overall fitness (Corcoran et al., 2013, Hale and Swearer, 2016). Due to the maladaptive behaviours and habitat selection that can occur due to provisioning, animals can become dependent on the human-mediated food source or anthropogenic cues that provides positive reinforcement (Semeniuk, 2009). In wildlife tourism, ecological traps from supplemental feeding have previously been described at popular tourism sites (Semeniuk, 2009, Corcoran et al., 2013). At the Cayman Islands, Stingray City Sandbar receives ~1 million visitors per year, with tourists feeding squid to southern stingrays (Dasyatis americana; Corcoran et al., 2013), altering their diel behaviour patterns, reduced their activity space, and increased site fidelity to the feeding site. These changes and increased concentration of individuals within a small area led to increased physical contact between conspecifics, parasite loading, disease transmission, and physical injuries, altered blood chemistry, resulting in poorer body condition, and subsequently impacting fitness (Semeniuk et al., 2007, Semeniuk and Rothley, 2008, Semeniuk et al., 2009). While these changes in focal species can be mitigated through policy and management strategies, similar ecological traps can occur for non-focal species which are typically not considered in industry regulations.

1.4 Study site and white shark cage-diving

The Neptune Islands group in South Australia is an offshore temperate group of granite islands, 60– 70 km southeast of Port Lincoln (Figure 1). The island group is comprised of the North Neptune and South Neptune Islands, that are ~12 km apart (Figure 1B) and are characterised by seagrass, sand, and macroalgae reef substrate. The islands host local and migratory sea birds (e.g., white breasted sea eagles *Haliaeetus leucogaster*, osprey *Pandion haliaetus*, cape barren goose *Cereopsis novaehollandiae*, shy albatross *Thalassarche cauta*), breeding colonies of Australian sea lions (*Neophoca cinerea*) and long-nosed fur seals (*Arctocephalus forsteri*), as well as diverse fish and elasmobranch communities (Whitmarsh, 2019). In 2012, these islands became part of the Neptune Islands Group (Ron and Valerie Taylor) Marine Park due to the range of ecologically important resident and transient species found at the Neptune Islands group, with the South Neptune Island group becoming a habitat protection zone and the North Neptune Island group becoming a sanctuary zone (Baker, 2004, DEW, 2016, DEWNR, 2012).

White shark cage-diving is a globally popular form of wildlife tourism, occurring in Australia, South Africa, United States, Canada, and New Zealand. The Neptune Islands Group Marine Park is home to the only location where white shark cage-diving tourism is permitted in Australia. Beginning in the late 1970s in Spencer Gulf (South Australia) and expanding to several location by the early 2000s, cage-diving activities were restricted to the Neptune Islands Group in 2002. Cage-diving is permitted at the North and South

Neptune Islands, but ~85% of tours occur at North Neptune Islands (J Dennis, unpublished data). Due to prevailing weather and ocean conditions, cage-diving operators typically anchor on the south-eastern side or northern side of the North Neptune Islands group (Figure 1C). From 2007, the industry expanded from two operators running tours on ~125 days year⁻¹ (2000–2006) to three operators taking tourists to the Neptune Islands more than twice as much (~265 days year⁻¹; 2008–2011; Bruce and Bradford, 2013). This increase in cage-diving intensity altered the residency and spatiotemporal distribution of white sharks at the Neptune Islands (Bruce and Bradford, 2013, Huveneers et al., 2013). In response, the South Australian White Shark Tour Licensing Policy was developed and implemented by the South Australian Government in 2014, limiting the number of operators (3), operating days (12 per fortnight), and the daily quantity of foodbased attractant used by operators (100 kg per food-based operator). Two cage-diving operators use a near-continuous plume of berley (minced southern bluefin tuna *Thunnus maccoyii*) and tethered baits (southern bluefin tuna gills and stomachs) to entice sharks into the field of view of tourists (Huveneers and Lloyd, 2017, Huveneers et al., 2017b, Meyer et al., 2020), while an additional third company used soundbased stimuli (music played through underwater speakers) to attract white sharks.



Figure 1. Locations of the **A.** Neptune Islands Group within South Australia, and locations of cage-diving operator anchorages at North (**B**, **C**) and South Neptune (**B**) Islands between August 2019–August 2022.

White sharks interacting with the cage-diving operators are not intentionally fed as the bait is retracted before sharks can consume it. While the berley particles are too small to be consumed by white sharks, several non-focal species have altered diets owing to the consumption of these berley particles and bait, including: coastal-pelagic fishes (silver trevally *Pseudocaranx georgianus*, yellowtail kingfish *Seriola lalandi*), reef fishes (horseshoe leatherjacket *Meuschenia hippocrepis*, bluethroat wrasse *Notolabrus tetricus*, magpie perch *Pseudogoniistius nigripes*), and rays (southern eagle ray *Myliobatis tenicaudatus*, smooth ray *Bathytoshia brevicaudata*; Meyer et al., 2020). Incidental feeding at the Neptune Islands has also been shown to influence the behaviour and residency of several of these non-focal species. Large pelagic yellowtail kingfish increased daily residency and activity and burst events while interacting with the cage-diving operators (Clarke et al., 2022, Clarke et al., 2023). Similarly, cage-diving increased site fidelity and altered the space use of smooth rays (Rizzari et al., 2017). An assessment of the dietary composition of several demersal and pelagic species also demonstrated diet alterations resulting from the bait and berley used by the cage-diving industry (Meyer et al., 2020).

At the Neptune Islands, silver trevally is the most frequently observed non-focal species, forming large aggregations around the cage-diving vessels, impeding tourists' views of white sharks (J. Dennis, A Fox, A Wright, pers. obs.; Supplementary material 1). The ensuing tourist dissatisfaction has led operators to state that silver trevally are "in plague proportion" and to propose a need for culling silver trevally at the Neptune islands. The bait and berley used by the cage-diving industry provide an unnaturally high proteinand calorie-rich food source to the non-focal silver trevally (Gomon et al., 2008). Consuming most of the bait and berley, silver trevally make quick bursts of acceleration towards fresh tethered baits when they are thrown in the water and appear to be constantly present around the cage-diving vessels (Supplementary material 2). However, it is unknown if these are the same individuals staying close to the vessels or that the silver trevally population is so large that schools of silver trevally are constantly present around the cages even if individuals remain next to the vessels for short periods. Reports from the industry suggest that the consumption of this bait and berley may be increasing the abundance of silver trevally at the Neptune Islands (A Fox, pers. obs.), while biochemical tracers and stomach content analysis show that the diet of silver trevally at the Neptune Islands shifted due to the consumption of bait and berley (Meyer et al., 2020). Similar non-focal carangids at the Neptune Islands Group which share the observed change in diet have displayed behavioural changes from interactions with the industry, leading to implications for their energy budgets and physiology (Clarke et al., 2022, Clarke et al., 2023). Previous studies suggest that in instances of increased activity, additional food intake might be required for these species to compensate for heightened energy expenditure from interacting with tourism operations (Barnett et al., 2016, Barry et al., 2023, Clarke et al., 2023). Considering the effects observed for focal and non-focal species interacting with wildlife tourism and provisioning, it is unknown whether effects from the industry on silver trevally extend beyond diet to their spatiotemporal distribution, behaviour, activity, and abundance. Combined with the

previously documented dietary shift (Meyer et al., 2020), the energy budgets of silver trevally could become unbalanced, with flow-on effects for physiological processes (i.e., growth, reproduction, healing). Furthermore, positive reinforcement from provisioning has the potential to impede environmental cues that trigger natural movements and behaviours, leading to an ecological trap, further impacting the health and fitness of the silver trevally.

1.5 Silver trevally

Silver trevally is a schooling reef-associated benthopelagic carangid, occurring in temperate estuarine and near-shore waters (Gomon et al., 2008, French et al., 2013) from northern Perth (Western Australia) to northern Sydney (New South Wales), as well as Norfolk island and New Zealand in the Tasman Sea (Smith-Vaniz and Jelks, 2006, Gomon et al., 2008). Juveniles typically inhabit shallow reef in coastal regions, moving to deeper waters as they grow, with the oldest individuals residing in > 60 m depth (Rowling and Raines, 2000, Farmer et al., 2005). Silver trevally are often observed at 300–400 mm total length, but can grow up to ~900 mm, with individuals from Australia aged up to 18 years (Rowling and Raines, 2000). Silver trevally from New Zealand display significantly greater longevity and maximum sizes, with some individuals reaching over 45 years and up to ~1200 mm (Walsh et al., 2014). Reaching maturity between 2–4 years, spawning occurs over an extended period as they are serial batch spawners with indeterminate fecundity (Rowling and Raines, 2000, Gomon et al., 2008). Spawning occurs in southern and eastern Australia from early spring to summer in estuaries and coastal waters, although the exact period has been suggested to vary with latitude (Farmer et al., 2005). The diet of silver trevally changes ontogenetically, feeding on small benthic invertebrates and zooplankton as juveniles and transitioning to benthopelagic teleosts and small cephalopods when they attain a larger size (i.e., > 220 mm; French et al., 2012, French et al., 2013). Multiple movement types have been suggested for silver trevally within southeastern Australia, with some individuals being relatively sedentary (i.e., recaptured at tagging locations; Fowler et al., 2018; home range < 1.3 km²; Fairclough et al., 2011) or exhibiting strong homing behaviour (i.e., range of < 10 km; Fowler et al., 2018, and < 4 km; Taylor et al., 2018), while others undertake extensive migrations of over 500 km along the NSW coast in 17 days (Fowler et al., 2018).

The biological stock structure of silver trevally is currently uncertain, with varying species complexes across different regions and jurisdictions. Silver trevally is present in all jurisdictions except Queensland and Northern Territory (Smith-Vaniz and Jelks, 2006, Gomon et al., 2008). Stock status determination for the Commonwealth and all states is considered to be sustainable, except for New South Wales which is currently depleted due to the decline in commercial and recreational catches and biomass estimates, and impaired recruitment (Fowler et al., 2023). In South Australia, silver trevally are a tertiary species within the Marine Scalefish fishery, with a total catch of ~9 tonnes in 2021–2022 (Smart et al., 2023). While the commercial targeting of silver trevally in South Australia is limited compared to other states and fisheries (e.g. ~329 tonnes year-1 Australia-wide; Fowler et al., 2018), they are often targeted by recreational anglers

(33,228 individuals ± 12,878 standard error in 2021–2022; Beckmann et al., 2023). In light of the closures placed on snapper fishing in South Australia (Drew et al., 2022) and the strong fighting ability of silver trevally, recreational anglers in South Australia may increasingly target the species.

1.6 Research objectives

The main objective of this study was to determine the impact of the white shark cage-diving industry in South Australia on silver trevally, and assist managers make informed decisions regarding the management of the industry and its potential effects on non-focal species. This objective branches into three overarching aims to:

- 1) assess the spatiotemporal distribution of silver trevally in relation to white shark cage-diving;
- quantify the abundance of silver trevally interacting with cage-diving vessels at the Neptune Islands; and
- determine if bait and berley from the cage-diving industry is affecting the growth, and physiological condition of silver trevally

To address these aims, I have compiled four data chapters (excluding this introductory and general discussion, each with specific aims and goals which link to the overall objective of this study (Figure 2). Findings will provide important information about the interactions between non-focal species and supplemental feeding from wildlife tourism, supporting the need for management of tourism operations and anthropogenic activities to account for non-focal species when considering the ecological sustainability of a tourism industry.



Figure 2. Overall objective and aims of thesis with each chapter's contribution to those aim.

1.7 Thesis structure

Chapter 1 provided a general introduction of the challenges fish face in the Anthropocene epoch, wildlife tourism, and impacts on non-focal species. I then introduced the potential implications of white shark cagediving on the spatiotemporal distribution, behaviour, activity, and physiology of silver trevally. This chapter presents a brief introduction to the key topics included in the thesis, as more details are provided within the subsequent data chapters.

Chapter 2 examined the influence of white shark cage-diving on the spatiotemporal distribution and activity of silver trevally at the Neptune Islands. Silver trevally residency, space use, depth, and activity were assessed over 2.5 years using acoustic tracking, and compared during times that food-based operators were present and absent. This chapter aligns with aim 1 (Figure 2).

Chapter 3 developed and compared three new mark-resight/recapture methods to estimating the abundance of schooling pelagic fish. These findings relate to aim 2 (Figure 2) and was accepted in the *Journal of fish biology*.

Chapter 4 uses the best method developed and tested in Chapter 3 to estimate the abundance of silver trevally at the Neptune Islands Group Marine Park. Monthly resighting surveys were conducted for two years and used to estimate monthly abundance of silver trevally, comparing variations to environmental variables and cage-diving intensity. Findings from this chapter align with aim 2 (Figure 2).

Chapter 5 investigated the effects of supplemental feeding from white shark cage-diving tourism on the growth and physiological condition of silver trevally at North Neptune Islands across multiple years. Silver trevally growth, mortality, body condition, and fatty acid profiles were assessed to reveal if bait and berley consumption was affecting trevally physiology and fitness. This chapter aligns with aim 3 (Figure 2).

Chapter 6 synthesises results from Chapters 2–5 and discusses the major findings and inferences for the improved understanding of the impacts of wildlife tourism on a non-focal species in southern Australia. This highlights that small and non-focal species can be affected by provisioning, despite being underrepresented in management regulations and policies of wildlife tourism



CHAPTER 2

Feeding from wildlife tourism alters the residency and space-use, but not the activity of a non-focal schooling bentho-pelagic fish



2.1 Abstract

Many wildlife tourism operations use food-based attractants to aggregate focal species within view of customers. While this can adversely affect the focal species, there is limited understanding of its effects on non-focal species which often also respond to the food-based attractant. At the Neptune Islands Group Marine Park, South Australia, bait and berley are used to entice white sharks (Carcharodon carcharias) towards cage-diving vessels, but silver trevally (Pseudocaranx georgianus) are also attracted and form large aggregations around these vessels. Silver trevally feed on the bait and berley which affects their diet, but it is unknown whether these effects extend to the movements (i.e., residency and spatiotemporal distribution) and energy budgets. I used a fine-scale acoustic telemetry array (Vemco Positioning System) to monitor the movement and activity of 25 silver trevally in response to white shark tourism. The presence of cage-diving operators increased weekly residency and daily amount of time spent at North Neptune Islands by 32% and 20%, respectively, while also reducing their core space by aggregating silver trevally at the surface (< 5 m depth), close to food-based operators. Despite observations of silver trevally bursting towards tethered baits, changes in activity was minimal. Even though observed behavioural shifts as a result of provisioning were observed, seasonal exodus by 76% of individuals triggered by thermal conditions indicates that silver trevally still undergo natural movements and behaviours. However, the supplemental nutrients from feeding on bait and berley and substantial amount of time spent at the Neptune Islands has the potential to alter the energy budgets of silver trevally. Findings from my study reveal the impacts that wildlife tourism can have on non-focal schooling pelagic fish, supporting the need for wildlife tourism management to account for the whole ecosystem when determining the ecological sustainability of a tourism industry.

2.2 Introduction

Animal movements are instrumental in numerous ecological processes, such as nutrients and energy transfer, predator-prey interactions, and population dynamics, and ultimately drives global productivity within and across ecosystems (Bowler and Benton, 2005, Parsons et al., 2013, Hussey et al., 2015). These movements can occur over a few metres or kilometres in highly resident species (Barnett et al., 2012, Carlisle et al., 2019, Rider et al., 2021), to thousands of kilometres as part of seasonal migrations between hemispheres (Robinson et al., 2010, Bauer and Hoye, 2014). Animals move for various reasons, including habitat suitability (Boyce et al., 2016), foraging needs (Moorcroft and Barnett, 2008, Staniland et al., 2018), predator avoidance (Heupel and Hueter, 2002), or reproductive opportunities (Lassis et al., 2022). Anthropogenic activities can also influence movements (Morales et al., 2010, Corradini et al., 2021, Huveneers et al., 2021), e.g., in response to climate change (Bowler and Benton, 2005, Champion et al., 2018a, Gervais et al., 2021), habitat fragmentation and modification (Marques et al., 2020), introduced species (Tabak et al., 2017), or industries such as wildlife tourism (Trave et al., 2017).

Energy budgets balance energy assimilated through food, with energy lost through metabolic process (growth, repair, reproduction) and activity (Soofiani and Hawkins, 1985). As animals do not have accesses to unlimited resources, energy budgets manage the balance and allocation of the finite available resources to the multitude of physical and physiological processes required by an individual. Given this delicate balance, even minor changes in behaviour (Barry et al., 2023), environmental conditions (Volkoff and Ronnestad, 2020), frequency and quantity of feeding events (Brookhouse et al., 2013, Barnett et al., 2016), competition (Neuenfeldt et al., 2020), and locomotion (Fitzpatrick et al., 2011) inherently impact the energy budget of individuals. For example, a reduction in nectar and flower availability increases the foraging time of broad-billed hummingbirds (*Cynathus latirostris*), resulting in higher energy expenditure (Shankar et al., 2019). With movement and site fidelity inherently linked to energy gain and metabolic rate, changes to movement and behaviour patterns can alter individual's overall health, fitness, and energy budgets (Lusseau, 2004, Williams et al., 2006, Fitzpatrick et al., 2011).

Wildlife tourism is one of the fastest-growing sectors of the tourism industry, with millions of annual participants (Scheyvens, 1999, Wearing and Neil, 2009, Trave et al., 2017) and an estimated value of US\$135 billion in 2022, that is predicted to grow to US\$219 billion by 2032 (Insight, 2022). However, many tourism operators use olfactory (e.g., food; Meyer et al., 2019), visual and auditory attractants (e.g., decoys and bird calls; Vagabov and Eldarov, 2019), or habitat modifications (e.g., artificial light and reefs; Lima et al., 2019), collectively referred to as provisioning (Meyer et al., 2022) to ensure consistent and predictable up-close encounters for tourists. White shark (Carcharodon carcharias) cage-diving is a popular form of wildlife tourism, occurring at five locations globally, including at the Neptune Islands Group Marine Park in South Australia. At the time of my study, three operators ran cage-diving trips at the Neptune Islands, using different stimuli to aggregate white sharks within the field of view of the tourists (Huveneers et al., 2017b, Meyer et al., 2020, Clarke et al., 2022). Two operators used a near-continuous berley plume consisting of minced southern bluefin tuna (Thunnus maccoyii, tuna hereafter) and tethered baits (tuna gills and stomachs; Bruce and Bradford, 2013), while a third operator used music played through underwater speakers as an auditory attractant (Huveneers et al., 2018a, Clarke et al., 2022). Intentionally feeding white sharks is prohibited by industry regulations (i.e., bait is retracted before sharks can consume it; DEW, 2016) and the berley particles are too small to be consumed by white sharks. However, several non-focal species consume these berley particles and feed on the bait, including coastal-pelagic fishes (silver trevally Pseudocaranx georgianus, yellowtail kingfish Seriola lalandi), reef fishes (horseshoe leatherjacket Meuschenia hippocrepis, bluethroat wrasse Notolabrus tetricus, magpie perch Pseudogoniistius nigripes), and rays (southern eagle ray Myliobatis tenicaudatus, smooth ray Bathytoshia brevicaudata; Meyer et al., 2020). Incidental feeding of non-focal species at the Neptune Islands influence the movements and activity of some of these non-focal species, e.g., increased time spent around the Neptune Islands during cagediving operations by smooth rays (Rizzari et al., 2017) and yellowtail kingfish (Clarke et al., 2022). Regular

exposure to provisioning affects focal and non-focal species, with previous studies documenting changes in habituation (Brookhouse et al., 2013), abundance (Kurita, 2014), behaviour (Hansen et al., 2023), movement and residency (Maljković and Côté, 2011, Sengupta and Radhakrishna, 2018, Senigaglia et al., 2022), diet (Hines, 2011), and energy budgets (Maréchal et al., 2016, Barry et al., 2023). With provisioning from tourism at the Neptune Islands already influencing mobile and large-bodied benthic (smooth ray) and pelagic (yellowtail kingfish) species (Rizzari et al., 2017, Clarke et al., 2022, Clarke et al., 2023), there have been increased concerns that the cage-diving industry might affect other non-focal species (A Fox and A Wright, pers. comm.).

At the Neptune Islands, silver trevally is the most frequently observed non-focal species, forming large schools around the cage-diving vessels and cages, impeding tourists' views of white sharks (Supplementary material 1; J Dennis, unpublished data). Trevally also make quick bursts of acceleration towards fresh tethered baits when they are thrown in the water (Supplementary material 2). While the cage-diving industry has changed the diet of silver trevally (Meyer et al. 2020), it is unknown whether effects from the industry extend beyond diet to the spatiotemporal distribution and behaviour of silver trevally. Furthermore, the potential increase of activity from frequent accelerations towards the bait, combined with the previously documented dietary shift (Meyer et al., 2020), could unbalance the energy budgets of silver trevally with potential flow-on effects for physiological processes (i.e., growth, reproduction, healing).

Here, I used acoustic tracking and a Vemco Positioning System (VPS) array over three consecutive years (2019–2022) to assess the spatiotemporal distribution and behaviour (activity and depth) of tagged silver trevally interacting with white shark cage-diving operations. I aimed to quantify the daily and weekly residency of silver trevally around cage-diving vessels and assess changes in horizontal and vertical distributions in response to white shark tourism. Specifically, I hypothesised that 1) interacting with the cage-diving industry increases the residency and time spent of silver trevally at the Neptune Islands and decreases their space use; 2) silver trevally occur shallower when vessels are present because the food is disbursed on the surface, and 3) activity increases when cage-diving operators are present due to bursts of swimming to feed on the berley and bait.

2.3 Methods

Receiver array

I deployed 15 VR2AR acoustic receivers (Innovasea [formerly known as Vemco], Nova Scotia, Canada, innovasea.com) at the Neptune Islands Group Marine Park (-35° 13' 48", 136° 4' 12") for a continuous 3year period from August 2019 to August 2022 (serviced every 12 months; Figure 3A). I designed the array to enable fine-scale positioning of tagged individuals through a VPS (Espinoza et al., 2011, Orrell and Hussey, 2022). I tested the detection range of receivers prior to designing and deploying the VPS array, which showed an 80% detection probability at ~300 m, as such, I deployed receivers ~300 m apart to allow simultaneous detections of transmitters integrated within the VR2AR by nearby receivers. In this approach, the internal clock of each receiver was synchronised, allowing the fine-scale position of tagged fish to be calculated using the difference in time-of-arrival of acoustic detections by multiple receivers (Espinoza et al., 2011). Time synchronisation of the array was performed in the Fathom Position software (Innovasea, version 2.0.3). Bathymetry of receiver positioning ranged from 8–46 m, and receivers were deployed on mooring consisting of 16–18 mm anchor chain links (50–100 kg), a rope canister to enable retrieval of anchor chains upon receiver recovery, and a 30 cm diameter sub-surface buoy. Due to a lack of synchronisation between both sides of the Neptune Islands, positional error corrections were performed separately for each side of the Neptune Islands (northern side, southern side; Figure 3A). I used linear regressions constructed between the measured horizontal positional errors of the synchronisation transmitters within each VR2AR receiver (HPEm), with the corresponding values or error sensitivity (HPE), to obtain the equations representative of the fine-scale positional errors for each side of the Neptune Islands. These linear equations were then applied to the silver trevally HPEs values to calculate the HPE for each fine-scale position. Positions had higher accuracy on the southern side (minimum error = 0.74 m) than on the northern side (minimum error = 28.28 m). The difference in accuracy between the two sides is due to differences in the noise (biological and physical) at the Island group. To account for this, all silver trevally positions with HPE errors > 40 m (i.e., < 2.9% of all silver trevally positions) were excluded from the analyses. This filtering process ensures only accurate positions are used, preventing implications and limitations due to positional error or detection efficiency from affecting this study.


Figure 3. Map of the Neptune Islands Group in South Australia with (**A**) positions of 15 acoustic receivers (black diamonds) and VEMCO Positioning System (VPS) locations from 25 acoustically tagged silver trevally (*Pseudocaranx georgianus*) for the northern side (red circles), and southern side (blue circles), dashed line indicates northern and southern boundary; (**B**) positions of all white shark cage-diving operations for the duration of the study (orange circles).

Acoustic tagging

I surgically implanted acoustic transmitters (V9AP, Innovasea, Nova Scotia, Canada) into the peritoneal cavity of 25 silver trevally (15 in October 2019 [397 days battery life]; 10 in January 2021 [564 days battery life]; increase in battery life was due to new circuit board design using the same programming). I caught silver trevally via hook and line and anaesthetised using AQUI-S Aquatic Anaesthetic (15 mg/L, AQUI-S, New Zealand). I made a 20–30 mm incision on the ventral side of the peritoneal cavity, inserted the transmitter, and closed the incision using 2–3 absorbable running sutures (Monosyn 2-0/3-0, B. Braun). I implanted a conventional external tag into the dorsal musculature to identify acoustically tagged fish if recaptured. After tagging, I placed silver trevally in a recovery tank for 10–20 minutes before release. Acoustic tags were equipped with acceleration and pressure sensors (Supplementary material 3).

Data analysis

I recorded the daily positions of white shark cage-diving vessels and the duration of their operations through an industry-designed 'cage-diving mobile application (Figure 3B; Nazimi et al., 2018). The recorded data included anchoring location (latitude and longitude), time bait and berleying or sound attraction commenced and ceased, and operator type (food-based or sound-based attractant). Due to the irregular schedules of the operators, each day can have differing combinations of operator presence. Thus, I categorised each day into one of six *operator types*: no operators, all operators, one food-based, two food-based, sound-based only, or one food-based + sound-based. Additionally, I calculated operating days as the number of days at least one operator was present (i.e., one day for 1–3 operators present) within that week (i.e., 0–7 *operating days*) based on iso-week (Monday to Sunday) using the 'isoweek()' function from the lubridate package (version 1.9.0; Spinu et al., 2018) in R (R Core Team 2016). Finally, I categorised each day according to whether operators were present or absent (*operator presence*: operator days, non-operator days).

I conducted all analyses in the R statistical environment (version 4.2.1; R Core Team 2016) using the VTrack package (version 2.1.0; Campbell et al., 2012) with the Animal Tracking Toolbox extension (Udyawer et al., 2018). I investigated the responses of silver trevally to cage-diving operations using the following response variables: time spent in the array, weekly residency, distance between silver trevally and operators, volume of space use, depth, and activity. I estimated the amount of time spent (minutes) in the array (*daily residency*) for each individual by calculating the time between the first and last detections for each day detected. I calculated weekly residency as the proportion of days detected within an iso-week using the 'detectionSummary' function in VTrack. I investigated the volume of space use (m^3) by silver trevally at the Neptune Islands by calculating monthly three-dimensional kernel utilisation distribution core space (50%-3DKUD) and extent of space (95%-3DKUD) and estimating the overlap of space use (50%-3DKUD and 95%-3DKUD) between operator days and non-operator days (percentage overlap, i.e., more overlap = similar areas of space-use). Approximate positions of silver trevally within the Neptune Islands

array were estimated through 60-min centres of activity (COAs; Simpfendorfer et al., 2002) using the 'COA' function in VTrack which were then used with the 'vol3d()' function in KUD3D (version 0.1.0; Udyawer et al., 2018), and code adapted from Simpfendorfer et al. (2012) and Cooper et al. (2014) to calculate monthly 3DKUDs and overlap.

For each silver trevally position estimated via the VPS, I calculated the *distance* in meters between silver trevally and the closest cage-diving operators using the 'distHarversine' function in geosphere (Hijmans et al., 2017). Distance between silver trevally and operators could not be calculated on non-operator days. I instead estimated dummy operator positions based on the normal distribution of the monthly mean latitude and longitude of existent operator positions, with a standard deviation of 0.0015 degrees (150 m; based on mean variation in anchorage positions) to add random variation to the dummy positions. I assigned *depth* to VPS position estimates with an activity value based on the closest detections with a pressure sensor value occurring within twenty minutes of the VPS position estimate.

Statistical models

I used Generalised Additive Mixed Models (GAMMs) to test the effects of white shark cage-diving on all response variables (Table 1). All GAMMs were created using the 'gam' function in the mgcv package (version 1.8-40; Wood and Wood, 2015). I included individual fish (tagID) and week since start of the study as a random effect in all models to account for the lack of independence within individuals and temporal autocorrelation, respectively. Prior to modelling, I examined temperature and month data for correlation using the 'cor.test' function in the mgcv package. These variables were highly correlated ($p \ge 0.05$; r > 0.6). I therefore excluded temperature from subsequent models and kept month as a cyclic variable. I selected the most appropriate statistical family and transformation through visual inspection of model residuals and distribution of the response variable. I selected the most parsimonious model using the Akaike Information Criterion corrected for small sample sizes (AIC_c; Burnham and Anderson, 2004), using the 'dredge' function in the MuMIn package (version 1.46.0; Barton, 2019). I assess model likelihood using the bias-corrected relative weight of evidence for each model, AIC_c weight, where the smaller the weight, the lower the probability the model was 'true' (Burnham and Anderson, 2004). I used the contributions of the fixed effects (marginal R²) and the fixed and random effects (conditional R²) using the 'r.sqauredGLMM' function in package MuMIn (version 1.46.0; Barton, 2019) to explain the variance of the response variable when added to the model (Nakagawa and Schielzeth, 2013).

I used 8 GAMMs to assess the effects of cage-diving on silver trevally and test if residency, space use (horizontal and vertical), and behaviour were affected by cage-diving tourism (Table 1 & Table 2). I first tested whether the number and type of operators (i.e., *operator type*), and the intensity of cage-diving (i.e., *operating days*) affected how much time silver trevally spent at the Neptune Islands daily and weekly. This analysis revealed that silver trevally were not affected by the sound-based operator (see Results), which

was further supported by *in-situ* observations where silver trevally were not seen around the sound-based operator. As a result, days when the sound-based operator was the only vessel present were combined with days when all operators were absent (no operator day; revised *operator type:* no operators, one food-based, two food-based) for all further analysis. Distance from operator values were square-root transformed prior to analysis. I then investigated silver trevally space use by assessing whether 3D space use (core 50%-3DKUD and extent 95%-3DKUD; m³) was affected by *operator presence* (Table 2). Volumetric space values (50% and 95%) were square-root transformed prior to analysis. Additionally, *t* tests (α = 0.05) were conducted to examine whether the mean proportion of overlap between operator days and non-operator days, for both 50%-3DKUD and 95%-3DKUD, varied from that expected if there were no pattern in proportions of overlap (i.e., mean proportion = 0.5; Udyawer et al., 2015). Proportional overlap values were arcsine-transformed prior to analysis.

I then assessed the effects of cage-diving on silver trevally depth (meters, m), testing if depth was affected by the *operator type*, *distance* between silver trevally and operator, and *hour* (Table 2). Depth values were square-root transformed prior to analysis. Finally, I investigated if silver trevally behaviour, i.e., activity, was affected by cage-diving operators. I tested whether activity was influenced by the number and *operator type*, *depth*, *distance* between silver trevally and operators, and *Hour* (Table 2). Activity values were logtransformed prior to analysis. My final GAMM assessed changes in silver trevally activity following the cessation of operations by examining activity across consecutive non-operator days (Table 2). Days when operators were present were assigned as day zero, with each consecutive non-operator day adding to the zero baseline before resetting to zero on the next operator day. Activity values were square-root transformed prior to analysis. **Table 1.** Factors included in Generalised Additive Mixed Models (GAMMs) testing the effects of white shark cagediving on the spatiotemporal distribution and behaviour of silver trevally (*Pseudocaranx georgianus*) at the Neptune Islands Group, South Australia.

Factor	Factor type	Description
Time spent	Response variable	Time (minutes) between the first and last detections for each tagged individual for each day detected
Distance	Response variable/ Fixed effect	Distance (m) between silver trevally and the closest cage-diving operators
Weekly residency	Response variable	Detection index as a proportion of days detected within an iso-week. Value ranges from 0 to 1. 0 = not detected; 1 = detected every day
50%-3DKUD	Response variable	50% contour of three-dimensional kernel utilisation distributions (core space; $\ensuremath{m}^3\ensuremath{)}$
95%-3DKUD	Response variable	95% contour of three-dimensional kernel utilisation distributions (extent of space; $\ensuremath{m}^3\ensuremath{)}$
Depth	Response variable/ Fixed effect	Depth (m) of tagged fish from acoustic tag pressure sensor
Activity	Response variable	Activity (m/s ²) from acoustic tag three-dimensional acceleration sensors
Operator type	Fixed effect	Combination of operator types: no operators, all operators, one food- based, two food-based, acoustic only, one food-based + acoustic (used in time spent and weekly residency GAMMs)
Revised Operator type	Fixed effect	Combination of operator types: no operators, one food-based, two food- based (used in all analysis except time spent and weekly residency)
Operator presence	Fixed effect	Operator presence or absence at the Neptune Islands Group. Any operator present = Operator day, all operators absent = Non-operator day
Month	Cyclic	Month of the year (January – December)
TagID	Random effect	Individual tag ID for acoustically tagged silver trevally. The factor was included to account for the lack of independence within individuals
Week number	Random effect	Week number since start of the study. The factor was included to account for temporal autocorrelation
Month number	Random effect	Month number since start of the study. The factor was included to account for temporal autocorrelation
Operating days	Fixed effect	Number of operating days within a week. Value ranges from 0 to 7. 0 = all operators absent the whole week; 7 = at least one operator present every day of the week
Hour	Cyclic	Hour of the day the tagged individual was detected
Days since operator	Fixed effect	Number of consecutive non-operators days

Table 2. List of Generalised Additive Mixed Models (GAMMs) testing the effects of white shark cage-diving on the spatiotemporal distribution and behaviour of silver trevally (*Pseudocaranx georgianus*) at the Neptune Islands Group, South Australia.

Response variable	Full model				
Time spent	Operator type + Month _{cyclic} + Tag ID _{rand} + Week number _{rand}				
Weekly residency	Dperating days + Month _{cyclic} + Tag ID _{rand} + Week number _{rand}				
Distance	Operator type*Hour + Month _{cyclic} + Tag ID _{rand} + Week number _{rand}				
50%-3DKUD	Operator presence + Month _{cyclic} + Tag ID _{rand} + Month number _{rand}				
95%-3DKUD	Operator presence + Month _{cyclic} + Tag ID_{rand} + Month number _{rand}				
Depth	Operator type*Distance + $Hour_{cyclic}$ + Month _{cyclic} + Tag ID _{rand} + Week number _{rand}				
Activity	Operator type*Distance + Operator type*Hour + Depth + $Month_{cyclic}$ + Tag ID _{rand} + Week number _{rand}				
Activity	Days since operator + Tag ID _{rand} + Week number _{rand}				

2.4 Results

I recorded the movements of 25 silver trevally at the Neptune Islands between November 2019 and August 2022 (978 days; Figure 4 & Figure 5). Trevally were detected across all 15 receivers deployed, from which I collected 542,014 detections (mean per silver trevally \pm standard error: 21,680 \pm 16,379). Individuals used both sides of the islands, with more detections recorded on the southern receivers (320,367; 60%) compared to the northern receivers (221,648; 40%). Mean residency over the 3-year period was 0.8 \pm 0.01 SE (range: 0.17–1; proportion). Residency was lowest in winter (July 0.47 \pm 0.04 and August 0.49 \pm 0.08) and highest in summer (February 0.97 \pm 0.01). From the detections, I estimated 25,070 VPS positions (1,003 \pm 150 positions per silver trevally) and 70,985 COA positions (2,839 \pm 410 positions per silver trevally). Estimated VPS and COA positions from both sides of the island were combined for all subsequent analysis. Cage-diving operators were present at the Neptune Islands on 657 of the 978 days of the study (67%), most commonly present for 5 (43 weeks) and 6 (43 weeks) days within a week, representing 58% of the study period (Figure 5 & Figure 6). Operating days were highest in summer (January 6.08 \pm 0.14) and lowest in winter (August 2.36 \pm 0.33; Figure 5 & Figure 6).

Time spent (daily residency)

The mean number of detections day⁻¹ was 84 ± 4, with a mean time spent day⁻¹ of 565 minutes ± 16. The top-ranked model (wAIC_c = 0.5; R_c = 0.28) included *operator type* and *month* (Table 3; Supplementary table 1) with *month* having the greatest influence on the time silver trevally spent within the array at the Neptune Islands (20.2%; Figure 6). The second-best model also had an wAIC_c of 0.5 and included the same factors and *week*, but the variance explained was not improved. Time spent within the array each day was

highest in January–March (summer and autumn; predicted time spent = 515 – 598 minutes), after which it decreased to the lowest residency in August (winter; 229 minutes). Time that silver trevally spent at the Neptune Islands array increased again in September–October (spring; 289 – 459 minutes predicted, Figure 6). *Operator type* also influenced daily time spent but had a smaller effect than *month* (3.6 vs. 20.2%; Table 3; Supplementary table 1; Figure 7). Time spent was highest when at least one food-based operator was present (~500 minutes predicted) compared to days when no operators or when only the sound-based operator was present (~415 minutes predicted, Figure 7). The random variable (*tagID*) also influenced the daily time spent by silver trevally in the Neptune Islands array, accounting for 4.4% of the model variation (Supplementary table 1).



Figure 4. Abacus plot for 25 silver trevally (*Pseudocaranx georgianus;* 15 tagged in October 2019, 397 days battery life; 10 in January 2021, 564 days battery life) from the Neptune Islands, South Australia between November 2019 and August 2022. Size of point shows number of detections; Colour of point indicates sea surface temperature.



Figure 5. Weekly summary plot for silver trevally (*Pseudocaranx georgianus*) at the Neptune Islands Group and for white shark cage-diving operators. Temperature was recorded and averaged across array of 15 acoustic receivers. Percentage of fish detected reflects proportion of tagged individuals at liberty. Residency indicates weekly detection index and activity space indicates 50% Brownian Bridges KUDs.



Figure 6. Number operator days by white shark cage-diving operators and predicted time spent (minutes), weekly residency (detection index), distance (m), depth (m), activity (m/s; separate models) of silver trevally (*Pseudocaranx georgianus*) at the Neptune Islands for factor month. Shaded ribbons indicate 95% confidence intervals.

Table 3. Summary of models testing the effects of white shark cage-diving on the spatiotemporal distribution and behaviour of silver trevally (*Pseudocaranx georgianus*). df, degrees of freedom; AIC_c , Akaike's information criterion corrected for small sample size; LL, log-likelihood; ΔAIC_c , difference in AIC_c between the current and the top-ranked model; *wAIC_c*, model probability; variance explained by R_m , marginal (fixed effects) R^2 ; R_c , conditional (fixed and random effects) R^2 . Top-ranked model indicated in **bold**. Only the top 4 ranked models are presented for table clarity.

Model	df	AICc	ΔAIC _c	wAICc	LL	R _m	R _c
a) Time spent							
~ Operator type + Month _{cyclic} + 1 TagID	38	72684.65	0.00	0.50	-36303.33	0.04	0.28
~ Operator type + Month _{cyclic} + 1 TagID + 1 Week number	38	72684.67	0.02	0.50	-36303.33	0.04	0.28
~ Month _{cyclic} + 1 TagID	33	72939.40	254.75	0.00	-36435.62	0.00	0.25
~ Month _{cyclic} + 1 TagID + 1 Week number	33	72939.42	254.77	0.00	-36435.62	0.00	0.25
b) Weekly Residency (Detection index)							
~ Operating days + Month _{cyclic} + 1 TagID + 1 Week number	14	-108.99	0.00	1.00	68.91	0.03	0.32
~ Operating days + Month _{cyclic} + 1 TagID	13	-91.30	17.69	0.00	59.05	0.03	0.32
~ Operating days + Month _{cyclic}	12	-86.30	22.69	0.00	55.40	0.01	0.30
Operating days + Month _{cyclic} + 1 Week number	12	-86.30	22.69	0.00	55.40	0.01	0.30
C) Distance to operators C) Distance to operators Constrator type + Hour + (Hour*Type) + Month	77	176544 90	0.00	1.00	97604 42	0 1 2	0 10
Operator type + Hour + (Hour * Type) + Month _{cyclic} + 1 TaglD + 1 Week number	77	175544.80	19.00	1.00	-87094.42	0.12	0.18
Operator type + Hour + (Hour*Type) + Month 11/(cell number	77 FC	175563.80	21/1 79	0.00	-87704.45	0.12	0.18
Operator type + Hour + (Hour*Type) + Month _{cyclic} + 1) Week number	50	175759.00	214.75	0.00	-87822.84	0.11	0.17
Operator type + Hour + (Hour * Type) + Month _{cyclic}	22	1/5/85.50	240.77	0.00	-87830.91	0.11	0.17
d) Core space use (3DKUD-50 volume)							
~ Operator presence + Month _{cyclic} + 1 ID + 1 Month number	26	5559.83	0.00	0.62	-2751.50	0.11	0.47
~ Operator presence + Month _{evelic} + 1 TagID	24	5560.82	0.99	0.38	-2754.04	0.11	0.47
~ Operator presence + Month _{evelic}	10	5574.15	14.31	0.00	-2776.24	0.11	0.43
~ Operator presence + Month _{cyclic} + 1 Month number	10	5574.16	14.32	0.00	-2776.24	0.11	0.43
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·							
e) Extent of space use (3DKUD-95 volume)							
~ Operator presence + Month _{cyclic} + 1 TagID + 1 Month number	29	6120.83	0.00	0.92	-3028.81	0.09	0.54
~ Operator presence + Month _{cyclic} + 1 TagID	28	6125.78	4.95	0.08	-3032.52	0.09	0.53
~ Operator presence + Month _{cyclic}	10	6165.09	44.25	0.00	-3071.99	0.09	0.47
~ Operator presence + Month _{cyclic} + 1 Month number	10	6165.09	44.26	0.00	-3071.99	0.09	0.47
r) Deptn				4.00	40070 70		
~ Distance + Operator type + (Distance * Type) + Hour _{cyclic} + Month _{cyclic} + 1 TagID + 1 Weeknumber	48	22055.24	0.00	1.00	-10978.79	0.03	0.31
² Distance + Operator type + (Distance * Type) + Hour _{cyclic} + Month _{cyclic} + 1 TagiD	47	22071.23	15.99	0.00	-10987.95	0.03	0.31
~ Distance + Operator type + (Distance* lype) + Month _{cyclic} + 1 lagID + 1 Weeknumber	41	22079.05	23.81	0.00	-10998.17	0.02	0.30
~ Distance + Operator type + (Distance* Type) + Month _{cyclic} + 1 TagiD	40	22091.95	36.72	0.00	-11005.75	0.02	0.30
a) Activity							
~ Depth + Distance + Hour + Month _{cyclic} + Operator type + (Distance*Type) + (Hour*Type) + 11TagID							
+ 1 Weeknumber	82	29494.64	0.00	0.95	-14663.98	0.06	0.17
~ Depth + Distance + Hour + Month _{cyclic} + Operator type + (Distance*Type) + (Hour*Type) + 1 TagID	82	29500.57	5.93	0.05	-14667.74	0.06	0.17
$\label{eq:constraint} \begin{tabular}{lllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	54	29527.83	33.19	0.00	-14708.76	0.05	0.17
~ Depth + Distance + Hour + Month _{cyclic} + Operator type + (Distance*Type) + 1 TagID	54	29532.47	37.83	0.00	-14711.89	0.05	0.17
h) Days since last operator (Activity)							
~ Days since operator + 1 TagID	44	33243.23	0.00	0.50	-16576.76	0.01	0.06
~ Days since operator + 1 TagID + 1 Week number	44	33243.25	0.02	0.50	-16576.75	0.01	0.06
~ 1 TagID + 1 Week number	26	34139.53	896.30	0.00	-17042.79	0.00	0.05
~ 1 TagID	25	34144.51	901.28	0.00	-17046.42	0.00	0.05



Figure 7. Predicted daily time spent (estimated marginal means from Generalised Additive Mixed Model) for silver trevally (*Pseudocaranx georgianus*) at the Neptune Islands by operator type. Error bars indicate 95% confidence intervals.

Weekly residency

Mean weekly residency at the Neptune Islands was 0.81 ± 0.02 (measured values). The top-ranked model (wAIC_c = 1) included *month* and *operating days* within a week (Table 3; Supplementary table 1). *Month* had the greatest influence on the weekly residency of silver trevally within the array at the Neptune Islands (25.5% model variance explained; Table 3; Supplementary table 1; Figure 6). Weekly residency was highest in summer and autumn (January–April; predicted weekly residency = 0.8 - 0.9) and September–December (spring and summer; 0.75 - 0.85), decreasing in winter (July–August; ~0.5 predicted; Figure 6). *Operating days* also influenced silver trevally weekly residency but had a smaller effect than *month* (2.5% vs 25.5%; Table 3; Supplementary table 1; Figure 8). *Operating days* had a positive relationship with weekly residency, showing a consistent increase in weekly residency as the number of operator days increased (from 0.62 with 0 days of operators, to 0.82 with 7 days, Figure 8). Individual variation also influenced the weekly residency of silver trevally at the Neptune islands, with *tagID* explaining 2.9% of the model variation (Supplementary table 1).



Figure 8. Predicted weekly residency (detection index) from Generalised Additive Mixed Models for silver trevally (*Pseudocaranx georgianus*) at the Neptune Islands Group for the number of operator days within a week. Shaded ribbon indicates 95% confidence intervals.

Distance (All days; VPS)

The mean distance between silver trevally and food-based operators was 371 m ± 7 and was influenced by *month* and the interaction between *operator type* and *hour* (wAIC_c = 1, Table 3; Supplementary table 1). The interaction between *operator type* and *hour* had the largest effect (i.e., 12.8% of model variance). The dummy distance when vessels were absent was consistent throughout the day around ~300 m and higher than the distance between silver trevally and vessels on days when operators were present. In contrast, distance when operators were present was more variable with small variations throughout the day (<200 m) and a rapid increase up to ~500 m after 17:00 (Figure 9). *Month* also influenced distance to the vessels but had a smaller effect than the *operator type* and *hour* interaction (5.3% vs 12.8%; Table 3; Figure 6; Supplementary table 1). Trevally were furthest from the operators in summer and autumn (December–March; ~475 m), after which it decreased to the closest distance in winter (June–July; ~275 m), prior to increasing again in winter and spring (August–October; ~400 m; Figure 6) Random model effects also influenced the distance of silver trevally to the operators, though the effect was small with *tagID* explaining <1% of the model variation.



Figure 9. Predicted distance to nearest operator vessel (m) from Generalised Additive Mixed Models for silver trevally (*Pseudocaranx georgianus*) at the Neptune Islands Group for the interaction between hour and operator type. Shaded ribbons indicate 95% confidence intervals.

3D-KUD

The mean volumetric space use was 1,163,686 m³ ± 68,904 (3DKUD-50, core) and 8,191,458 m³ ± 391,807 (3DKUD-95, extent; measured values), with both influenced by *month* and *operator presence* (wAIC_c = 0.62 and 0.92 for 3DKUD-50 and 3DKUD-95, respectively; Table 3; Supplementary table 1). *Month* had the greatest influence on the volumetric space use of silver trevally (34.3% and 38.8% for 3DKUD-50 and 3DKUD-95, respectively; Supplementary table 1; Figure 6). Volumetric space use was highest in spring and summer (November–December), after which it decreased to the lowest volume in winter (June–August; Figure 6). *Operator presence* also influenced space use but had a smaller effect than *month* (11% vs 45% for 3DKUD-50 and 9% vs 48% for 3DKUD-95; Supplementary table 1; Figure 10A, B). For both 3DKUD-50 and 3DKUD-95, silver trevally occupied more space on non-operator days than operator days (Figure 10A, B). Random model effects also influenced the space use of silver trevally, with *tagID* explaining 2.2% and 3.9% of the model variation for 3DKUD-50 and 3DKUD-95, respectively (Supplementary table 1).

The core area, i.e., 3DKUD-50, used by silver trevally on operator days versus non-operator days overlapped by ~30% (Figure 10C) and was significantly different to a random pattern (t-test, $t_1 = -7.32$, p < 0.001), indicating that silver trevally use different core areas on operator days and non-operator days. In contrast, extent, i.e., 3DKUD-95, of area used by silver trevally on operator days versus non-operator days overlapped extensively (~70%; Figure 10C) and was significantly different to a random pattern (t-test, $t_1 = 13.69$, p < 0.001), indicating that silver trevally have a similar extent on operator days and non-operator days.



Figure 10. Differences in the use of **A**. 50% and **B**. 95% volumetric space on boat days and non-boat days by silver trevally (*Pseudocaranx georgianus*) at the Neptune Islands Group. Error bars indicate 95% confidence intervals. **C**. Mean overlap between boat days and non-boat days for 50% (orange) and 95% (light blue) volumetric space.

Depth (All days; VPS)

Mean silver trevally depth at the Neptune Islands was 7.8 m \pm 0.6 m (measured values). The top-ranked model (wAIC_c = 1) included *month*, *hour*, and an interaction between *operator type* and *distance* (Table 3; Supplementary table 1). *Month* had the greatest influence on the depth of silver trevally within the array at the Neptune Islands (5.5%; Table 3; Supplementary table 1; Figure 6). Trevally were closest to the surface in autumn – winter (March–July; <5 m), after which they resided deeper in winter–spring (~10 m; August–November), prior to residing close to the surface again in summer (December; Figure 6). The interaction between *distance* and *operator type* also had an influence on depth but had a smaller effect than month (2.9% vs 5.5%; Table 3; Supplementary table 1; Figure 11). Trevally were closer to the surface when foodbased operators were present (i.e., < 5 m) than on non-operator days within 300 m of the operators. Depth gradually increased to below that of no operator days as distance increased, but silver trevally remained in the upper 10 m of the water column (Figure 11). Days without operators showed a consistent depth of ~5 m irrespective of distance (Figure 11). *Hour* also influenced depth that silver trevally but had a small effect (0.2% of variance explained; Supplementary table 1). Random model effects also influenced the depth of silver trevally, with *tagID* explaining 28% of the model variation.



Figure 11. Predicted depth (m) from Generalised Additive Mixed Models for silver trevally (*Pseudocaranx georgianus*) at the Neptune Islands Group for the interaction between distance and operator type. Shaded ribbons indicate 95% confidence intervals.

Activity (All days; VPS)

Mean activity was 1.2 ms⁻¹ \pm 0.05 (measured values), with the top-ranked model (wAIC_c = 0.96) including depth, month, the interactions between distance and operator type, and between hour and operator type (Table 3; Supplementary table 1). Depth had the greatest influence on silver trevally activity (8.4% model variation explained; Table 3; Figure 12A; Supplementary table 1), with activity lowest when silver trevally were closer to the surface, and increased with depth (0.7 ms⁻¹ at 0 m vs. 1.37 ms⁻¹ at 38 m depth, Figure 12A). Month also influenced silver trevally activity, but had a smaller effect than depth (3.4% vs 8.4% respectively; Table 3; Figure 6; Supplementary table 1). Activity was highest in summer – autumn (January– April; $0.99 - 1.02 \text{ ms}^{-1}$ predicted), after which it decreased to two low activity periods in autumn–winter (May–July; 0.81 – 0.84 ms⁻¹ predicted) and spring (October–November; ~0.82 ms⁻¹ predicted), with a small increase in activity in winter and spring (August and September; ~0.92 ms⁻¹ predicted, Figure 6). The interaction between hour and operator type explained 1.6% of the model variation. Activity was higher from ~9:00 to ~16:00 across all operator types, and highest when one or two food-based operators were present with a higher peak of activity of up to 1.14 ms⁻¹ (Figure 12B). The interaction between *distance* and operator type also influenced silver trevally activity, but had a smaller effect than the interaction between hour and operator type (0.86% vs 1.6%; Table 3; Supplementary table 1; Figure 12C). On days when foodbased operators were present, silver trevally activity was highest close to the operators (~0.82 ms⁻¹ at 0 m from vessels compared to ~0.6 ms⁻¹ at 1,000 m), with activity slightly higher when two food-based operators were present compared to days when only one operator was present. In contrast, activity slightly increased with distance when operators were absent (0.79 ms⁻¹ at 0 m from dummy vessel positions to 0.85 ms⁻¹ at 1,000 m, Figure 12C). Random model effects also influenced the activity of silver trevally, with tagID explaining 9% of the model variation.

Days since last boat day

The number of consecutive non-operator days following a day of operation ranged from 1 to a period of 19 days during a COVID-19 closure (mean \pm standard error: 1 day \pm 0.07; Figure 13A). The top-ranked model (wAIC_c = 0.5, Table 3) included *days since last boat*, but only explained 0.7% of the model variance (Table 3; Supplementary table 1). The second-best model also had an wAIC_c of 0.5 and included the same factors and *week*, but the variance explained was not improved. Activity declined from 0 days to 5 days of no vessels, after which it returned to the day 0 baseline, followed by another decrease to 18 days, similar to that of 5 days (Figure 13B). The random variable (*tagID*) also influenced the activity of silver trevally and explained 5.1% of the model variation (Supplementary table 1).



Figure 12. Predicted activity (ms⁻¹) from Generalised Additive Mixed Models for silver trevally (*Pseudocaranx georgianus*) at the Neptune Islands Group for **A**. depth (m), $R^2 = 8.4 \%$ **B**. the interaction between hour and operator type, $R^2 = 1.65\%$, and **C**. the interaction between distance and operator type, $R^2 = 0.86\%$. Shaded ribbons indicate 95% confidence intervals.



Figure 13. A. Count of number of days at the Neptune Islands Group for number of days since last boat **B.** Predicted activity (ms⁻¹) from Generalised Additive Mixed Models for silver trevally (*Pseudocaranx georgianus*) at the Neptune Islands Group for number of days since last boat. Shaded ribbons indicate 95% confidence intervals, dashed line indicates predicted activity for 0 days since last boat.

2.5 Discussion

This study quantified the residency, space-use, and activity or silver trevally at a white shark cagediving tourism site, revealing the impacts that wildlife tourism has on non-focal schooling pelagic fish (Figure 14). Cage-diving operations increased weekly residency and daily amount of time spent at the Neptune Islands, and changed the distribution of silver trevally, aggregating individuals at the surface (< 5 m depth) close to food-based operators, leading to a reduction of their core space use. These findings support my first two hypotheses, mirroring increases in residency and reductions in space use and distribution seen by non-focal species responding to provisioning. However, I did not detect the strong activity increase expected to occur from the observed swimming bursts to feed on bait and berley, as operator type alone did not significantly increase silver trevally activity (Figure 14), thus refuting the third hypothesis. These findings highlight the complexity in possible responses to wildlife tourism, and that changes in distribution might not necessarily lead to increased energy expenditure. I discuss the potential physiological and energy implications resulting from silver trevally feeding on the bait and berley, while their activity is minimally affected.

While silver trevally residency is high throughout the year, it is substantially increased by the cage-diving industry. Similar changes in residency at similar tourism sites have often been observed and has been linked to associative learning. The ability to link the location of an event or stimulus with time is known as time-place learning (Biebach et al., 1991, Schatz et al., 1999), and the frequent, regular, and predictable availability of the food during tourism operations or recreational activities can lead animals to predict when food will be available and show anticipatory behaviours (e.g. lemon sharks, Heinrich et al., 2021; short-tail stingrays, Pini-Fitzsimmons et al., 2018; and bottlenose dolphins, Jensen et al., 2013). However, time-place learning is unlikely to be occurring in silver trevally at the Neptune Islands, as the sporadic and variable non-operator days and the fluctuating operator arrival and departure times do not form a predictable pattern, thus prevent silver trevally from learning what days and what times food will be available. In addition, there are no permanent moorings at the Neptune Islands, so anchoring locations change daily, and thus silver trevally are unable to associate a specific location with easily-accessible food, other than the general areas of the Neptune Islands. Instead, silver trevally have likely learnt that easily accessible food is frequently available at the Neptune Islands, and have thus increased their residency in the area and respond to the food stimulus once disbursed by the operators (Heinrich et al., 2021). While silver trevally may have learnt to associate the presence of vessels with food, the lack of silver trevally and reduced amount of time spent around the sound-based operator suggests that silver trevally respond to the olfactory stimulus (i.e., bait and berley) rather than the mere presence of vessels.



Figure 14. Estimated effect size coefficients (β ; ± standard error) from Generalised Additive Mixed Models for silver trevally (*Pseudocaranx georgianus*) at the Neptune Islands with operator variables in the top ranked model. Dashed line at zero indicates no boat/0 days. Red/orange indicates food-based operations, blue indicates acoustic operations. Solid fill p = 0; Hollow = non-significant.

Operators have used bait and berley at the Neptune Islands on at least 10 days per fortnight since ~2007. As silver trevally are seen feeding near-constantly on the bait and berley, resulting in substantial shifts in diet and nutrition (Meyer et al., 2020), they can meet their energy requirements from the food provided by the cage-diving industry (Drew and McKeon, 2019, Wen et al., 2019, Clarke et al., 2023). This could lead to silver trevally getting caught in an ecological trap (Semeniuk and Rothley, 2008, Semeniuk, 2009, Hale and Swearer, 2016), which occurs when positive reinforcement is muting natural environmental cues that trigger ecologically important behaviours and movements (Battin, 2004). Ecological traps created through wildlife tourism has been described at similar provisioning tourism site, where southern stingrays (Hypanus americana) in the Cayman Islands inverted natural diel activity patterns, and increased overlap in activity spaces, both of which had associated fitness costs (Corcoran et al., 2013). Trevally have been known to undertake large-scale migrations, with some exhibiting movements of over 500 km in 17 days, highlighting the potential mobility of the species (Rowling and Raines, 2000, Fowler et al., 2018). Here, I observed seasonal shifts, where the decrease in water temperature during the winter months at the Neptune Islands (i.e., June–August), in conjunction with the lower number of operating days observed during these months, may be triggering most of the silver trevally to leave the array. Some individuals did remain at the Neptune Islands during the seasonal exodus of up to 7 months when water temperature dropped below 16°C. Large migrations would explain the extended time away from the Neptune Islands. Interestingly, an uncharacteristic drop in temperature occurred in March–May of 2020 with water temperatures reaching that typical of July–August (~15°C vs. an average April temperature of ~18°C). This drop in temperature coincided with the departure of some transient and semi-transient individuals during these months, supporting that periodic reduction in residency are likely driven by temperature. This period also coincided with the longest break without operators for 13 years due to the COVID-19 travel restrictions, during which, silver trevally activity peaked after ~12 days without operators which may reflect silver trevally returning to natural behaviours and foraging (Huveneers et al. 2023, unpublished). While silver trevally movement, daily residency, and activity is influenced by cage-diving tourism while they occur at the Neptune Islands, 76% of individuals were still undertaking movements away from the islands triggered by thermal cues. Effects from ongoing exposure to provisional feeding is therefore not substantial enough to mask natural movements away from the area in cooler months (although 14% of individuals remained year-round), negating any impacts of an ecological trap. Instead, behavioural effects are likely limited to times when silver trevally and operators occur at the Neptune Islands, but also highlights the potential reliance of bait and berley as a food source when operators are present.

The small overlap of silver trevally core space between operator and non-operator days suggests that silver trevally occupy different areas of the Neptune Islands when cage-diving is occurring. This may result in fish occupying less suitable habitats during cage-diving operations. Anchoring locations of operators is predominantly based on prevailing winds and sea conditions, and most often occurs over shallow exposed

sandy bottom. While these areas provide comfort and stability for cage-diving operations, they provide less natural structure and refuge for silver trevally, exposing silver trevally to increased predation risk compared to their natural rocky reef habitat (Forrester and Steele, 2004, Fairclough et al., 2011). In addition, a higher frequency of bursting events associated with chasing baits and berley can deplete anaerobic energy stores and cause lactate build-up (Payne et al., 2011), reducing manoeuvring capability needed to escape predators. As such, the change in habitat in combination with reduced anaerobic energy stores can increase the predation risk of silver trevally during cage-diving operations (Matyjasiak et al., 2023).

The large population of silver trevally at the Neptune Islands forms dense schools around the cage-diving vessels, which is supported by the small space use on berleying days, the low proportion of space use overlap between operator and non-operator days and is also observed by the tourists and operators. Schooling behaviours in teleosts has many benefits including reduced predation risk and antipredator functions (Magurran, 1990), increased foraging opportunities and success (Keenleyside, 1955), reduced hydrodynamic effects to increase swimming efficiency (Pitcher, 1993), and increased reproductive success when forming spawning aggregations (Keenleyside, 1955, Guerra et al., 2020). Despite the benefits of schooling behaviours, these dense aggregations can also increase intra-specific competition (Semeniuk and Rothley, 2008), disease (Behringer et al., 2020), injuries (Anders et al., 2019), and parasite loading (Brookhouse et al., 2013). Schools of silver trevally and yellowtail kingfish fed bread and pellets by tourists at Lord Howe Island displayed signs of increased aggression, altered foraging behaviours, microbial and parasitic infections, stomach ulcers, and skin lesions (Brookhouse et al., 2013). The similarities in species and feeding between the Neptune Islands and Lord Howe Island highlights the potential detrimental impacts of white shark tourism and associated use of berley and bait on silver trevally, especially considering that substantially more food is used at the Neptune Islands (up to 200 kg day⁻¹) than at Lord Howe Island (~10 kg day⁻¹), that feeding occurs more frequently (up to 12 days fortnight⁻¹ vs. primarily summer months and during holiday periods), and the extreme size and density of silver trevally schools at the Neptune Islands (mean relative abundance per replicate: Lord Howe no-take zones ~8 vs. ~25 North Neptune islands; Meyer et al., 2020, Rees et al., 2021).

Trevally spend extended amounts of time densely aggregating in close proximity to the cage-diving vessels, which raises questions about the potential impacts of the concentrated waste output within a marine protected area (i.e., Neptune Islands Group Marine Park). Additionally, any bait and berley that not consumed by silver trevally and other non-focal species may reach the seabed below. Negative impacts from high nutrient loading has been observed in association with aquaculture operations, where organic and inorganic waste from finfish aquaculture can alter water quality, physio-chemical properties and microflora biodiversity of sediments, and increase algae growth and blooms through eutrophication (Buschmann et al., 2009). However, the potential impacts from increased nutrient loading is likely dependent on the fish concentration and amount of food introduced in the ecosystem. For example, the

South Australian southern bluefin tuna industry uses ~750 kg of sardines (*Sardinops sagax*) per day and cage (Svane and Barnett, 2008), with stocking densities of 5–10 kg m⁻³ (Ellis and Kiessling, 2016). Estimates of the biomass of silver trevally at the Neptune Islands is unknown but is likely to be smaller than those of standard aquaculture industries, and at a location with higher rates of water circulation. Future work should estimate the size of the Neptune Islands silver trevally population, and quantity of additional nutrients being introduced in the ecosystem to assess its potential impacts.

I hypothesised that silver trevally would be more active around cage-diving operators due to observations of silver trevally frequently having bursts of speed towards the bait when thrown in the water (J Dennis, pers. obs.; Supplementary material 2), and previous studies at the Neptune Islands showing that the activity of yellowtail kingfish increased by 18% during food-based operations (Clarke et al., 2023). Here the presence of food-based operators affected activity but did so minimally with the interactions between operator type and both hour and distance only explaining a very small percentage of the model variance (1.6% and 0.9% respectively). For example, while activity decreases with distance to vessels as would be expected if silver trevally activity increased around cage-diving vessels, the 95% confidence interval is large and activity in proximity to the cage-diving vessels is similar to activity when vessels were absent. This lack of cage-diving effect might be due to silver trevally, in between the bursts of speed towards the bait, milling into the current behind cage-diving vessels while they consume the near-continuous plume of berley (J Dennis, pers. obs.; Supplementary material 2). While I found no change in overall activity, it is possible that the rapid, short-duration bursting events are either too short (2–3 s) or infrequent to be detected by the acoustic transmitters (sampling rate 15 seconds every 270–330 seconds with a 3:1 activity depth transmission ratio). Even if this was the case, it indicates that these bursts are not frequent or long enough to lead to an overall increase in the activity of silver trevally. This presents an avenue for future work to assess the daily energy expenditure of silver trevally at the Neptune islands, confirming effects on energy expenditure associated with the lack of increase in activity.

Wildlife tourism can alter energy budgets by impacting activity and/or feeding of focal and non-focal species in terrestrial (i.e., leopards Panthera pardus; Ngoprasert et al., 2017; medium–large terrestrial mammals; Ouboter et al., 2021), and marine ecosystems (bottlenose dolphins *Tursiops truncatus*; Kassamali-Fox et al., 2020), including at the Neptune Islands (i.e., white sharks; Huveneers et al., 2018a). These studies suggested that in instances of increased activity, additional food intake might be required for these species to compensate for heightened energy expenditure resulting from interacting with tourism operations. However, the activity of silver trevally is only minimally affected by tourism, yet they consume particles of bait and berley near continuously, which is accentuated by the large number of days operators are at the Neptune Islands. The calorie content of tuna offal used for white shark tourism bait and berley (9.28 kj/g \pm 0.63 SE; J Dennis, unpublished data) is substantially higher than that of natural prey items for silver trevally (e.g., cephalopod 3.3 kj/g; crustaceans 3.93 kj/g; J Dennis, unpublished data), which could

result in a surplus of energy available for reproductive or somatic growth. Energy allocation typically reverts to reproductive growth from somatic growth in preparation for and during periods of spawning for teleosts, but will also be stored as fat prior (McBride et al., 2015). It would, therefore, be expected that the silver trevally at the Neptune Islands would not only be larger due to energy allocated to growth, but also have a higher proportion of fat stored. Future work should estimate somatic growth and physiological condition of silver trevally, in particular, length-at-age structures, body condition, and diet (Chapter 5), to assess the potential influence of this suspected energy surplus.

2.6 Conclusion

When examining influences of wildlife tourism operations, most studies and impact assessments focus on the large and charismatic focal species. This study identified impacts on silver trevally, a non-focal species which are often overlooked by traditional tourism management strategies (Meyer et al., 2022). This study identified effects of white shark tourism on the residency and space-use of silver trevally, while also highlighting potential implications for their health, energy budgets, and growth. Importantly, despite the effects described here, exodus from the Neptune Islands during cold periods occur for most individuals, indicating that silver trevally are still undergoing natural movements and behaviours triggered by thermal cues. Future research should focus on estimating the abundance of silver trevally at the Neptune Islands to quantify if the density of the population is contributing to nutrient loads, determine the health and growth implications from an associated surplus in energy and concentrated aggregations around cage-diving vessels. Findings from this study contribute to the limited but growing knowledge about the impacts of wildlife tourism on non-focal species, which is important for wildlife tourism management to account for the whole ecosystem when determining the ecological sustainability of a tourism minustry.



CHAPTER 3

One fish, two fish, three fish, more: novel resighting method produces precise and costeffective estimates of abundance



"This is the pre-peer reviewed version of the following article: Dennis, J. D., Meyer, L., Dudgeon, C. L., & Huveneers, C. (2024). One fish, two fish, three fish, more: novel resighting method produces precise and cost-effective estimates of abundance. Journal of Fish Biology, 1–11, which has been published in final form at https://doi.org/10.1111/jfb.15902. This article may be used for non-commercial purposes in accordance with Wiley Terms and Conditions for Use of Self-Archived Versions."

3.1 Abstract

Estimates of abundance are essential to manage and conserve marine species. Numerous methods are available to determine population size, but suitability of methods for schooling fishes and the associated precision can vary depending on the species and system. Here, I developed and compared three mark-recapture/resight methods to assess the most robust method to estimate the abundance of silver trevally (*Pseudocaranx georgianus*). While the recapture rate was similar across the methods, the *Swim pass* method (resighting) recorded the largest number of individuals (mean ± standard error: 211 ± 14.9) and had the lowest coefficient of variation (CV; 4.5–12%) compared to *360-video* (resighting; 45 ± 2.1 individuals surveyed; 14.8–22.2% CV) and *Large-scale capture* methods (recapture; 30 ± 3.8 individuals surveyed; 17.3–26.5% CV). The inclusion of individual ID into the abundance estimator models for the *Large-scale capture* did not change the abundance estimates and showed similar resolution between the models (CVs: 18.2–26.7%). I showed that the *Swim pass* method is logistically easy to implement and generates precise estimates of silver trevally abundance. This new method provides a low-cost, time-efficient resighting method that can be adapted to suit similar aggregating pelagic species interacting with wildlife tourism operations, enabling researchers to rapidly estimate the abundance of species that have been previously difficult to count.

3.2 Introduction

Species abundance is a fundamental measure in ecology and is essential to manage and conserve populations and associated ecosystems (Sollmann et al., 2013). As a result, numerous methods have been developed to estimate abundance reliably and accurately across a wide range of spatial scales (Bradshaw et al., 2007, Lindegren et al., 2013). These methods include distance-sampling-based approaches (i.e., line transects; Hedley and Buckland, 2004), genetic approaches (e.g., close-kin genetics; Bravington et al., 2016), or capture-mark-recapture/resight (hereafter mark-recapture/resight) surveys (Jolly, 1965, White and Burnham, 1999). Mark-recapture/resight surveys are relatively popular due to their ability to produce robust estimates of abundance and other population demographics (i.e., apparent survival and transition probabilities; McClintock and White, 2009, McClintock et al., 2009a, McClintock et al., 2009b). Markrecapture/resight surveys involve capturing and marking individuals, releasing them, and then recapturing or resighting them (Jolly, 1965, White and Burnham, 1999). Animal marking techniques vary extensively and include internal transmitters (i.e., acoustic telemetry; Dudgeon et al., 2015) or external tags, collars and bands, clipping and branding methods (Seber and Schofield, 2019), natural markings (Lee et al., 2014, Dudgeon et al., 2015), or genetic markers (Pfaller et al., 2019). The high versatility and flexibility in marking and recapture or resight methods have resulted in mark-recapture/resight approaches being widely applicable for a range of species in terrestrial (Judge et al., 2017), aerial (Lindberg, 2012), freshwater (Moe et al., 2020), and marine environments (Ward-Paige et al., 2010). These methods can also be used for

populations with an unknown number of marked individuals, when multiple surveys are possible with or without replacement (i.e., an individual can be sighted more than once or can only be sighted once), or when the population is demographically open (i.e., open to births, deaths, emigration, and immigration; McClintock and White, 2009, McClintock et al., 2009a, McClintock et al., 2009b). As such, markrecapture/resight methods provide a flexible framework for assessing population size and dynamics. However, low capture and recapture probabilities and the inability of some mark-recapture/resight models to handle heterogeneity in detection probability can also affect the abundance and other demographic parameters estimated (McClintock and White, 2009, McClintock et al., 2009a, McClintock et al., 2009b, Sollmann et al., 2013). Considering the potential for biased method to lead to over or underestimation of abundance, or to provide relative abundances only rather than true abundances (Dettloff, 2023), it is essential to select the most appropriate method based on the biology and ecology of the species and the logistics at the study site.

At the Neptune Islands Group Marine Park in South Australia, bait and berley (minced southern bluefin tuna, Thunnus maccoyii) are used by the cage-diving industry to attract white sharks (Carcharodon carcharias). This process incidentally attracts large aggregations of schooling fish, silver trevally Pseudocaranx georgianus (Huveneers et al., 2013) and anecdotal reports from the cage-diving industry suggest that the abundance of silver trevally is increasing to the point of obscuring viewing of the target animals and affecting customer satisfaction (A Fox & A Wright, pers. comm.). A study on the foraging ecology of silver trevally also showed a shift in silver trevally diet due to resource subsidy from the berley/chum used by the tourism industry (Meyer et al., 2020). Understanding the impacts of the cagediving industry and whether the number of silver trevally at the Neptune Islands is increasing requires the ability to quantify and monitor the silver trevally population. However, quantifying abundance is logistically difficult due to the large numbers of silver trevally aggregating and their schooling nature (Meyer et al., 2022). Previous efforts to estimate abundance based on mark-recapture methods were not successful with no recaptures using standard fishing methods (i.e., rod and line), despite sighting of tagged individuals at the time of the surveys (J Dennis, pers. obs.). Given the difficulties in getting recaptures using standard methods, I developed and compared three novel mark-resight/recapture methods to determine the most robust method for estimating the abundance of silver trevally interacting with cage-diving vessels. Specifically, I compare precision in abundance estimates among two resighting methods and one recapture method. I discuss the benefits and disadvantages of each approach and the applicability of the most robust method for estimating abundance for similar systems. I propose that the best-performing method has future applications for estimating the abundance of schooling pelagic fishes with high abundance and density.

3.3 Methods

Tagging

I caught 350 silver trevally at the North Neptune Islands Group Marine Park, South Australia (-35° 13' 48", 136° 4' 12"), using hook-and-line and tagged individuals with plastic T-bar anchor tags (hallprint, South Australia) between the 15th–21st of October 2019. I inserted tags in the muscle below the first dorsal fin, capturing, releasing, and resighting silver trevally onboard the tourism boats at the cage-diving sites within a small area of ~0.5 km².

Recapture/resight protocol

Previous methods attempting to recapture silver trevally at the Neptune Islands Group have been unsuccessful due to the high-density schooling nature (J Dennis, pers. obs.). Therefore, new approaches were required due to the lack of appropriate methods. I designed three mark-recapture/resight methods that were tested monthly over five months (October–February) to determine the optimum method to estimate silver trevally abundance. During the 5-month study period, three surveys of each method were undertaken within three consecutive days each month. Each survey was considered a different replicate (i.e., one replicate per method per day). The *360-video* and *Swim pass* are new resighting methods I developed, and the *Large-scale capture* is a new recapture method based on a traditional dip-net fishing technique.

360-video

I developed this method to enable a 360-degree view to be observable within a single frame to maximise the number of individual fish counted. The *360-video* method used four GoPro Hero7 cameras (wide angle, resolution 1080p, acquisition 60 frames per second) mounted on each side of a square wooden board, facing out (Figure 15A). The opening angle of each camera underwater was ~94° resulting in a 360° field of view across the four cameras. I deployed the *360-video* setup from the stern of the cage-diving vessel at ~1 m depth for a soak time of 5 minutes, i.e., one replicate. I released approximately 500 g of berley in the water above the camera during the deployment every ~1.5 minutes. I synchronised all four videos from each replicate using the moment the *360-video* entered the water, joining videos together to allow simultaneous viewing (i.e., 360° field of view) using xilisoft video converter (http://www.xilisoft.com). For each 5-minute video replicate, I performed counts at each consecutive minute increment (± 10 seconds of each minute, five counts total) using VLC media player (https://www.videolan.org), recording the maximum number (MaxN) of tagged and untagged individual fish presenting their left side in a single frame. I excluded fish showing the right side as I was unable to confirm whether or not the individual was tagged. I calculated the mean number of tagged and untagged individuals across the five 1-minute MaxN counts.



Figure 15. Mark-resight and recapture methods. A: 360-Video comprised four GoPro Hero7 cameras mounted on each side of a square wooden board, facing out, deployed from the stern of a vessel to visually sight tagged and untagged individuals (silver trevally *Pseudocaranx georgianus*). B: Swim pass method wherein fish are aggregated at "start" with berley and then prompted to swim to "finish" with additional berley, resulting in individuals showing the tagged side to a single camera lowered from a vessel as they swim from start to finish. C: Large-scale capture where fish are aggregated into the submerged cage before it is lifted, capturing fish within the cage, where they are counted by hand, recording fish ID number if tagged, and then released. Mesh covering the sides of the cage not depicted here. Note the scale bar refers to methods (360-video apparatus, silver trevally swim distance, cage). Fish, cage gaps, and boats are not to scale (silver trevally size range 300–600mm). While not indicated, berley is used in all three methods.

Swim pass

I developed the *Swim pass* to survey large numbers of fish while avoiding multiple counts of the same individual during each sampling period. I aggregated the Trevally on the port side of the anchored shark cage-diving vessel within the study area by releasing approximately 500 g of berley. When ~90% of the visible silver trevally were aggregated on the port side, I threw ~1 kg of berley to the opposite side (starboard), prompting silver trevally to swim across the vessel's stern, exposing their left side to the viewer. I positioned a GoPro Hero7 (wide angle, resolution 1080p, 60 frames per second) mounted on the end of a pole at ~1 m depth to record the left side of the silver trevally ceased swimming towards the starboard side of the vessel (< 1 minute), preventing any fish from being double-counted. I later viewed the footage at 0.25 speed, recording the total number of tagged and untagged individuals as they swam through the screen for the length of the video (Supplementary material 4). The individual was not recorded if the left dorsal region was not visible (e.g., obscured by another fish). Each *Swim pass* was considered a different replicate.

Large-scale capture

During daily shark cage-diving operations, silver trevally can be incidentally caught in the cage (approx. dimensions 1.85 m x 1.85 m x 2 m) when lifted out of the water. This method was extended as a new recapture method to use the shark-cage as a large dip net (Figure 15C). Prior to the survey, I closed all gaps in the cage using a diamond mesh, preventing any silver trevally to escape, regardless of their size (mesh not shown in Figure 15C). I submerged the shark-cage below the surface and used ~1.5 kg berley to aggregate silver trevally around and above the cage. Once an aggregation of silver trevally formed on top of the cage, I lifted the cage from the water, capturing a large number of silver trevally in a single event. The shark-cage remained semi-submerged, allowing silver trevally to continue swimming while I entered the cage to catch silver trevally by hand, count them, and, if tagged, record the fish ID number before releasing all fish. A rigid cage prevented the sides from collapsing when lifted, preventing overcrowding, stress, or injuries to the silver trevally. Each cage submersion was considered a different replicate.

Data analysis

Comparison of methods for detecting fish

I tested differences in the total (tagged and untagged) number of individuals sighted or recaptured (hereafter all referred to as sighted) between methods using generalised linear models (GLM) with a Poisson distribution and log-link function. I tested the difference in the recapture rate (percentage of tagged silver trevally) between methods using GLM with a negative binomial distribution based on a visual examination of residuals and distributions. For the model testing the number of tagged individuals sighted against the capture method, I included the total fish observed as an offset variable to account for

differences in the total number of individuals sighted per replicate and method. I included the month to test for temporal variation as sampling occurred over consecutive months (5 months). The models included month and method as categorical fixed effects, with relative support for each model tested using the Akaike's Information Criterion (AIC) corrected for small sample sizes (AIC_c; Burnham and Anderson, 2002) through the dredge function in the package MuMln (Barton, 2019). All analyses were performed in R v.3.5.0 (R Core Team 2016).

Mark-recapture/resight abundance analysis for different methods

For each mark-recapture/resight method, I used a robust design approach to estimate silver trevally abundance across sampling periods. I used five primary sampling intervals (months), with a minimum of three secondary sampling periods within each primary sampling interval (except for Large-scale capture in December, which only had two secondary sampling periods). I repeated sampling in case of a failed survey (i.e., camera failure), but only one replicate was used for each secondary sampling period. Encounter histories of individual fish was not possible from the 360-video and Swim pass methods because tag ID number could not be read on the video footage. As such, I constructed artificial encounter histories, consisting of counts of tagged and untagged individuals instead of encounter histories for each tagged fish (McClintock et al., 2009b). For the Large-scale capture method, I also constructed artificial encounter histories to allow for comparison between methods (Large-scale capture without ID). I used the artificial encounter histories of each method (including Large-scale capture without ID; McClintock et al., 2009b) to generate mixed log-normal estimator (LNE) models. I constructed the LNE models holding recapture probability as constant over time, p(.), to assist with model convergence, and time-variant for abundance N(t) to vary with sampling periods. Additionally, as heterogeneity models do not apply when tag IDs are unknown, I fixed heterogeneity of capture probability (σ) at 0 in the LNE model (σ = 0; McClintock et al., 2009b). I implemented the LNE models using the unidentified marks logit-normal mark resight option fitted with the logit link function within the model in Program MARK version 9.0 (White and Burnham, 1999). I also used the Poisson log-normal estimator (PNE) model to estimate population abundance from the Largescale capture with the inclusion of individual ID as the model can incorporate this information (Large-scale capture with ID; McClintock and White, 2009, McClintock et al., 2009a, McClintock et al., 2014). I constructed the PNE model allowing for time variation across sampling periods for the intercept for mean resignting rate $\alpha(t)$, individual heterogeneity of capture probability $\sigma(t)$, and the number of unmarked individuals U (t; McClintock and White, 2009). I implemented the PNE model using a robust design option fit with the log link function in Program MARK version 9.0 (White and Burnham 1999). Finally, I calculated the coefficient of variation (CV) for all population abundance estimates to facilitate the comparison of variation among methods.

Model assumptions

Sampling must be classified as with or without replacement as it dictates which estimator can be used. If sampling is without replacement, each individual can only be seen once during each sampling occasion. For sampling with replacement, each individual can be sighted more than once. As each method I used was designed to only allow the resighting of an individual once during each secondary sampling survey, sampling is considered to be without replacement.

The inability to account for individual heterogeneity in the *360-video* and *swim pass* methods may result in underestimates of abundance. However, this does not affect the aim of my study, i.e. to compare three new methods, as all three methods are similarly affected by heterogeneity in capture probability (Veech et al., 2016). It was also assumed that all individuals have the same probability of recapture/resight, regardless of size, sex, or other demographics. As none of the methods used is biased towards a specific size range or other demographics, they have the same probability of sighting/capture. As such, I am confident that this assumption is satisfied. Heterogeneity in capture probability should be estimated in future studies to improve the accuracy of my methods.

Marks were individually identifiable for the *Large-scale capture* method, which satisfies the assumptions of the PNE model. Under a closed population model scenario for both the LNE and PNE, the population is assumed to be closed to births, deaths, immigration, and emigration within primary sampling intervals. In this scenario, all 350 marked silver trevally are available for resighting. As the present study lasted for only five months, births and deaths are expected to be minimal considering that the lifespan of silver trevally is up to 25 years (Rowling and Raines, 2000). During the study period, fifteen silver trevally were internally tagged with acoustic transmitters at the Neptune Islands Group Marine Park, providing overlapping data from an acoustic array of 15 receivers (3.5 km²; Chapter 2). The weekly residency (detection index) of the acoustically-tagged silver trevally during the study period was 0.9–1 (Chapter 2), confirming high site fidelity at the Neptune Islands. Even if some individuals were moving in and out of the study area within or among primary sampling period there is unlikely to be a net change, and it does not affect my ability to compare precision across the three methods. It also enables estimates of the super population associated with the study area (McClintock and White, 2012) and provides reliable population estimates at the beginning of the study period (Alonso et al., 2015).

3.4 Results

Comparison of methods for detecting fish

For the total number of silver trevally sighted per survey, the full model including the interaction between month and method was the most parsimonious (AIC_c weight = 1; Table 4). There were no differences in the number of silver trevally sighted between the *360-video* and the *Large-scale capture* methods, which both sighted a small number of silver trevally (mean ± standard error: 45 ± 2.1 and 30 ± 3.8 respectively; *P* = 0.64; β_{method} = 0.06 [baseline: *360-video*]; Table 5a). The number of fish caught through the *Large-scale capture* surveys was also the most variable (Figure 16A). The *Swim pass* method recorded the highest number of individuals per survey (211 ± 14.9) with a greater difference to the *360-video* (β_{method} 1.88) than the *Large-scale capture* (Figure 16A; Table 5a). The method type explained the most variation in the model. Although the number of silver trevally sighted also varied across months, the model effect size (i.e., coefficient) across methods was much greater than across months (largest β_{method} 1.88 vs. β_{month} 0.55 respectively; Table 5a). The interaction between month and method was also in the most parsimonious model but accounted for the smallest effect size ($\beta_{month*method}$ -0.81 vs *Swim pass* β_{method} 1.88; Table 5a).

For the recapture rate (percentage of tagged silver trevally), the full model including the interaction between month (October–February) and method (*360-video, Swim pass, Large-scale capture*) was also the most parsimonious (AIC_c weight = 1; Table 4b). Across the three methods, the number of tagged individuals sighted ranged from 0 to 65 per survey, with the mean recapture rate varying significantly by method and month (*P* < 0.001; Figure 16B; Table 5b). Within the method factor showed the largest coefficients θ_{method} 0.5–2.4; Table 5b, with the *Swim pass* method producing the highest coefficient (θ_{method} 2.44 [baseline: *360-video*]; Table 5b), while the other two methods were more similar (θ_{method} = 0.54; Table 5b). Month (θ_{month} 0.22–0.79; Table 5b) and the interaction between method and month ($\theta_{month*method}$ -0.93 – -0.01; Table 5b) was also in the top ranked model, but had smaller coefficients than method (i.e., θ_{method} 0.5–2.4; Table 5b). The recapture rate obtained by the *Large-scale capture* was more variable than the other two methods, increasing in November and December, and decreasing in February, while it stayed relatively stable for the other two methods (Figure 16B).

Table 4. Model selection table for Generalised Linear Models (GLMs) of (a) the total number of individuals (silver trevally, *Pseudocaranx georgianus*) sighted and (b) the recapture rate (percentage of tagged individuals) at the Neptune Islands Group, South Australia, from three recapture/resight methods across five primary sampling intervals (months). df = degrees of freedom, AIC_c = Akaike's Information Criterion corrected for small sample size, ΔAIC_c = difference in AIC_c between current and top model, AIC_cWt = AIC_c Weight, LL = log-likelihood. The top-ranked model is highlighted in **bold**

Variable	Model	Df	AICc	ΔAIC_{c}	AIC_cW_t	LL
(a) Total observations	Null	1	7099.9	5304.05	0	-3548.90
	Month	5	7012.4	5216.55	0	-3500.76
	Method	3	1875.8	79.99	0	-934.74
	Month + Method	7	1845.3	49.48	0	-914.83
	Month + Method + Month*Method	15	1795.8	0	1	-878.97
	Model	Df	AICc	ΔAIC_{c}	AIC_cW_t	LL
(b) Recapture rate	Null	2	75373.6	12883.78	0	-37684.71
	Month	6	74753.2	12263.40	0	37370.00
	Method	4	64284.0	1794.24	0	-32137.74
	Month + Method	8	62991.4	501.62	0	-31486.65
	Month + Method + Month*Method	16	62489.8	0	1	-31224.37

Table 5. Generalised Linear Models (GLMs) estimated coefficients (β), standard errors (SE), z-values, and the individual coefficient Type 1 error estimate (P) for each variable and factor included in the top-ranked models (~Month + Method + Month*Method) for (a) the total number of individuals (silver trevally, *Pseudocaranx georgianus*) sighted and (b) the recapture rate (percentage of tagged individuals) at the Neptune Islands Group, South Australia, from three recapture/resight methods across five primary sampling intervals (months). **Bold** values indicate significant values (<0.05).

Variable	Factor	β	SE	z-value	Р
(a) Total observations	Intercept	3.53	0.08	45.98	<0.001
	Swim pass	1.88	0.08	22.46	<0.001
	Large-scale capture	0.06	0.12	0.47	0.64
	November	0.21	0.10	2.09	0.03
	December	0.15	0.11	1.36	0.17
	January	0.37	0.10	3.83	<0.001
	February	0.55	0.10	5.48	<0.001
	Swim pass: November	-0.19	0.11	-1.77	0.07
	Large-scale capture:				<0.001
	November	-0.77	0.18	-4.35	
	Swim pass: December	-0.32	0.12	-2.69	<0.001
	Large-scale capture:				<0.001
	December	-0.66	0.19	-3.43	
	Swim pass: January	-0.42	0.11	-4.01	<0.001
	Large-scale capture: January	-0.28	0.15	-1.85	0.06
	Swim pass: February	-0.60	0.11	-5.46	<0.001
	Large-scale capture: February	-0.81	0.18	-4.59	<0.001
	Factor	β	SE	z-value	Р
(b) Recapture rate	Intercept	1.18	0.05	24.84	<0.001
	Swim pass	2.44	0.05	50.28	<0.001
	Large-scale capture	0.54	0.07	8.01	<0.001
	November	0.22	0.06	3.64	<0.001
	December	0.39	0.06	6.12	<0.001
	January	0.60	0.06	10.93	<0.001
	February	0.79	0.06	14.01	<0.001
	Swim pass: November	-0.06	0.06	-1.01	0.31
	Large-scale capture:				
	November	-0.01	0.09	-0.08	0.94
	Swim pass: December	-0.64	0.06	-9.83	<0.001
	Large-scale capture:				
	December	-0.25	0.10	-2.46	0.01
	Swim pass: January	-0.71	0.06	-12.38	<0.001
	Large-scale capture: January	-0.50	0.08	-6.11	<0.001
	Large-scale capture: January Swim pass: February	-0.50 -0.93	0.08 0.06	-6.11 -15.98	<0.001 <0.001



Figure 16. A: Recapture rate (percentage of tagged fish) and number of silver trevally (*Pseudocaranx georgianus*) observed per replicate for three recapture/resight methods (*360-video* [red], *Swim pass* [green], *Large-scale capture* [blue]), and **B**: Mean recapture rate across primary sampling intervals (months) for each recapture/resight method
Mark-recapture/resight abundance analysis for different methods

For all methods using the mixed log-normal estimator (LNE), the models had the structure p(.), $\sigma = 0$ N(t), with the remaining models failing to converge. When using the PNE for the *Large-scale capture*, the model had the structure α (t) σ (t) U(t), with the remaining models failing to converge. The abundance estimates varied considerably across methods but had similar trends to the mean recapture rates (Table 6; Figure 17). Abundance estimates from the *360-video* were the largest, with the biggest variation around values. Estimates from the *Large-scale capture* were the lowest regardless of whether or not individual ID was included in the model. The *Swim pass* method had the smallest CV (4.5–12%) compared to the *360-video* (14.8–22.2%) and *Large-scale capture* (LNE method; 17.3–26.5%; Table 7; Figure 17). Inclusion of individual ID into the *Large-scale capture* abundance estimator (PNE model) resulted in similar abundance and CV estimates (18.2–26.7%) to the *Large-scale capture* LNE model (Table 7; Figure 17).

Table 6. Summary of three re	ecapture/resight methods	(360-video, Swim pass,	Large-scale capture	across primary
sampling periods (months).				

Method	Method type	Count type	Individual ID	Berley used (kg)	Secondary periods within primary periods			hin	
					Oct	Nov	Dec	Jan	Feb
360-video	Resight	MaxN	No	1.5	3	3	3	4	3
Swim pass	Resight	Point count	No	1.5	3	5	5	4	3
Large-scale capture	Recapture	Point count	Yes	1.5	3	3	2	3	4

Table 7. Coefficient of variation (%) for population estimates from three recapture/resight methods (360-video, Swim pass, Large-scale capture, Large-scale capture [with ID] across primary sampling intervals (months).

	Sampling month					
Method	October	November	December	January	February	
360-video	22.17	18.44	19.64	14.75	17.21	
Swim pass	11.96	4.49	5.67	6.59	6.96	
Large-scale capture	24.68	19.16	22.39	17.32	26.46	
Large-scale capture (with ID)	24.89	21.19	24.69	18.24	26.69	



Figure 17. Population estimates for silver trevally (*Pseudocaranx georgianus*) at the Neptune Islands Group, South Australia, from three recapture/resight methods (*360-video* [red], *Swim pass* [green], *Large-scale capture* [blue], *Large-scale capture* [with ID; purple]) across primary sampling intervals (months). Shaded error bars indicate standard error. All estimates were produced from the mixed log-normal estimator, except for *Large-scale capture* (with ID) estimates which were produced from the Poisson log-normal estimator incorporating individually marked individuals.

3.5 Discussion

My study developed and tested three novel mark-recapture/resight methods to determine the most effective method for estimating the abundance of a pelagic schooling fish. The *Swim pass* method recorded the largest number of fish per replicate and provided abundance estimates with the smallest CV. This method was also the easiest to implement as it could be undertaken rapidly and did not require extensive time to process videos (~5 minutes per video vs. ~60 minutes for the *360-video*). Further, the remaining methods involved additional practical limitations, both in the field (i.e., heavy machinery requirements, extensive cage preparation) and during analysis (i.e., video processing and manipulation), and had higher variance than the *Swim pass*. Finally, including individual ID in the mark-recapture models did not reduce standard error or CV because tagged fish were not recaptured multiple times, resulting in similar precision and abundance estimates to the *Large-scale capture* model without individual ID.

When selecting a method to determine the number of individuals within a population, it is important to use a method suitable for the population or species of interest and that will provide the most accurate and precise abundance and demographic parameter estimates (McClintock and White, 2012). The inability to survey a sufficient number of individuals can reduce the precision of the resulting estimates and lead to over or underestimates of abundance (McClintock and White, 2012). Here, I found that the low number of individuals surveyed by the *360-video* and *Large-scale capture* methods resulted in the abundance estimates being sensitive to small variations in the proportion of resighted/recaptured individuals. This likely explains the discrepancy in abundance estimates across methods in November where the small number of individuals surveyed by the *360-video* (45 ± 2.1) and *Large-scale capture* (30 ± 3.8) affected the accuracy of the estimates. In contrast, the *Swim pass* method surveys the largest number of fish (>200 individuals per survey; five-fold larger than the other methods) and has a higher resilience to small changes in the number of resighted individuals. This also contributed to this method having the lowest CV (4.5-12%vs. *360-video* 14.8–22.2% and *Large-scale capture* 17.3–26.5%).

Incorporating multiple data types into mark-recapture/resight models can alleviate some of the biases and challenges estimating the abundance of aquatic species. For example, the integration of acoustic telemetry can help accounting for variation in heterogeneity of capture probability (Bird et al., 2014, Dudgeon et al., 2015). Typically, inclusion of multiple data types will reduce the CVs of estimates, e.g., studies integrating spatial or age data obtained CV of 12.2–12.7% (Dudgeon et al., 2015) or 1.68–3.49% (Challenger et al., 2019) respectively, compared to studies that do not integrate multiple data types, e.g., CV of ~22% (Reisinger and Karczmarski, 2010, Sorrell et al., 2019). However, CVs produced here by the *Swim pass* are similar to values obtained in the previous studies that integrated multiple data sources, highlighting the high precision of this method which only utilises a single data type.

The inclusion of individual identification can provide flexibility and additional information in estimator models (McClintock and White, 2012). The inclusion of such information can account for different forms of overdispersion, e.g., individual detection probability heterogeneity (McClintock and White, 2012) or resighting rate heterogeneity (McClintock et al., 2009a), reducing the underestimation of abundance and overestimation of precision (McClintock et al., 2009a, McClintock et al., 2009b). Here, I was able to model Large-scale capture surveys with and without the inclusion of individual ID (LNE and PNE) but found no difference in the parameter estimates or CV. Despite the ability to include individual IDs in the analysis of Large-scale capture data, the low precision is likely a result of the inherent low number of fish surveyed during the Large-scale capture surveys $(30 \pm 3.8 \text{ SE})$, reducing the likelihood of recapturing individuals on multiple surveys. No individuals were recaptured on more than two occasions after initial marking. This low likelihood of recapturing individuals decreases the value of including ID in the estimator models and consequently does not improve precision. The inclusion of ID into the Large-scale capture survey could, therefore, increase precision if the overall number of individuals surveyed was increased (McClintock and White, 2012). Increasing the overall number surveyed could be achieved by using a larger custom-designed cage instead of the standard cage used by the white shark cage-diving industry, with the optimum cage size requiring additional testing to be estimated.

Inherent biases leading to the assumption of equal capture probability being violated (Abadi et al., 2013), e.g., trap happiness or net avoidance, can affect the accuracy and bias population estimates (Haxton and Friday, 2019, Wacker et al., 2021). My study uses bait and berley to aggregate silver trevally, potentially biasing my abundance estimates towards individuals that are more likely to respond to food-based attractant. It may also lead my estimates to represent the number of silver trevally around cage-diving vessels rather than the whole population of silver trevally at the Neptune Islands. However, I was specifically interested in the number of silver trevally interacting with cage-diving vessels and setting up an approach which will enable us to monitor changes in this population over time. Further, there should be no bias towards any method based on the use of food to attract silver trevally because bait and berley were used for all methods.

When estimating fish abundance, the following should be considered for method selection: cost, reproducibility, disturbance of the target species, and efficiency (McClintock and White, 2012). While the *360-video* was fast in the field, non-invasive, and relatively cost-effective, there was considerable investment in time for processing and analysing the videos, which needed to be converted, synched, and spliced (>60 minutes per video). While 360-cameras are now available, removing the need to use four separate cameras and subsequent video manipulation, fish counts from the *360-video* took substantially longer than the *Swim pass* method regardless of video footage manipulation (i.e., 360-cameras do not reduce the time required for fish counts, it only reduced video manipulation). Automated fish detection could be used to decrease fish count time from the *360-video* (and *Swim pass; (Ditria et al., 2020, Connolly*)

et al., 2023)). However, the training and construction of required deep learning models comes at a financial cost which may still exceed the cost of processing single-view footage manually (Connolly et al., 2023). In addition, tag sightability was low as silver trevally were not always oriented with their tagged side facing the camera, precluding some individuals from the count. While the *Large-scale capture* did not require video analysis, setting up the cage to catch silver trevally was time intensive. The *Large-scale capture* method is also more invasive than the other two methods, requiring recapturing fish at each sampling period instead of resighting fish. As the precision of the abundance estimates was not improved by the ability to identify individuals due to multiple recaptures being rare, the additional disturbance of the *Large-scale capture* method is not justified. The *Swim pass* method was the easiest to implement as it was rapid, only used a single camera, and did not require extensive video processing time. Furthermore, due to the orientation of the silver trevally during surveys, tag sightability was better than during *360-video* as the tagged side was always visible to the camera.

3.6 Conclusions

Implementing the best method to obtain precise abundance estimates is essential to effectively manage and conserve marine species. After testing three different methods for testing abundance of silver trevally around cage-diving I had a clear leader: the *Swim pass* method. This method captured the most animals per replication and showed the highest precision, including when compared against an approach that reduced individual heterogeneity through the inclusion of individual ID. Furthermore, the *Swim pass* method provides a low-cost, time-efficient resighting method that enables researchers to rapidly estimate the abundance of aggregating pelagic species. The applicability of this method extends beyond pelagic fishes interacting with wildlife tourism to other species and situations, such as schooling fish around aggregating devices (FADs; Dagorn et al., 2010) or anthropogenic structures (i.e., oil platforms, pipelines, wind farms; Meyer-Gutbrod et al., 2020), or to estimate stock size in aquaculture pens (Callier et al., 2018).



CHAPTER 4

Abundance of silver trevally (*Pseudocaranx georgianus*) exposed to a resource pulse from wildlife tourism



4.1 Abstract

Supplemental feeding provides a spatiotemporally predictable and consistent food source for wildlife, which can affect their abundance and behaviour. At the Neptune Islands Group Marine Park in South Australia, bait and berley are used to entice white sharks (Carcharodon carcharias) towards cagediving vessels. Silver trevally (Pseudocaranx georgianus) are also attracted, and feed on this supplemental food source, which affects their diet and movements (i.e., residency and spatiotemporal distribution; Chapter 2). The silver trevally form large aggregations around vessels with operators suggesting a subsequent increase in their abundance. I used five different mark-resight estimator models based on conventional tagging (n = 700) with improved parameterisation of resignting probability from acoustic tracking (n = 25) and a VEMCO Positioning System to estimate the abundance of silver trevally at a white shark tourism site. I estimated that the population of silver trevally reaches ~4,000 individuals, with abundance decreasing during periods of low water temperature, rather than in months with less cagediving activity. This suggests that the supplemental feeding is not muting environmental cues or suppressing natural behaviours. Findings from this study provide abundance estimates for a non-focal population exposed to supplemental feeding from wildlife tourism, highlighting the large number of silver trevally interacting with cage-diving vessels. This supports the need for wildlife tourism management to account for non-focal species when considering the attractant used to ensure the industry's ecological sustainability.

4.2 Introduction

Estimates of abundance, density, and other demographic parameters are vital in population ecology, wildlife management, and conservation (Sollmann et al., 2013). Trends of such estimates can be used as indicators of population status, from which the recovery of at-risk populations (Haxton and Friday, 2019), harvestable biomass in fisheries (Hart et al., 2019), or responses to anthropogenic effects can be inferred (Clementi et al., 2021). The impacts of altering the size of a population can also extend beyond the impacted species to influence the supporting ecosystem (Hixon et al., 2002, Sollmann et al., 2013). As such, it is important to understand the processes that regulate and drive spatiotemporal changes in the abundance and density of populations.

Given unlimited resources, a population can theoretically grow exponentially (Allen and Hightower, 2010). However, abundance is regulated through density-dependent processes, preventing the population from exceeding its carrying capacity (Koons et al., 2015). Competition for resources (inter- and intraspecific; Meakin and Qin, 2020), particularly food availability, is one of the main factors underlying densitydependent processes (Post et al., 1999, Koons et al., 2015, Malpass et al., 2017, Cox and Gaston, 2018). In the marine environment, food availability is susceptible to substantial fluctuations based on environmental and climatic changes (Cury and Shannon, 2004), inter- and intraspecific competition (Gaston et al., 2009), and anthropogenic pressures (Cury and Shannon, 2004, Gaston et al., 2009, Barbraud et al., 2018). For

example, upwelling events in the California Current ecosystem increase phytoplankton and zooplankton production, increasing anchovy (*Engraulis* spp.) biomass (Rykaczewski and Checkley, 2008). Contrary to this, extractive pressures such as fishing can decrease food availability by removing key prey species and reducing predator abundance (Collie et al., 2017, Barbraud et al., 2018). Fluctuations in food availability can occur over varying timescales, from decadal-scale shifts in the abundance of sardine (*Sardinops* spp.) and anchovy (Cury and Shannon, 2004), to seasonal availability in Pacific anadromous salmonids (*Oncorhynchus* spp.) during spawning migrations (Naughton et al., 2011). Due to the dynamic nature of food availability, marine consumers must adapt to fluxing food webs and recourse availability to capitalise on favourable conditions, maintain their population size, or regulate it accordingly.

Natural pulses in resources typically occur across different temporal (i.e., daily; Bollens et al., 2011; seasonally; Beltran et al., 2021) and spatial scales (Yang et al., 2008), with no guarantee that the food source will be abundant or consistent (Becker and Hall, 2014). In contrast, anthropogenic activities intentionally and unintentionally supplying supplemental feed can create a spatially and temporally predictable resource pulse, with a consistency exceeding natural sources (Becker and Hall, 2014). Unintentional feeding involves wildlife using human food sources such as crops, food waste, or industry discards (Depestele et al., 2019). For example, 10.8 % of the global 84.6 million tonnes mean annual fishing catches was discarded as unwanted fish and offal (Gilman et al., 2020). Such food sources have contributed to ~52 % of seabird species globally consuming marine fishing industry discards (Oro et al., 2013), with the waste constituting the main food item in some populations and rates of discards altering predator-prey interactions in others (Votier et al., 2004, Bicknell et al., 2013, Oro et al., 2013). Provisioning can also be intentional, where supplemental feed are directly provided to wildlife to feed or attract species either for management (human-wildlife conflicts or species recovery; Jones et al., 1995, Martínez-Abraín and Oro, 2013), research (Huveneers et al., 2018b, Whitmarsh et al., 2019), or tourism-related purposes (Sengupta et al., 2021, Meyer et al., 2022). Both unintentional and intentional provisioning increase the foraging success of species through the consistent and predictable resource pulse, which can drive increases in abundance (Becker and Hall, 2014).

Supplemental feeding during wildlife tourism provides an abundant and predictable near-continuous food source (Oro et al., 2013, Sengupta et al., 2021). Due to the often-unpredictable occurrence, high dispersal, low densities, and short residency periods of wild animals, operators use food-based attractants to aggregate and attract species within view of tourists (Meyer et al., 2021). Use of such attractants can affect the abundance and behaviour of species interacting with tourism operations (Trave et al., 2017), e.g., increased relative abundance of silky sharks (*Carcharhinus falciformis*) at baiting stations (Clarke et al., 2013), increased encounter rates and abundance of bull sharks (*C. leucas*) at a dive site (Brunnschweiler et al., 2014), and behavioural change of sand mullet (*Myxus elongatus*), silver drummer (*Kyphosus sydneyanus*), yellowtail kingfish (*Seriola lalandi*), and silver trevally (*Pseudocaranx georgianus*) anticipating

feeding from tourists (Brookhouse et al., 2013). Assessing populations to determine the presence of such impacts requires historical data, long-term monitoring, or the establishment of an initial estimate for the population to monitor and detect future change (Claassens and Harasti, 2020). At the Neptune Islands Group Marine Park (South Australia), two operators use a near-continuous berley plume of minced southern bluefin tuna (Thunnus maccoyii) and tethered baits (southern bluefin tuna gills and stomachs; Bruce and Bradford, 2013) to entice and aggregate white sharks within the field of view of the cage-diving tourists (Huveneers et al., 2017b, Meyer et al., 2020, Clarke et al., 2022). The intentional feeding of white sharks is prohibited by industry regulations (DEW 2016) and the berley particles are too small to be consumed by white sharks. However, large aggregations of highly resident silver trevally consume most of the bait and berley used by the operators (J Dennis, unpublished data). Reports from the industry suggest that the consumption of this food may be causing an increase in the abundance of silver trevally at the Neptune Islands (A Fox, pers. obs.). Due to the abundant food source available and its potential effects on density-dependent processes, the supplemental food may be decreasing resource related mortality, increasing the carrying capacity of the Neptune Islands, and subsequently support an increase in abundance. However, due to the lack of abundance estimates for the silver trevally prior to the use of bait and berley, or a comparable population within a marine protected area not exposed to supplemental feeding, this suspected increase cannot be confirmed. Given the potential negative impact on the health of silver trevally at the Neptune Islands (e.g., microbial and parasitic infections, stomach ulcers, skin lesions; Brookhouse et al., 2013) if the supplemental feeding is inflating the population, establishing an initial abundance estimate will allow future monitoring to determine change in silver trevally abundance and implement management strategies, if needed. While I am unable to assess long-term changes in abundance with changes in operator presence, I am able to explore short-term fluctuations throughout the year with fluctuations in cage-diving intensity, and how this influences silver trevally abundance.

Here, I use five different mark-resight estimator models based on conventional tagging with improved parameterisation of resighting probability from acoustic tracking and a VEMCO Positioning System (VPS) over two consecutive years (January 2020–January 2022) to estimate the abundance of silver trevally at the Neptune Islands Group Marine Park, South Australia. I aimed to estimate monthly abundance of silver trevally in a marine park exposed to a consistent resource pulse and assess drivers of variation over time. Specifically, I hypothesise that the abundance of silver trevally will be influenced by cage-diving intensity.

4.3 Methods

Conventional tagging (ID)

I caught silver trevally using hook-and-line at the North Neptune Islands Group Marine Park, South Australia (-35° 13' 48", 136° 4' 12"; hereafter Neptune Islands; ~12 km from South Neptune Island). I tagged individuals with plastic T-bar anchor tags (Hallprint Fish Tags, South Australia, hallprint.com) between the 15^{th} – 21^{st} of October 2019 and between the 9^{th} – 29^{th} of January 2021. I inserted tags in the muscle below the first dorsal fin, capturing, releasing, and resighting silver trevally onboard the tourism boats at the cage-diving sites within a small area of ~0.5 km².

Mark-resight protocol

I conducted mark-resight surveys monthly from January 2020 to November 2021. Mark-resight surveys were previously developed to survey large numbers of silver trevally while avoiding multiple counts of the same individual during each sampling period (swim pass survey; Chapter 3; Figure 18). I aggregated silver trevally on the port side of the stern of the anchored cage-diving vessel by releasing approximately 500 g of berley. When ~90% of the visible silver trevally were aggregated on the port side, I threw ~1 kg of berley to the opposite side (starboard), prompting silver trevally to swim across the vessel's stern, exposing their tagged side to the viewer. I positioned a GoPro Hero7 (wide angle, resolution 1080p, 60 frames per second) mounted on the end of a pole at ~1 m depth to record the tagged side of the silver trevally as they swam between the two aggregation points (Chapter 3). Filming continued until silver trevally ceased swimming towards the starboard side of the vessel (< 1 minute), preventing any fish from being double counted (Supplementary material 4). I later viewed the footage at 0.25 speed, counting the total number of tagged and untagged individuals as they swam through the screen for the length of the video. I did not record the individual if the tagged dorsal region was not visible (e.g., obscured by another fish). Each survey was considered a different replicate.



Figure 18. Mark-resight model input data from resighting surveys and acoustic detections for different models (acronyms and supporting information available in table 8): IELNE^{MR} & PLNE^{MR}: ID tagged individuals and untagged individuals during surveys. IELNE^{AC}: Acoustically detected individuals within 200 m during surveys, and unmarked silver trevally during surveys. IELNE^{MR-AC}: IELNE^{MR} model with MCMC simulations using resighting probability from IELNE^{AC} model estimates. IELNE^{MR-SP}: IELNE^{MR} model with MCMC simulations using resighting probability from detected acoustic fish and sighted acoustic fish during surveys. A. Resighting survey wherein fish are aggregated at starting point with berley and then prompted to swim to finish point with additional berley, promoting individuals to show tagged side to single camera lowered from a vessel. B. Acoustically tagged silver trevally within 200 m of the vessel during the resighting survey conducted in A. Solid lines indicates number of individuals of that fish type (i.e., untagged, marked, detected). Dashed line indicates resighting probability from model estimates (acoustic mode estimates) or derived from surveys (acoustically tagged sighted / detected). Grey silver trevally = untagged; Yellow silver trevally = ID tagged; Green silver trevally = Acoustically tagged.

Receiver array

I deployed 15 VR2AR acoustic receivers (Innovasea, Nova Scotia, Canada) at the Neptune Islands Group Marine Park for a continuous 3-year period from August 2019 to August 2022 (serviced every 12 months; Figure 19A). I designed the array to enable fine-scale positioning of tagged individuals through a VPS (Espinoza et al., 2011, Orrell and Hussey, 2022). I deployed receivers at a distance of ~300 m which as shown by range testing would detect ~80% of transmissions, allowing simultaneous detections of transmitters integrated within the VR2AR by nearby receivers. In this approach, the internal clock of each receiver was synchronised, allowing the fine-scale position of tagged fish to be calculated using the difference in time-of-arrival of acoustic detections by multiple receivers (Espinoza et al., 2011). Time synchronisation of the array was performed in the Fathom Position software (Innovasea, version 2.0.3). Receiver depth ranged from 8–46 m, and receivers were deployed on mooring consisting of 16–18 mm anchor chain links (50–100 kg), a rope canister to enable retrieval of anchor chains upon receiver recovery, and a 30-cm diameter sub-surface buoy. Due to a lack of synchronisation between both sides of the Neptune Islands, I performed positional error corrections separately for each side of North Neptune Islands (northern side, southern side; Figure 19B). I used linear regressions constructed between the measured horizontal positional errors of the synchronisation transmitters within each VR2AR receiver (HPEm), with the corresponding values or error sensitivity (HPE), to obtain the equations representative of the fine-scale positional errors for each side of the Neptune Islands. I then applied these linear equations to the silver trevally HPE values to calculate the HPE for each fine-scale position. Positions had higher accuracy on the southern side (minimum error = 0.74 m) than on the northern side (minimum error = 28.28 m). All silver trevally positions with HPE errors > 40 m (i.e. < 2.9% of all silver trevally positions) were excluded from the analyses.

Acoustic tagging

I surgically implanted acoustic transmitters (V9AP, Innovasea, Nova Scotia, Canada) into the peritoneal cavity of silver trevally. I caught silver trevally via hook-and-line and anaesthetised using AQUI-S Aquatic Anaesthetic (15 mg/L, AQUI-S, New Zealand). I made a 20–30 mm incision on the ventral side of the peritoneal cavity, inserted the transmitter, and closed the incision using 2–3 absorbable running sutures (Monosyn 2-0/3-0, B. Braun). I implanted a conventional external spaghetti tag into the dorsal musculature to visually identify acoustically tagged fish during resighting surveys (i.e., double tagged and a different colour to non-acoustically tagged fish). After tagging, I placed silver trevally in a recovery tank filled with a fresh supply of aerated seawater for 10–20 minutes before release.



Figure 19. Map of the Neptune Islands Group Marine Park in South Australia with (**A**) positions of 15 acoustic receivers (black diamonds) and positions of all white shark cage-diving operations during mark-resight surveys (green circles); (**B**) VEMCO Positioning System (VPS) locations from 25 acoustically tagged silver trevally (*Pseudocaranx georgianus*) for the northern side (orange circles), and southern side (blue circles), dashed line indicates northern and southern boundary.

Model construction for mark-resight data

I implemented all models using the RMark package version 3.0.0 (Laake, 2013) in the R statistical environment (version 4.2.1; R Core Team 2016) to interface with Program MARK version 9.0 (White and Burnham, 1999). I performed mark-resight analysis on the data from the resighting surveys using a robust design approach to estimate silver trevally abundance across sampling periods (McClintock and White, 2012). I defined primary sampling intervals as months (January 2020–November 2021, n = 20), with secondary sampling periods as days within each primary sampling interval (2–6 surveys per month, n = 85). I repeated sampling in case of a failed survey (i.e., camera failure), but only one replicate was used for each secondary sampling period. Encounter histories of individual fish were not possible for surveys as tag ID number could not be read on the video footage. As such, I constructed artificial encounter histories, consisting of counts of ID tagged and untagged individuals instead of encounter histories for each tagged fish (Figure 18; Mcclintock et al., 2009). I used the artificial encounter histories to generate immigration-emigration log-normal estimator (IELNE) models (denoted as IELNE^{MR}; Table 8) and poisson log-normal estimator (PLNE) models (denoted as PLNE^{MR}; Table 8), allowing to compare which model provided the most precise abundance estimates.

Table 8. Mark-resight model input data from resighting surveys and acoustic detections for different models: IELNE^{AC}: Acoustically detected individuals within 200 m during surveys, and unmarked silver trevally during surveys. IELNE^{MR} & PLNE^{MR}: ID tagged individuals and untagged individuals during surveys. IELNE^{MR-AC}: IELNE^{MR} model with MCMC simulations using resighting probability from IELNE^{AC} model estimates. IELNE^{MR-SP}: IELNE^{MR} model with MCMC simulations using resighting probability from detected acoustic fish and sighted acoustic fish during surveys.

Models	Estimator	Marked	Unmarked	MCMC simulations	Resighting probability
IELNE ^{MR}	Immigration- Emigration logit-normal	ID tagged	Untagged during surveys	No	Model estimates
IELNE ^{AC}	Immigration- Emigration logit-normal	Acoustic detections	Untagged during surveys	No	Model estimates
IELNE ^{MR-SP}	Immigration- Emigration logit-normal	ID tagged	Untagged during surveys	Yes	Estimated from detected acoustic fish and sighted acoustic fish during surveys
IELNE ^{MR-AC}	Immigration- Emigration logit-normal	ID tagged	Untagged during surveys	Yes	Estimates calculated from IELNE ^{AC} model
PLNE ^{MR}	Unidentified marks Poisson log-normal	ID tagged	Untagged during surveys	No	Model estimates

The IELNE^{MR} models estimate two abundance types, the mean population size (N_{-i}) , and the superpopulation size (N_i^*) during primary sampling interval j. The population size refers to the mean number of silver trevally within the receiver array at the Neptune Islands during each primary sampling period. The super-population size refers to the silver trevally using both the area within the receiver array and the waters surrounding the Neptune Islands. The receivers at South Neptune Islands (~12 km south of North Neptune Islands) detected only one silver trevally tagged at North Neptunes for a single day over the study period, highlighting the lack of mixing between North and South Neptune Islands (Chapter 2), and thus indicates that the super-population resides around North Neptune Island. The IELNE^{MR} also estimates mean re-sighting probability of secondary occasion i during primary interval $i(p_{ij})$, the difference (α_{ij}) between the population size for secondary sampling occasion *i* of primary sampling period *j* and the mean population size for primary sampling period j (i.e., $\alpha_{ij} = N_{ij} - N^{-}_{i}$), and individual heterogeneity (σ^{2}_{i}) in resignting probability during primary sampling period *j*. I constructed IELNE^{MR} models allowing α to fluctuate through primary sampling periods (session dependent), as constant through time ([.]; i.e., does not change over sampling periods), or fixed at 0 (i.e., not estimated by model). I allowed p to fluctuate through primary sampling periods (session dependent) or as constant through time (.). I allowed N⁻ and N^{*} to fluctuate through primary sampling periods (session dependent). Additionally, as heterogeneity models do not apply when tag IDs are unknown, I fixed heterogeneity of capture probability (σ) at 0 (σ = 0; McClintock et al., 2009b).

The PLNE^{MR} models estimates the total population size (N_j) during primary occasion *j*. This estimate represents the total number of unmarked individuals in the population (U_j) and the number of marked individuals in the population (n_j) during primary sampling occasion *j* (i.e., N_j = U_j + n_j). The PLNE^{MR} also estimates the overall mean resighting rate (α_j) for primary occasion *j*, apparent survival between primary intervals (φ), individual heterogeneity (σ^2_j), and the probability of transitioning from an unobservable state at *j* + 1 (γ''). I constructed PLNE^{MR} models allowing α , γ'' , and φ to fluctuate through primary sampling periods (session dependent) or as constant through time (.). I allowed U to fluctuate through primary sampling periods (session dependent). Finally, I fixed heterogeneity of capture probability (σ) at 0 (σ = 0; McClintock et al., 2009b).

I implemented the IELNE^{MR} and PLNE^{ME} models using the unidentified marks Immigration-Emigration logitnormal mark resight option and the unidentified marks Poisson log-normal mark resight option respectively (White and Burnham, 1999, Laake, 2013). I based model selection on Akaike's Information Criterion for small sample sizes (AIC_c; Burnham and Anderson, 2004) and model likelihood using the bias-corrected relative weight of evidence for each model, AIC_c weight, where higher values provide more support to the model (Burnham and Anderson, 2004).

Model construction for acoustic data

A limitation of mark-resight methods is the inability to determine the number of marked individuals available for resighting on a given occasion, limiting the precision of these models. To overcome this I can use radio or acoustically tagged individuals to inform the location of marked individuals, thus determining if they are present to be resighted (McClintock and White, 2012). I incorporated estimates of silver trevally positions from the VPS array, with concurrent resighting surveys to consider if a fish is present (i.e., within 200 m of survey, artificially sighted), absent, or not available (Figure 18). This was used to improve the precision and reduce the potential bias of abundance estimates over standard mark-resight methods.

To integrate the fish positions, I calculated distance (m) during a survey between silver trevally positions and the vessel using the 'distHarversine' function in geosphere (Hijmans et al., 2017). I constructed encounter histories based on the VPS position estimates of acoustically tagged silver trevally during the resighting surveys, where individuals detected within 200 m of the vessel during a survey were considered "sighted" and assigned a '1'. If an individual was not within 200 m of the vessel during a survey but were detected at North Neptunes Islands, it was assigned a '0' indicating it was present but not available during surveys. Finally, if an individual was not detected within the array for greater than 24 hours, it was assigned '.' as they were absent and therefore not available for resighting during the survey (Figure 18; Table 8). For the purpose of integrating the silver trevally positions, the number of unmarked silver trevally was the number of non-acoustically tagged silver trevally including conventional ID-tagged silver trevally (Figure 18; Table 8). I considered the marked super-population as the total number of acoustically tagged silver trevally deployed during that sampling period. I used encounter histories from the acoustic data for immigration-emigration log-normal estimator (IELNE) models (denoted as IELNE^{AC}). I constructed IELNE^{AC} models allowing α and σ to fluctuate through primary sampling periods (session dependent), as constant through time (.), or fixed at 0. I allowed p to fluctuate through primary sampling periods (session dependent), or as constant through time (.). I allowed N⁻ and N^{*} to fluctuate through primary sampling periods (session dependent). I implemented the IELNE^{AC} models using the Immigration-Emigration logit-normal mark resight option (White and Burnham, 1999, Laake, 2013).

Model construction for integrated mark-resight data

Estimates of resighting probability from IELNE^{MR} models based on mark-resight data only was low (p < 0.1). Low recapture probabilities for abundance estimates have the ability to overestimate abundance, the effects of which have been reduced in previous studies through the incorporation of acoustic telemetry data and fishing data in combination with a Monte Carlo simulation procedure (Dudgeon et al., 2015). Thus, I used acoustic telemetry to calculate resighting probability and reduce uncertainty and bias in the IELNE^{MR} model in two ways: 1) I calculated resighting probability using the number of

acoustically tagged silver trevally sighted during resighting surveys in relation to the number of acoustically tagged silver trevally detected within 200 m of the vessel during surveys (integrated model denoted as IELNE^{MR-SP}; Figure 18; Table 8; see *Model construction for acoustic data*); and 2) resighting probability was estimated by the IELNE^{AC} model (integrated model denoted as IELNE^{MR-AC}; Figure 18; Table 8). For both the IELNE^{MR-SP} and IELNE^{AC} seperatley, I then used the mean and standard error of these estimate to derive beta parameters from a distribution of 1000 samples (interval 0, 1). Resighting probability was then randomly drawn and used as a fixed parameter for the data and top ranked IELNE^{MR} model. This was repeated 1000 times to build posterior distributions and capture estimation uncertainty (Dudgeon et al., 2015). I implemented the simulation loops of the IELNE^{MR-SP} and IELNE^{MR-AC} models using the unidentified marks Immigration-Emigration logit-normal mark resight option (White and Burnham, 1999, Laake, 2013).

Model assumptions

The receiver array deployed at the Neptune Islands encompasses the area used by the cage-diving operators but does not encompass the entire area around the Islands or surrounding waters. Although the daily and weekly residency of silver trevally at the Neptune Islands indicates high site fidelity (mean \pm standard error: time spent day⁻¹ 565 minutes \pm 16; weekly residency 0.81 \pm 0.02; Chapter 2), silver trevally may be outside the detection range of the array while still residing at the Islands (Chapter 2). Additionally, the extent of their movements outside of the array remains unknown, potentially reducing the precision of the abundance estimates. Based on this, I selected the IELNE model and PLNE models as the framework does not require geographic closure (IELNE) or geographic closure is only required within sampling primary sampling intervals (PLNE; McClintock and White, 2012). Another assumption of this approach is that sampling must be without replacement, where each individual can only be seen once during each sampling occasion. The survey method was designed to meet this assumption with individual resighting's occurring only once during each secondary sampling survey (Chapter 3). An important assumption is the ability to account for individual heterogeneity, which is not possible in the IELNE^{MR} and PLNE^{MR} models, possibly leading to underestimates of abundance. To account for possible underestimates, the output from the IELNE^{MR} and PLNE^{MR} models were compared to the models which can account for individual heterogeneity (i.e., IELNE^{AC}), with lower estimates from standard mark-resight models indicating if underestimation has occurred. It was also assumed that all individuals have the same probability of resighting, regardless of size, sex, or other demographics. As the method used is not biased towards a specific size range or other demographics, all individuals have the same probability of sighting. As such, this assumption is satisfied. Marks may or may not be individually identifiable when using IELNE and PLNE, which satisfies the assumptions for both the IELNE^{MR} and PLNE^{MR} where tags are not individually identifiable, and for the IELNE^{AC} which classifies marked individuals based on acoustic detections. An important assumption of the IELNE and PLNE is that marks are not lost, as overestimates of abundance can

occur if marks are lost but fish are still assumed to be available for resighting. Acoustic tags were internally implanted in silver trevally which minimises tag loss and allows the presence or lack thereof to be monitored based on acoustic detections. To minimise the effects of tag shedding throughout this study, models were estimated separately for sampling years, with new individuals being tagged at the beginning of each sampling year. Births and deaths are also expected to be minimal considering that the lifespan of silver trevally is up to 25 years (Rowling and Raines 2000). This is supported by high survival estimates from CJS models from acoustic data during this study (> 0.93; J Dennis, unpublished data). The possibility of some tag loss could result in overestimates of abundance. To account for the known number of tags present, I used the proportion of acoustic tags detected within the arrary during the survey to adjust the number of known marks for the IELNE^{MR} and PLNE^{MR}.

Statistical models

I used Generalised Additive Mixed Models (GAMMs) in the R statistical environment (R Core Team 2016) to test the effects of white shark cage-diving and environmental variation on abundance estimates produced from IELNE^{MR}, IELNE^{AC}, IELNE^{MR-SP}, IELNE^{MR-AC}, and PLNE^{MR} models seperately (Table 8). All GAMMs were created using the 'gam' function in the mgcv package (version 1.8-40; Wood and Wood, 2015). I included month since start of the study as a random effect integer (1–23) in all models to account for temporal autocorrelation. I selected the most appropriate statistical family and transformation through visual inspection of model residuals and distribution of the response variable. IELNE^{AC} and PLNE^{MR} estimates were log transformed prior to analysis. I selected the most parsimonious model using the Akaike Information Criterion corrected for small sample sizes (AIC_c; Burnham and Anderson, 2004), using the 'dredge' function in the MuMIn package (version 1.46.0; Barton, 2019). I used the contributions of the fixed effects (marginal R²) and the fixed and random effects (conditional R²) in the 'r.squaredGLMM' function in package MuMIn (version 1.46.0; Barton, 2019) to explain the variance of the response variable when added to the model (Nakagawa and Schielzeth, 2013).

Biomass estimates

I estimated silver trevally biomass at the Neptune Islands using abundance estimates from the IELNE^{MR} model and lengths from the randomly sampled conventional ID-tagged silver trevally (n = 700). I used lengths to estimate individual weight in a Bayesian length-weight relationship (Froese et al., 2014):

 $Weight = 10^{\log_{10}(a) + b \log_{10}(length)}.$

Where intercept *a* (0.01413) and slope *b* (2.96) are length-weight relationship parameter estimates for silver trevally (*Pseudocaranx georgianus*) sourced from Froese et al. (2014), and length is the total length of the individual in cm. I then randomly sampled the weight distribution of the 700-silver trevally for the number of silver trevally estimated for each primary sampling period (i.e., months) by the IELNE^{MR} model.

4.4 Results

Mark-resight

I tagged 700 silver trevally with conventional ID tags at the Neptune Islands: 350 in October 2019 and 350 in January 2021. I tagged silver trevally on opposing sides of the dorsal fin in the dorsal musculature and with different coloured tags between years to differentiate between tagging periods. I resighted silver trevally during monthly surveys (primary sampling periods) from January 2020 to November 2021, with 85 resighting surveys (secondary sampling periods; 2–6 survey per primary sampling period) conducted across 20 months. I resighted a cumulative total of 1,810 tagged silver trevally and 14,068 untagged silver trevally across all resighting surveys. The mean number of tagged silver trevally sighted per survey was 28 ± 1.2 (\pm standard error), with the highest number being 47 (13% available tags). I sighted 164 \pm 6.1 untagged individuals per survey, with a maximum of 362 untagged silver trevally in a single survey.

Acoustic monitoring

I acoustically tagged 25 silver trevally at the Neptune Islands: 15 in October 2019 (397 days battery life) and 10 in January 2021 (564 days battery life). The longer battery life was due to new circuit board design. I obtained 392,094 silver trevally detections (16,337 \pm 2,320; Figure 20) across all 15 receivers deployed. Mean monthly residency over the 2-year period was 0.69 \pm 0.02 (range: 0.13–1). Residency was lowest in July and August (0.47 \pm 0.04 and 0.49 \pm 0.08 respectively) and highest in February (0.97 \pm 0.01). I estimated 17,457 VPS positions (759 \pm 135 positions; Figure 19B). During resighting surveys, I sighted a cumulative total of 120 acoustically tagged silver trevally, with 4,932 positions estimated within 200 m of cage-diving vessels.



Figure 20. Abacus plot for 25 silver trevally (*Pseudocaranx georgianus;* 15 tagged in October 2019, 397 days battery life; 10 in January 2021, 564 days battery life) from the Neptune Islands Group Marine Park, South Australia between November 2019 and August 2022. Size of point shows number of detections; Colour of point indicates sea surface temperature.

Abundance modelling

For all parameters and all models, I estimated initial values from the simplest time-independent model to reduce convergence issues (White and Burnham, 1999). The most parsimonious model for the IELNE^{MR} had the model structure $p(.) \sigma (0) \alpha (0) N^*$ (session) N⁻ (session) for both 2020 and 2021 (Supplementary table 2). Due to the top models containing α fixed at 0, estimates of the population size did not differ from the super-population size, thus only the mean population size was examined in all further analysis. The most parsimonious model for the PLNE^{MR} had the model structure $\varphi(.) \sigma (0) \alpha (.) \gamma''(.) U(session)$ for both 2020 and 2021 (Supplementary table 2). The most parsimonious model for the IELNE^{AC} had the model structure p(session) σ (.) α (session) N⁻ (session) N⁻ (session) for both 2020 and 2021 and 2021 (Supplementary table 2).

The mean resighting probability estimates (*p*) for the IELNE^{MR} were low for 2020 (< 0.1) and very low for 2021 (< 0.04). Conversley, the resighting probabilities for the IELNE^{AC} were much higher than the IELNE^{MR} estimates of resighting probability for the same sampling occasions. For 2020, IELNE^{AC} resighting probabilities were approximetly twofold greater than IELNE^{MR} estimates (*p* = 0.23 ± 0.02). For 2021, the IELNE^{AC} were approximetly tenfold greater than IELNE^{MR} estimates (*p* = 0.43 ± 0.04).

Abundance estimates of silver trevally at the Neptune Islands were variable within and between years (Figure 21). Low number of *in-situ* silver trevally in August and September 2020 resulted in the inability to conduct resighting surveys. Number of silver trevally was also low in those months in 2021, resulting in the lowest abundance estimates. For 2020, The highest estimate was observed in April for the IELNE^{MR}, IELNE^{MR-AC}, and PLNE^{MR} and in January for the IELNE^{AC} estimates. In 2021, the highest estimates were observed in Febuary and March for all five models. The abundance estimates from the IELNE^{MR} and PLNE^{MR} were consistently higher than the estimates from the IELNE^{AC}, except for January 2020 where estimates were similar. Estimates for IELNE^{MR}, PLNE^{MR} and IELNE^{MR-SP} were mostly similar throughout the study period, but IELNE^{MR-SP} was consistently lower than IELNE^{MR} in 2021.

The coefficient of variation (CV) for the abundance estimates from the IELNE^{AC} and PLNE^{MR} models had the highest variation for 2020 and 2021, respectively (Table 9). The lowest variation was observed for IELNE^{MR-AC} model for both 2020 and 2021 (Table 9). Coefficent of variance for models using Monte Carlo simulations with resighting probability estimates (IELNE^{MR-AC} and IELNE^{MR-SP} was lower in 2020 and 2021 compared to non-integrated models (IELNE^{MR}, IELNE^{AC} and PLNE^{MR}; Table 9).



Figure 21. Abundance estimates for silver trevally (*Pseudocaranx georgianus*) from the Neptune Islands Group Marine Park, South Australia, for different mark-resight models: IELNE^{AC}: Acoustically detected individuals within 200 m during surveys, and unmarked silver trevally during surveys. IELNE^{MR} & PLNE^{MR}: ID tagged individuals during surveys. IELNE^{MR-AC}: IELNE^{MR} model with MCMC simulations using resighting probability from IELNE^{AC} model estimates. IELNE^{MR-SP}: IELNE^{MR} model with MCMC simulations using resighted acoustic fish during surveys. Shaded error bars indicate standard error.

Table 9. Mean abundance estimates with standard error and coefficient of variance (CV) for four mark-resight models for two sampling years (2020; 2021): IELNE^{MR} and PLNE^{MR}: ID-tagged individuals and untagged individuals during surveys. IELNE^{AC}: Acoustic detections during surveys and untagged individuals during surveys. IELNE^{MR-AC}: IELNE^{MR} model with MCMC simulations using resighting probability from IELNE^{AC} model estimates. IELNE^{MR-SP}: IELNE^{MR} model with MCMC simulations using resighting probability from detected acoustic fish and sighted acoustic fish during surveys.

Madal	2020		2021			
Model	Mean abundance CV		Mean abundance	CV		
IELNE ^{MR}	2102 ± 84	3.2	2864 ± 270	6.1		
IELNE ^{AC}	1027 ± 183	12.3	443 ± 128	6.5		
IELNE ^{MR-SP}	2403 ± 66	2.5	1749 ± 143	4.4		
IELNE ^{MR-AC}	1081 ± 38	2.0	1531 ± 54	2.2		
PLNE ^{MR}	2194 ± 130	4.04	3013 ± 356	7.1		

Statistical modelling

The top-ranked GAMMS for IELNE^{MR}, IELNE^{MR-AC}, and PLNE^{MR} (wAIC_c = 0.60, 0.61, and 0.23, respectively) included temperature (Table 10). Temperature had a positive linear relationship with abundance across both the IELNE^{MR}, IELNE^{MR-AC} and PLNE^{MR} models (Figure 22). Predicted abundance across the modelling approaches ranged 1,075–3,400 across a temperature range of 15.3–18.7°C (Figure 22). The lack of inclusion of operating days in any of the top-ranked models highlights the lack of influence of the cage-diving industry on the abundance of silver trevally throughout the year.

Table 10. Summary of models testing the effects of temperature and white shark cage-diving on abundance of silver trevally (*Pseudocaranx georgianus*). df, degrees of freedom; AIC_c, Akaike's information criterion corrected for small sample size; LL, log-likelihood; Δ AIC_c, difference in AIC_c between the current and the top-ranked model; *w*AIC_c, model probability; variance explained by R_m, marginal (fixed effects) R²; R_c, conditional (fixed and random effects) R². Top-ranked model indicated in **bold**. Only the top 5 ranked models are presented for table clarity

Model	df	AICc	ΔAIC _c	wAICc	LL	R _m	R ₂
IELNE ^{MR}							
N ~ temperature + 1 month number	3	286.73	0.00	0.60	-137.87	0.26	0.44
N ~ temperature + operating days + 1 month number	4	289.03	2.30	0.19	-137.05	0.28	0.47
N ~ temperature	2	290.10	3.37	0.11	-141.20	0.26	0.26
N ~ temperature + operating days	3	292.71	5.98	0.03	-140.82	0.28	0.28
N ~ 1 (intercept only)	1	293.12	6.39	0.02	-144.16	0	0
IELNE ^{AC}							
N ~ 1 month number	2	37.86	0.00	0.66	-15.08	0	0.49
N ~ temperature + 1 month number	3	40.66	2.81	0.16	-14.80	0.14	0.49
N ~ operating days + 1 month number	3	40.95	3.09	0.14	-14.94	0.13	0.48
N ~ temperature + operating days + 1 month number	4	44.03	6.17	0.03	-14.53	0.27	0.48
N ~ temperature	3	48.53	10.67	0.00	-20.41	0.14	0.14
IELNE ^{MR-SP}							
N ~ 1 month number	2	264.14	0.00	0.68	-128.21	0	0.55
N ~ temperature + 1 month number	3	267.05	2.92	0.16	-127.99	0	0.55
N ~ operating days + 1 month number	3	267.38	3.25	0.13	-128.16	0	0.54
N ~ temperature + operating days + 1 month number	4	270.69	6.56	0.03	-127.86	0	0.54
N ~1 (intercept only)	2	277.49	13.35	0.00	-136.35	0	0
IELNE ^{MR-AC}							
N ~ temperature + operating days + 1 month number	4	236.92	0.00	0.61	-110.96	0.52	0.77
N ~ temperature + 1 month number	3	237.82	0.90	0.39	-113.37	0.47	0.72
N ~ 1 month number	2	252.47	15.55	0.00	-122.40	0	0.25
N ~ operating days + 1 month number	3	255.69	18.77	0.00	-122.34	0.007	0.24
N ~ temperature	2	256.46	19.55	0.00	-124.37	0.14	0.14
PLNE ^{MR}							
N ~ temperature	2	18.453	0.000	0.237	-6.826	0.12	0.12
N ~ 1 month number	2	18.453	0.000	0.237	-6.826	0	0
N ~ 1 (intercept only)	2	18.808	0.355	0.198	-5.547	0	0
N ~ temperature + 1 month number	3	19.558	1.106	0.136	-4.638	0.12	0.15
N ~ operating days	2	21.291	2.838	0.057	-6.788	0.003	0.003



Figure 22. Predicted abundance from Generalised Additive Mixed Models (IELNE^{MR}, IELNE^{MR-AC}, and PLNE^{MR}) for silver trevally (*Pseudocaranx georgianus*) at the Neptune Islands Group Marine Park, South Australia, for temperature (°C). Shaded ribbons indicate 95% confidence intervals.

Biomass estimates

Estimated weights of the 700 randomly sampled silver trevally ranged 0.25–3.9 kg (1.25 ± 0.02 kg; Supplementary figure 1A) based on measured lengths ranging 26–69 cm (45 ± 0.25 cm; Supplementary figure 1B). Biomass estimates of the Neptune Islands silver trevally population varied across months (Figure 23). Biomass estimates for 2020 were lowest in July (2,240 kg) and highest in April (3,085 kg). Similarly for 2021, biomass was lowest in August (1,470 kg) and highest in March 2021 (4,923 kg).



Figure 23. Estimated biomass for silver trevally (*Pseudocaranx georgianus*) from the Neptune Islands Group Marine Park, South Australia calculated from abundance estimates (IELNE^{MR}), and bayesian length-weight relationship (weight = $10^{\log_{10}(0.0141)} + 2.96 * \log_{10}(\text{length})$) calculated for lengths of a randomly caught sample of 700 silver trevally. The weight distribution of the 700 silver trevally was then randomly sampled for the silver trevally abundance estimate for each primary sampling period (i.e., Months). Length-frequency distribution is assumed to be representative of the population. Solid line indicates 2020, dotted line indicates 2021.

4.5 Discussion

I integrated mark-resight modelling and acoustic tracking to quantify the abundance of a non-focal species with access to consistent supplemental food at a wildlife tourism site. The population size of silver trevally at North Neptune Islands is up to ~4,000 individuals, fluctuating between ~850 in winter and ~4,000 in summer. Population size was not affected by the monthly intensity of cage-diving tourism, but increased with temperature, highlighting the complexity in responses to supplemental feeding during wildlife tourism and refuting our hypothesis. Furthermore, this study provides initial population and biomass estimates of a semi-residential benthopelagic fish at an offshore temperate island group with supplemental provisioning.

Resources regulate populations through density-dependent processes, for example, limited resources increases mortality, naturally reducing population size (i.e., resource-related mortality; Zimmermann et al., 2018, Grossman and Simon, 2020, Rindorf et al., 2022). Conversely, an abundance of resources, such as the bait and berley provided by cage-diving operators, can increase reproductive output, accelerate growth, reduce size-at-maturity (McBride et al., 2015), and reduce mortality. Where supplemental feeding is persistent, it increases carrying capacity as seen in in terrestrial ungulates and birds (Schoech and Hahn, 2007, Schoech et al., 2008). Cage-diving tourism has provided an abundance of resources through supplemental feeding (up to 200 kg day⁻¹) for ~200 days year⁻¹ since ~2007, likely decreasing resource related limitations and increasing the carrying capacity at the Neptune Islands. While it is not possible to compare the silver trevally population at the Neptune Islands to other areas or offshore islands as no other population estimates are available, the biomass of the silver trevally at the Neptune Islands (~1.5–5 tonnes) represents almost half of the total 2021/2022 commercial catch of silver trevally in South Australia (9 tonnes; Smart et al., 2023). The relatively large biomass and population size (~5 tonnes & ~4000 individuals) of silver trevally at the Neptune Islands compared to the total annual state catches suggests that the Neptune Islands hold an uncharacteristically large, and likely inflated population of silver trevally owing the persistent supplemental feeding from cage-diving operators.

Fluctuations in silver trevally numbers were driven by temperature, rather than cage-diving operations. Silver trevally abundance from the resighting surveys was consistently less in colder months (June– September), to the extent that I could not complete resighting surveys in August and September 2020 due to insufficient numbers of silver trevally, supporting the seasonal variation and low silver trevally abundance obtained from the models during those months. The low winter abundance is further supported by the acoustic telemetry data showing low residency at the Neptune Islands during the same colder months (Chapter 2). Importantly, while the population abundance may be inflated by the supplemental feeding, the lack of effect on monthly abundance from cage-diving operations highlights that current white shark tourism does not prevent natural movements away from the Neptune Islands. Such findings support the continued use of supplemental feeding for wildlife tourism; however, this is contingent on the natural fluctuations from abiotic influences remaining unmuted, as was observed for the silver trevally. Population

estimates from this study can also be used to assess interannual shifts in silver trevally abundance and determine whether cage-diving is affecting the population of silver trevally in future years, potentially under different cage-diving management scenarios.

The supplemental feeding from cage-diving operators leads to silver trevally aggregating behind the cagediving vessels within a ~0.06 km² area. With the potential for up to ~4,000 individuals being concentrated within such small area, the density of such aggregations could result in negative effects such as intraspecific competition (Semeniuk and Rothley, 2008), disease transmission (Behringer et al., 2020), physical injuries from impact with vessels and cage-diving equipment (Anders et al., 2019), and increased parasite loading (Brookhouse et al., 2013). For example, silver trevally and yellowtail kingfish aggregations fed bread and pellets by tourists at Lord Howe Island displayed signs of microbial and parasitic infections, stomach ulcers, skin lesions, and physical injury (Brookhouse et al., 2013). Such impacts have not yet been observed at the Neptune Islands (J Dennis, pers. obs.), despite the larger population and concentrations compared to Lord Howe Island (~4,000 versus up to 21 individuals day⁻¹, respecitvely; Brookhouse et al., 2013). This might be due to the water depth and flushing rates at the Neptune Islands being deeper than the site where feeding occurs at Lord Howe Island (25–30 m versus 1–2 m, respectively), providing a larger threedimensional area for silver trevally to avoid direct contact with each other and the seabed, and facilitates flushing of eutrophic water with unhealthy bacteria from uneaten bread and waste. While silver trevally appear externally unharmed at the Neptune Islands, physiological impacts might still be present and should be examined.

Inflating and sustaining increased population size of predators can increase predatory pressures on prey species, extending undue top-down pressure on entire ecosystems, suppressing lower-level prey species particularly when food subsidies are exhausted (Koons et al., 2015, Hradsky et al., 2017, Lamarre et al., 2017, Malpass et al., 2017). Examples of this have been observed in terrestrial predators, with wolf (*Canis lupus*) populations increasing predatory pressure on alternate prey sources upon depletion of a pulsed food sources (Petroelje et al., 2019), and hyenas (*Crocuta crocuta*) depredating on live cattle when food subsidies were scarce (Yirga et al., 2012). At the Neptune Islands, the sustained large abundance of silver trevally could potentially increase predatory pressures on lower-level species when supplemental feeding is not available during operator absences or if the use of bait and berley was reduced through changes in policy and management (Schmidt and Hoi, 2002, Robb et al., 2008). Regardless of direct predation, the presence of large aggregations of predatory fish can alter prey behaviours and ecological processes through the landscape of fear effect (i.e., reduction in grazing time leading to increased abundance of primary producers; Lima, 1998, Freeman, 2006, Laundré et al., 2010). Monitoring of fish communities at the Neptune Islands and other offshore islands between 2015 and 2022 suggests that the broad fish assemblages at the Neptune Islands has not substantially changed (S Whitmarsh, unpublished data).

However, the quantity of bait and berley has also remained similar since 2011 and top-down effects may only become apparent if the supplemental feed is reduced or stopped altogether.

Similar to concerns surrounding the use of bait and berley at the Neptune Islands, one of the primary environmental impacts of open-cage finfish aquaculture is the discharge of solid wastes. Such waste includes uneaten feed and faecal material, causing localised organic enrichment of the seabed and eutrophication in the water column (Buschmann et al., 2009, Bannister et al., 2016, Elvines et al., 2023), leading to poor water quality (Price et al., 2015, Herath and Satoh, 2022), microflora biodiversity (Choi et al., 2022b, González-Gaya et al., 2022), and physio-chemical properties (i.e., sediment-water interactions; Hargrave et al., 1997, Farmaki et al., 2014), and increased algae growth (Findlay et al., 2009, Choi et al., 2022a). Such impacts mirror concerns about large silver trevally aggregations, supplemental feed, and subsequent discharge stemming from cage-diving operations (Chapter 2). Despite these concerns, the large silver trevally population may instead reduce the impacts of the bait and berley on the benthic environment and associated species through eco-moderation. Silver trevally are considered potential ecomoderators, limiting the effects of bait and berley on the diet of other non-focal species at the Neptune Islands by consuming the supplemental feeding at the surface before it reaches the seabed (Meyer et al., 2020). Eco-moderation has also been observed in some aquaculture settings, where non-focal species consume the uneaten feed and organic waste from the farmed finfish, limiting the impacts of excessive nutrient loading on the benthic environment (Felsing et al., 2005, Fernandez-Jover et al., 2011). The high mobility of silver trevally highlighted in Chapter 2 and the interannual variation in their residency combined with the high rates of water circulation at the offshore island might also contribute to minimising the impacts of nutrient loading from bait and berley. Fluctuations in silver trevally abundance and residency could influence the efficiency of impact moderation, particularly in winter when silver trevally numbers and residency are at their lowest (Chapter 2). However, this also coincides with the lowest operator intensity (i.e., ~10 operating days per month). Without assessing the benthic environment at the Neptune Islands for organic enrichment, it is unknown if the coinciding reduction in operations is sufficient to prevent impacts in the absence of silver trevally. As seen with whale falls, while temporary, play important roles in the nutrient cycling of deep-sea habitats (Smith et al., 2019), indicating that even temporary resource pulses can elicit big responses in benthic environments. Future work should assess the benthic habitats at the Neptune Islands throughout the year to determine concentrations of organic material in the sediment. Findings from assessments of organic enrichment would confirm the proposed lack of effect due to silver trevally eco-moderation, while also revealing changes throughout the year in response to cage-diving intensity.

Biases across the multitude of data types and models used for estimating abundance can lead to varying levels of over or underestimation of parameters (McClintock and White, 2009, McClintock et al., 2009b, Sollmann et al., 2013), mandating careful consideration of model selection (Dettloff, 2023). For example,

biased resighting probabilities (e.g., from heterogeneity in resighting probabilities, sampling bias, loss of marks, trap shyness) reduce the precision and accuracy of population estimates, limiting the ability of models to detect trends in populations (Johnson et al., 2010). n 2020, mark-resight models with acoustic data integrated (IELNE^{MR-SP}) produced similar estimates and trends to the standard mark-resight models without the integrated acoustic data (IELNE^{MR} and PLNE^{MR}). This similarity suggests either a lack of or consistent bias across these models. The two-standard mark-resight models (IELNE^{MR} and PLNE^{MR}) also displayed similar trends and estimates in 2021, but models that used acoustic data (IELNE^{AC}, IELNE^{MR-SP}, IELNE^{MR-AC}) had lower abundance estimates. The lower number of acoustic tags deployed in 2021 (10 versus 15 in 2020) may have biased estimates from the models that used acoustic data (IELNE^{AC}, IELNE^{MR-SP}, IELNE^{MR-AC}) as there were insufficient tagged fish to capture the diversity of movement and residency patterns of silver trevally (see Chapter 2). Moreover, the reduced number of tagged individuals potentially increases the sensitivity of surveys to variations in the proportion of all marked individuals being sighted (Alexander et al., 1997, Hammond, 2009, McClintock and White, 2012, Murphy et al., 2019). Bias from low sample would likely lead to underestimates of abundance, as seen in 2021 with the models that used acoustic data (IELNE^{AC}, IELNE^{MR-SP}, IELNE^{MR-AC}). The extent of underestimation is highlighted by the similarity of the mean estimate for the IELNE^{AC} model in 2021 (~443) and the maximum number of individuals sighted in a single resighting survey (402). In contrast, the standard mark-resight models (IELNE^{MR} and PLNE^{MR}) produced consistent estimates between models and are based on a larger sample size of marked individuals which is consistent across years (i.e., 350 per year). Tagging identical numbers of individuals reduces differences between years, meaning variations in interannual estimates likely represent natural variations in the population rather than over- or underestimates. This is highlighted by the greater difference in mean estimates between sampling years for the acoustic model (IELNE^{AC}, ~56% decrease), compared to the standard mark-resight models (IELNE^{MR} and PLNE^{MR}, ~26% increase). As such, these models present with fewer or less apparent biases compared to acoustic-based models and produced greater consistency between models and sampling years. Different forms of bias will always be present in population estimates (Tucker et al., 2019), with method or model selection based on that which contains the least. Thus, based on consideration of the models used here, the standard mark-resight models (i.e., visually sighted tags) present the lowest effects of bias and greatest consistency, likely representing the 'truest' abundance estimates.

4.6 Conclusions

Supplemental feeding provides both target and non-target species with increased resources, which can affect population abundance and individual behaviour. This study quantified the abundance of silver trevally at a wildlife tourism site with supplemental feeding, identifying intra-annual variation linked to environmental variability rather than impacts from cage-diving intensity. Notably, the intra-annual variations in population size linked to thermal cues indicate the bait and berley are not muting environmental cues or suppressing natural behaviours. Additionally, I provide the first population and biomass estimate of a semi-residential benthopelagic fish at an offshore temperate island group which was previously limited to anecdotal observations. Estimates of silver trevally abundance were produced from five different estimator models, highlighting how standard mark-resight modelling approaches can still present with less biases and greater precision than methods integrating multiple data types. Future research should continue to monitor the abundance of silver trevally at the Neptune Islands to determine if the overall population size is increasing over time, but also assess the benthic environment for organic enrichment to confirm the absence of impact. Findings from this study provide abundance estimates for a non-focal species exposed to supplemental feeding, highlighting the large number of silver trevally interacting with cage-diving vessels. Given the potential negative impacts of inflated abundance on both the affected population and associated environment, initial abundance estimates of non-focal species allows future monitoring to detect changes in the population through time. Using these initial estimates, management can implement strategies, if needed, to reduce impacts on non-focal species (i.e., reduce provisioning) or impacts resulting from increased abundance of non-focal species (i.e., reduce population size), ensuring the ecological sustainability of wildlife tourism industries.



CHAPTER 5

Impacts of supplemental feeding on the growth, body condition, and fatty acid profiles of silver trevally (*Pseudocaranx georgianus*)



5.1 Abstract

Many wildlife tourism industries use supplemental food to attract focal species, but smaller, nonfocal animals can also consume the food provided and be negatively impacted. At the Neptune Islands Group Marine Park, South Australia, bait and berley are used to entice white sharks (Carcharodon carcharias) close to cage-diving operators, but silver trevally (Pseudocaranx georgianus) are also attracted and form large aggregations around these vessels. Silver trevally feed on the bait and berley which affects their diet and movements (i.e., residency and spatiotemporal distribution), and could also impact their health and energy budgets. I assessed the growth (n = 604), body condition (n = 700), and diet (n = 46) of silver trevally at the Neptune Islands to determine whether the effects of supplemental feeding extend beyond diet and movements. Trevally at the cage-diving site were 15% and 46% larger than silver trevally from offshore and coastal locations, respectively. However, body condition (measured by bioelectrical impedance analysis) and mortality rate was similar across locations, suggesting that the surplus of energy from supplemental feeding is devoted to somatic growth. Higher levels of fatty acids (eicosapentaenoic acid and oleic acid) which facilitate growth were present in the diet of silver trevally from the Neptune Islands, likely contributing to the increased growth. My findings show that supplemental feeding can influence the growth of a non-focal pelagic fish, highlighting the importance of accounting for non-focal species in the management of supplemental feeding practices. Furthermore, I provide the first evidence of responses in the growth of a semi-resident benthopelagic fish at an offshore temperate island group exposed to supplemental feeding.

5.2 Introduction

Humans intentionally feed wildlife to aggregate animals for management and recreational purposes by providing food above and beyond naturally available resources (Murray et al., 2016). For example, supplemental feeding is widely used by managers (Dubois and Fraser, 2013) to support declining, depleted, or endangered populations that may be resource-limited (i.e., food supplementation; Ewen et al., 2015, Heard and Zimmerman, 2021) or divert wildlife away from unsuitable areas or reduce human wildlife interactions (i.e., diversion feeding; Conover and Conover, 2022). Supplemental feeding is also a popular means to increase the likelihood of encountering wildlife. For example, feeding stations can increase density of game species for hunters (i.e., ~2.8 trillion tonnes of shelled corn is provided to big game ungulates every year in the U.S; Oro et al., 2013, Murray et al., 2016), food is provided for wildlife watching (i.e., bird watching; Valentine and Birtles, 2004, Dayer et al., 2019), and in tourism to generate consistent, predictable, and up-close encounters with wildlife (Meyer et al., 2022). Feeding from these supplemental food sources can exceed the caloric intake required to meet daily requirements (Brunnschweiler et al., 2018), thus providing surplus energy leading to increased fat stores and accelerated growth (Silva et al., 2020). However, supplemental feeding can also have damaging impacts when the feed is of low nutritional

value and disrupt foraging behaviours or the consumption of natural food sources. For example, the common practice of feeding ducks and other waterfowl with bread greatly impacts the individual's nutrition and body condition (Burt et al., 2021). Supplemental feeding can also facilitate behavioural impacts, including changes in movement and residency (Maljković and Côté, 2011, Brookhouse et al., 2013, Shlepr et al., 2021, Clarke et al., 2022, Senigaglia et al., 2022), predator-prey dynamics (Maynard et al., 2020), abundance and concentration of individuals leading to pathogen transmission (Becker and Hall, 2014, Becker et al., 2015), and risk of physical injury (Brookhouse et al., 2013).

The acquisition and use of energy is an underlying process that drives every component of a fish's life cycle from larvae to death, guided by the delicate balance of their energy requirements. Energy budgets balance the energy assimilated through food, with energy lost through metabolic processes (i.e., growth, cell repair, gamete development) and used across various activities (e.g., daily and large-scale migratory movements, courtship behaviours, predator avoidance, and parental care; Soofiani and Hawkins, 1985). Despite many processes requiring energy, it is a finite resource. As such, an individual's growth (Metcalfe, 1986), survival (Naidoo and Glassom, 2019), and fecundity (Marshall, 2007) are determined by the allocation of energy, with each component of the energetic budget having its own requirements at different temporal scales (Soofiani and Hawkins, 1985, Muller et al., 2019). For example, during early life, juvenile fish are exposed to high rates of size-related mortality, resulting in the prioritisation of energy allocation to growth to increase survival (Post and Parkinson, 2001, McBride et al., 2015). Once individuals approach the size of maturity, energy allocation shifts, with surplus energy devoted to reproductive growth (i.e., maturation, production of gametes) and behaviours (i.e., courtship, parental care, migration to spawning grounds), rather than somatic growth (Marshall, 2007). Such energy shifts can be observed during spawning periods of some marine fishes, whereby the high energy demand of reproductive processes results in a reduction of available energy for somatic growth and repair, with reduced energy acquisition causing a decline in the overall condition of individuals (Fordham and Trippel, 1999, McBride et al., 2015). Surplus energy not devoted to metabolism, reproductive processes, or somatic growth is allocated as storage (i.e., fat stores in the muscle, liver, or mesenteric fat; Moraes and de Almeida, 2020). Fat storage is vital to counteract fluctuations in food availability (i.e., seasonal or interannual cycles; Pérez-Jiménez et al., 2012), as fat is accumulated in times of high resource availability to increase survival during subsequent periods of resource scarcity (Post and Parkinson, 2001, Stallings et al., 2010). Therefore, individuals that maximise energy stores reduce their susceptibility to resource-related mortality and, as a result, maximise their fitness (Post and Parkinson, 2001, Willis and Hobday, 2008).

With the health of fish inherently linked to the input and output of energy, supplemental feeding has the potential to influence physiological functions of animals (Cowey and Sargent, 1972, Hardy and Kaushik, 2021). Many wildlife tourism industries use supplemental food similar to the natural prey items of focal species (Brunnschweiler et al., 2018, Barry et al., 2023), but such items are unlikely to represent the natural

diets of smaller, non-focal animals that can also consume these provisional food sources. This change in diet has the potential to cause deficiencies in essential nutrients (i.e., fatty acids, amino acids, vitamins, minerals; Hardy and Kaushik, 2021), preventing optimal physiological functioning (Sawyer et al., 2016). For example, polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA) are particularly important fatty acids, playing a myriad of structural and functional roles, including being major components of the brain and nervous system, and are key regulators (metabolic and physiological) of growth, development, reproduction, and health (Chow, 2007). As such, all vertebrate species have a dietary requirement for certain PUFAs, whereby a dietary deficiency can result in stunted growth, limited reproductive success, disease, and death, making them essential components of fish nutrition (Sargent et al., 1995). With these PUFAS playing key roles in health and functioning of physiological processes, changes in diet through wildlife tourism could result in negative consequences for the impacted individuals.

At the Neptune Islands Group Marine Park (South Australia, Figure 24), two cage-diving operators use a near-continuous berley plume consisting of minced southern bluefin tuna (Thunnus maccoyii) and tethered baits (southern bluefin tuna gills and stomachs; Bruce and Bradford, 2013) to entice and aggregate white sharks within view of the cage-diving tourists (Huveneers et al., 2017b, Meyer et al., 2020, Clarke et al., 2022). Intentionally feeding white sharks is prohibited by industry regulations (DEW, 2016), and the berley particles are too small to be consumed by white sharks. However, large aggregations of highly resident silver trevally (*Pseudocaranx georgianus*) consume the bait and berley used by the operators (Chapter 2). Biochemical profiles and stomach content analysis show that the diet of silver trevally at the Neptune Islands shifted due to the consumption of bait and berley (Meyer et al., 2020). Additionally, silver trevally at North Neptune Islands (where most of the cage diving occurs, hereafter North Neptunes) use less space (m³) and spend more time in close proximity to cage-diving operators across daily and weekly temporal scales, but activity (inferred via acceleration) was not affected (Chapter 2). Previous wildlife tourism studies suggested that in instances of increased activity, additional food intake might be required for these species to compensate for heightened energy expenditure resulting from interacting with tourism operations (Barnett et al., 2016, Barry et al., 2023, Clarke et al., 2023). However, with the activity of silver trevally not being affected by tourism and the near-continuous consumption of bait and berley, silver trevally may be susceptible to improved physiological condition and faster growth due to a surplus in available energy (Chapter 2).

Here, I investigated the effects of supplemental feeding from white shark cage-diving tourism on the growth, body condition, and fatty acid profiles of silver trevally at North Neptunes, South Australia, across multiple years (2016–2022). Specifically, I aimed to 1) assess the age-at-length structure and mortality of silver trevally at North Neptunes compared to control locations with similar coastal and offshore habitats, but without supplemental feeding; 2) measure changes in the body condition of silver trevally exposed to supplemental feeding; and 3) compare the fatty acid profiles of silver trevally at North Neptunes to the

control locations to investigate if fatty acids associated with supplemental feeding can explain any changes in growth and body condition. Based on suggested surplus energy for the silver trevally and physiological effects observed in similar non-focal species, I hypothesised that 1) silver trevally at North Neptunes have a higher growth rate and grow to larger sizes at the same age as silver trevally from control locations; 2) body condition of silver trevally at North Neptunes is higher due to feeding on bait and berley; 3) shifts in diet from natural prey to bait and berley result in an increase in essential fatty acids that supports faster growth and improved body condition.

5.3 Methods

Study site and sample collection

I collected silver trevally from March 2016 through June 2022 at the Neptune Islands Group Marine Park (-35° 13' 48", 136° 4' 12", Figure 24) and at comparable control locations of similar depth and habitat but without cage-diving (Figure 24). I categorised locations into three habitat types: *North Neptunes, offshore* (silver trevally caught at offshore islands or reefs > 15 km from the mainland), and *coastal* (silver trevally caught < 15 km from the mainland, or within Gulf St Vincent or Spencer Gulf; Figure 24). I caught silver trevally via hook-and-line from research and cage-diving vessels or obtained silver trevally from recreational and commercial fishers. I recorded fork length (FL) and total length (TL) from each silver trevally, which I then used for growth (n = 604), body condition (n = 700), and fatty acid (n = 46) analyses.

Otolith preparation and increment analysis

I removed sagittal otoliths, rinsed them with water and air-dried them. I embedded otoliths in clear epoxy resin and thin-sectioned (~300 μm) them through the primordium (i.e., core) using a single-blade low-speed sectioning saw (IsoMet Low-speed precision cutter, Buehler, Illinois, USA). I mounted sections on glass slides, polished them using diamond sanding discs (15 microns, 600 mesh) and viewed them using a stereo microscope (2.5× magnification; Olympus SZX7, Olympus Corp., Tokyo, Japan) under both reflected and transmitted light. To ensure aging accuracy and count reproducibility, I trained the reader with a reference library containing 100 otoliths of known ages prior to aging otoliths. Age at capture of the fish caught for this study were within the age range for otoliths in the reference library. I double-blind aged all otoliths. A second trained reader aged a subset of the study samples to assess the precision of age estimates. Annual deposition of growth bands has been validated in silver trevally using bomb radiocarbon (Kalish and Johnston, 1997), marginal increment analysis (Farmer et al., 2005), and oxytetracycline (Rowling and Raines, 2000). These validations confirm that each growth increment, composed of a translucent zone and an opaque zone, represents one year of growth. I assigned a birthdate of January 1 based on the timing of spawning for silver trevally (spring–autumr; James, 1984). I followed protocols detailed in Walsh et al.
(2014), with zone counts converted to decimalised age based on the date of capture, nominal birth date, and date of increment formation (Panfili et al., 2002) for subsequent growth analysis.



Figure 24. Map of silver trevally (*Pseudocaranx georgianus*) collected from different sampling locations in South Australia, and (inset), the Neptune Islands Group. Coloured regions indicate habitat types, North Neptunes (red), Offshore (blue), and Coastal (green). Icons indicate proportion of samples for different analysis types (Growth = length-at-age analysis, BIA = Bioelectrical Impedance Analysis, FA = Fatty acid analysis). Numbers indicate location ID; Parentheses indicate total number of samples for that location (n). 1 = North Neptune, 2 = Liguana, 3 = South Neptune, 4 = The Pages, 5 = Saunders Bank, 6 = Aldinga, 7 = Arno Bay, 8 = Cape Elizabeth, 9 = Coffin Bay, 10 = Dangerous Reef, 11 = Point Turton, 12 = Port Kenny, 13 = The Passage.

Growth analysis

I conducted all analyses in the R statistical environment (version 4.2.1; R Core Team 2016). I used a multimodel approach using the AquaticLifeHistory package (Smart et al., 2016), where estimates of growth parameters for all individuals from each sampling location were derived by fitting length-at-age data with the von Bertalanffy growth model (Von Bertalanffy, 1938, Beverton and Holt, 1957):

$$L_a = L_{\infty} - (L_{\infty} - L_0)e^{-ka}$$

the logistic growth model (Tsoularis and Wallace, 2002),

$$L_a = (L_{\infty}L_0e^{ka})/(L_{\infty} - L_0(e^{ka} - 1)),$$

and the Gompertz growth model (Tjørve and Tjørve, 2017),

$$L_a = L_0 e^{\left(\log(L_{\infty}/L_0)\left(1 - e^{-ka}\right)\right)},$$

where L_a is the length-at-age a, L_0 is the length-at-birth, k is the growth completion parameter, and L_{∞} is the asymptotic length. The k parameter cannot be compared between models as it is unique to each (Smart and Grammer, 2021). I fixed length-at-birth (L₀) at 5 mm for all models based on the larval size of silver trevally (Syahailatua et al., 2011). I selected the most parsimonious growth model using the Akaike Information Criterion corrected for small sample sizes (AIC_c; Burnham and Anderson, 2004) and the biascorrected relative weight of evidence for each model, AIC_c weight, where the smaller the weight, the lower the probability the model was 'true' (Burnham and Anderson, 2004). I compared differences in growth between habitats using a likelihood-ratio chi-square test on data with age ranges truncated to the smallest maximum age between habitats (Ogle, 2018). I estimated total annual mortality (A) using regression method catch curve analysis of age data for each habitat type using the FSA package in the R statistical environment (Ogle, 2018). Selective sampling occurred during the collection of samples from North Neptune Islands to ensure overlapping sample size ranges as control locations, and thus, the age structure did not represent a random sample of catch for that population. I used an age-length-key constructed from the aged samples from North Neptune Island, assigning ages based on the measured lengths of a random catch of 700 silver trevally sampled as part of a mark-resight study concurrent with the present (Chapter 4), using the FSA package and following procedures outlined in Ogle (2018). I used the resulting age structure to produce mortality estimates for North Neptune Island (termed North Neptune unaged; Supplementary figure 2). I then compared differences in mortality estimates between habitats using an analysis of variance (ANOVA) test (Ogle, 2018).

Body condition analysis

I quantified body condition of silver trevally using Bioelectrical Impedance Analysis (BIA). I collected three replicate BIA measures along the dorsal musculature of silver trevally on a non-conductive measurement mat using the Seafood Analytics Certified Quality Reader (BIA tool; Certified Quality Foods, Inc., United States of America). I calculated the mean of replicate measurements for each silver trevally. I assessed for variation between replicate BIA measures to identify error values (i.e., insufficient contact between probes and silver trevally), with replicate measures > 2° deemed outliers and excluded prior to calculating the mean. Bioelectrical Impedance Analysis measures two paths of electrical current: resistance (R) and reactance (X_c). Resistance reflects extracellular material (i.e. fat), which is non-conductive and is indicated by higher measurements of R (Cox and Heintz, 2009, Cox et al., 2011). Reactance is a measure of the total volume of healthy cells, indicated by the ability of a substance to hold a charge (Hartman et al., 2015). I derived values of the electrical phase angle from measurements of R and X_c obtained using the BIA tool. Phase angle (degrees) is a measure of the angle between the R and X_c vector components of impedance, ranging from 0°to 90°:

Phase angle (°) =
$$\left(\arctan\left(\frac{X_c}{R}\right)\right) \times \frac{180^\circ}{\pi}$$
.

High phase angle represents good body condition (Willis and Hobday, 2008), and is a measure that has been used as a proxy to infer the body condition of teleosts (Willis and Hobday, 2008, Hartman et al., 2015, Champion et al., 2020, Clarke et al., 2023). I used Generalised Additive Mixed Models (GAMMs) to test the effect of bait and berley on the body condition of silver trevally, testing the effect of *habitat*, *Length* (fish total length), and *month* on the phase angle of silver trevally:

Phase angle (°) ~ Habitat + Length_{smooth} + Month_{cyclic}

Prior to modelling, I tested the correlation between water temperature recorded by acoustic receivers (Chapter 2) and month using the 'cor.test' function in the mgcv package (version 1.8-40; Wood and Wood, 2015). These variables were highly correlated ($p \ge 0.05$; r > 0.6), so I excluded temperature from subsequent models and kept *month* as a cyclic, random variable. I created models using the 'gam' function in the mgcv package. I selected the most appropriate statistical family and transformation through visual inspection of residuals and distribution of the response variable. I selected the most parsimonious model and used the contributions of the fixed effects (marginal R^2 , R_m) and the fixed and random effects (conditional R^2 , R_c) to explain the variance of the response variable when added to the model (Nakagawa and Schielzeth, 2013).

Fatty acid analysis

I measured the silver trevally and sampled the muscle from the dorsal musculature which was immediately frozen $(-4^{\circ}C)$, transported to the laboratory, and freeze-dried for subsequent fatty acid analysis. I weighed approximately 0.025 g of dried muscle per individual into 20 mL glass test tubes for fatty acid extraction by direct transmethylation (Parrish et al., 2015). I soaked tissue in 3 mL of 10:1:1 methanol:dichloromethane:hydrochloric acid solution at 80°C for two hours. After the two-hour solvent soak, I removed the samples from the heat and cooled to ambient temperature before the addition of 1 mL of milli-Q water and 1.8 mL of 2:1 hexane:dichloromethane solution, followed by vortex mixing and centrifuging at 2000 RPM for 5 minutes. I removed the upper layer containing the fatty acid methyl esters (FAMEs) which I removed and placed into 2 mL glass vials. I placed vials under nitrogen gas streams to evaporate the solvent, leaving pure FAMEs. I repeated the addition of 1.8 mL of hexane: dichloromethane solution and dehydration with nitrogen gas three times, maximizing the FAME retention. I suspended the FAMEs in 1 mL of dichloromethane for subsequent quantification and identification using Gas Chromatography Mass Spectrophotometry (GCMS) analysis with an Agilent Technologies 5975C Series GC/MSD (Agilent Technologies, Inc., USA) equipped with Triple-Axis HED-EM Detector, SGE Analytical Science (Ringwood, Victoria, Australia) BP21 capillary column (15 m length, 0.25 mm internal diameter, and 0.25 μm film thickness), Agilent 7683B Series Injector, and Agilent/HP 7683 automatic liquid sampler. I performed quality checks throughout the analysis with a blank sample containing 1 mL dichloromethane at the start of each run, plus an internal fatty acid standard (C4-C24) (Sigma-Aldrich, USA). I analysed the output, processing using MassHunter Qualitative Analysis software and the National Institute of Standards and Technology Institute (NIST; https://www.nist.gov) database of fatty acid compounds. I reported Individual fatty acid values as a percentage of the total fatty acids per sample analysed, and those contributing <0.1 % were removed from the dataset. I used Canonical analysis of principal coordinates (CAP) to visualise differences in fatty acid profiles between North Neptunes, coastal and offshore habitats. I quantitatively tested for differences between habitat types using PERMANOVAs, and contribution to variance using SIMPERs in PRIMER (version 7, with PERMANOVA+ add-on).

5.4 Results

Growth analysis

I aged a total of 604 silver trevally, 207 from North Neptunes, 233 from coastal locations, and 164 from offshore locations (Supplementary table 3), with the size of silver trevally ranging from 184–740 mm (mean ± standard error: North Neptunes 477 ± 7.7 mm; coastal 316 ± 3.4 mm; offshore 376 ± 7.5 mm; Figure 25A). Age range varied between habitat types, ranging from 2.42–16.42 years old for North Neptunes, 1.25– 10.25 for coastal, and 2.5–16.92 for offshore (Figure 25B). The top-ranked models for each habitat type indicated that the von Bertalanffy growth model was the most parsimonious model (all location wAIC_c = 1), and thus was used for all subsequent estimates of growth parameters. Estimates of von Bertalanffy growth parameters for silver trevally at North Neptunes were significantly different to both coastal (χ^2 = 227.88, p < 0.001; Figure 26) and offshore habitats (χ^2 = 80.48, p < 0.001; Figure 26), but also between coastal and offshore habitats (χ^2 = 42.99, *p* < 0.001; Figure 26). Trevally from North Neptunes had a similar growth rate to those from offshore habitats (Table 11) but has a higher asymptotic length than both the offshore and coastal fish (Table 11). Coastal silver trevally grew faster than both North Neptunes and offshore fish (Table 11) but had the smallest asymptotic length (Table 11). Separation in growth curves between North Neptunes and control locations began at approximately one years old for offshore silver trevally, and 2.5 years old for coastal silver trevally. Offshore silver trevally reached L_{∞} at 16 years, with North Neptune silver trevally 75 mm larger at the same age. Similarly, coastal silver trevally reached L_{∞} at 10 years, with silver trevally from North Neptune 216 mm larger at the same age (Figure 26). Finally, I estimated total annual mortality (A) for each of the habitat types, with no significant difference in mortality at North Neptune (34.99%) compared to offshore (39.16%; $F_1 = 2.3$, p = 0.14; Figure 27) and coastal (42.98%) habitats ($F_1 = 0.72$, p = 0.4; Figure 27).



Figure 25. A: Size, and **B:** Age structures, for silver trevally (*Pseudocaranx georgianus*) sampled across different habitat types in South Australia. Coastal n = 233 (8 locations), North Neptune n = 207 (1 location), Offshore n = 164 (5 locations) Bin widths 25 mm and 1 year, respectively.



Figure 26. Von Bertalanffy growth curves for silver trevally (*Pseudocaranx georgianus*) for different habitat types from South Australia. Circle points and solid line indicate Coastal habitat; triangle points and short dash indicate North Neptune habitat type; square points and long dash indicate Offshore habitat. Coastal n = 233 (8 locations), North Neptune n = 207 (1 location), Offshore n = 164 (5 locations).

Table 11. Estimates of von Bertalanffy growth parameters for silver trevally (*Pseudocaranx georgianus*) collected from different habitat types in South Australia during 2016–2022. The parameters include the asymptotic length (L_{∞}) and the growth coefficient (k). SE indicates standard errors of the mean.

Habitat	L∞ ± SE	$k \pm SE$
North Neptunes	664.00 ± 16.44	$\textbf{0.19}\pm\textbf{0.01}$
Offshore	547.04 ± 30.13	$\textbf{0.20}\pm\textbf{0.02}$
Coastal	$\textbf{354.80} \pm \textbf{6.65}$	$\textbf{0.52}\pm\textbf{0.04}$



Figure 27. Catch-curves indicating mortality of silver trevally (*Pseudocaranx georgianus*) sampled from different habitat types from South Australia. Hollow points indicate estimated ages not used for mortality estimates. Solid points indicate estimated ages used for mortality estimates. Coastal n = 233 (8 locations), North Neptune n = 700 (1 location), Offshore n = 164 (5 locations).

Body condition

I measured body condition of 700 silver trevally, 449 at North Neptunes, 60 at coastal locations, and 191 at offshore locations (Figure 24). Body condition (phase angle) ranged from $15.73-34.56^{\circ}$ (mean = $25.81 \pm 0.11^{\circ}$; Figure 26) at North Neptunes, $13.42-28.28^{\circ}$ at coastal locations ($19.71 \pm 0.42^{\circ}$; Figure 26), and $15.02-29.21^{\circ}$ at offshore locations ($23.27 \pm 0.2^{\circ}$; Figure 26). Due to potential influence of fish length on body condition (Pratchett et al., 2023), I truncated data to the minimum size from North Neptunes (310 mm) and maximum size of offshore and coastal (525 mm) to compare body condition of fish within a similar size range. The top-ranked model ($wAIC_c = 0.44$) included *habitat, length*, and *month*, with these factors explaining 62% of the model variance (Table 12). *Length* and *month* had similar influence on the body condition of silver trevally (34% and 30%, respectively), with body condition increasing as size increased before reaching an asymptote of ~ 25° at ~425 mm (Figure 28A), and with body condition being highest in December and January, and lowest in June–August (Figure 28B). *Habitat* also influenced body condition but had a smaller effect than *length* and *month* (14% of model variance explained *versus* 34% and 30% respectively; Figure 28C). There was no significant difference in body condition of silver trevally between North Neptune and offshore habitats (p = 0.78, df = 1), but both were significantly higher than silver trevally from coastal habitats. (p > 0.001; Figure 28C).

Table 12. Summary of model testing the effect of bait and berley on the body condition of silver trevally (*Pseudocaranx georgianus*). df, degrees of freedom; AIC_c , Akaike's information criterion corrected for small sample size; LL, log-likelihood; ΔAIC_c , difference in AIC_c between the current and the top-ranked model; *w*AIC_c, model probability; variance explained by R_m, marginal (fixed effects) R²; R_c, conditional (fixed and random effects) R². Top-ranked model indicated in **bold**. Only the top 5 ranked models are presented for table clarity.

Model	df	AICc	ΔAIC_{c}	AIC_cW_t	LL	R _m	Rc
Phase angle ~ Habitat + Length _{Smooth} + Month _{Cyclic}	14	2062.6	0	0.441	-1016.44	0.48	0.61
Phase angle ~ Habitat + Habitat* Length _{Smooth} + Month _{Cyclic}	18	2064.4	1.82	0.178	-1013.03	0.39	0.60
Phase angle ~ Habitat* Length_Smooth + Month_Cyclic	16	2064.8	2.17	0.149	-1015.32	0.25	0.60
Phase angle ~ Length_{Smooth} + Habitat* Length_{Smooth} + Month_{Cyclic}	15	2065.2	2.60	0.12	-1016.6	0.25	0.59
Phase angle ~ Habitat + Length _{Smooth} + Habitat* Length _{Smooth} + Month _{Cyclic}	19	2065.7	3.06	0.095	-1012.86	0.39	0.60



Figure 28. Predicted phase angle (marginal means) of silver trevally (*Pseudocaranx georgianus*) from South Australia showing effects of **A**) total length (mm), **B**) month, and **C**) habitat. Shaded error bars and error bars indicates 95% confidence intervals. Coastal n = 60 (1 location), North Neptune n = 449 (1 location), Offshore n = 191 (5 locations).

Fatty acids

I examined the muscle fatty acid profiles from 46 silver trevally captured from March 2016–June 2022 at North Neptunes (n = 7), coastal locations (n = 24), and offshore locations (n = 15). Due to the effect of season on fatty acid profiles (C Huveneers, unpublished data; Armstrong et al., 1994, de Souza et al., 2020), and the lack of samples overlapping for all *habitats* and seasons, I only used samples collected during spring as this was the season with the most samples in each habitat. There were significant differences among the fatty acid profiles of individuals with the formation of distinct clusters with specific profiles for *habitat* (MS = 987.17, $F_{2,34}$ = 13.8, p(perm) = 0.001; Figure 29). Average dissimilarity between North Neptunes–coastal (11.2%), and North Neptunes–offshore (9.85%), was higher, but comparable to the dissimilarity between coastal–offshore habitats (9.25%). Seven fatty acids were driving a cumulative dissimilarity of ~70% between habitats (Table 13; Figure 29). SIMPER analysis for *habitat* indicated North Neptunes silver trevally had higher levels of oleic acid (OLA; 18:1 ω 9; mono-unsaturated), eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA; 20:5 ω 3; polyunsaturated), and palmitoleic acid (PAL; 16:1 ω 7; mono-unsaturated), and lower levels of arachidonic acid (ARA; 20:4 ω 6; poly-unsaturated), docosahexaenoic acid (DHA, 22:6 ω 3; poly-unsaturated), palmitic acid (16:0; saturated), and stearic acid (18:0; saturated) compared to coastal and offshore habitats (Table 13). **Table 13.** SIMPER results for muscle fatty acid profiles of silver trevally (*Pseudocaranx georgianus*) from different habitats in South Australia. Results ordered by percentage contribution of fatty acid to dissimilarity. DHA = docosahexaenoic acid; OLA = oleic acid; PAL = palmitoleic acid; EPA = eicosapentaenoic acid; ARA = arachidonic acid.

Fatty acid	Av. Concentration	Av. Concentration	Av. Dissimilarity	Dissimilarity SD	Contribution %	Cumulative %
a) Offshore & Coastal (Av. Dissimilarity 9.25)	Offshore	Coastal				
22:6 ω 3cis (DHA; poly-unsaturated)	6.2	5.25	1.68	1.56	18.13	18.13
18:1 ω 9cis (OLA; mono-unsaturated)	2.64	3.18	1.17	1.31	12.6	30.72
14:0 (myristic acid; saturated)	1.1	1.6	1.03	1.23	11.14	41.86
16:1 ω 7cis (PAL; mono-unsaturated)	1	1.22	0.71	1.12	7.72	49.58
16:0 (palmitic acid; saturated)	4.98	5.26	0.69	1.14	7.47	57.05
20:5 ω 3cis (EPA; poly-unsaturated)	2.25	2.09	0.67	1.3	7.26	64.31
20:4 ω 6cis (ARA; poly-unsaturated)	1.89	2.06	0.64	1.29	6.94	71.26
b) Offshore & North Neptune (Av. Dissimilarity 9.85)	Offshore	North Neptune				
18:1 ω 9cis (OLA; mono-unsaturated)	2.64	3.53	1.62	1.68	16.46	16.46
14:0 (myristic acid; saturated)	1.1	1.71	1.14	1.4	11.57	28.04
18:0 (stearic acid; saturated)	3.88	3.26	1.08	3.09	10.93	38.97
16:1 ω 7cis (PAL; mono-unsaturated)	1	1.57	1.06	1.51	10.78	49.75
20:5 ω 3cis (EPA; poly-unsaturated)	2.25	2.66	0.89	1.3	9.05	58.8
22:6 ω 3cis (DHA; poly-unsaturated)	6.2	5.89	0.79	1.3	7.98	66.78
20:4 ω 6cis (ARA; poly-unsaturated)	1.89	1.55	0.75	1.66	7.63	74.4
c) Coastal & North Neptune (Av. Dissimilarity 11.24)	Coastal	North Neptune				
22:6 ω 3cis (DHA; poly-unsaturated)	5.25	5.89	1.33	1.32	11.85	11.85
18:0 (stearic acid; saturated)	3.98	3.26	1.24	1.88	11.06	22.91
18:1 ω 9cis (OLA; mono-unsaturated)	3.18	3.53	1.21	1.37	10.75	33.66
20:5 ω 3cis (EPA; poly-unsaturated)	2.09	2.66	1.14	1.38	10.17	43.83
16:0 (palmitic acid; saturated)	5.26	4.71	1.09	1.27	9.65	53.48
14:0 (myristic acid; saturated)	1.6	1.71	1.02	1.38	9.04	62.53
16:1 ω 7cis (PAL; mono-unsaturated)	1.22	1.57	0.98	1.42	8.75	71.28



Figure 29. Canonical analysis of principal coordinates for muscle fatty acid samples collected during Spring from silver trevally (*Pseudocaranx georgianus*) from different habitat types in South Australia. Vector overlay indicates highest contributing fatty acids to the dissimilarity. All PUFAs displayed are cis bonded. Coastal n = 24 (1 location), North Neptune n = 7 (1 location), Offshore n = 15 (2 locations)

5.5 Discussion

This study enhances my understanding of the effects of supplemental feeding on the physiology and nutrition of a non-focal species and shows that wildlife tourism increases silver trevally growth and altered fatty acid profiles. However, despite increased growth and altered dietary indicators, I found that feeding from shark cage-diving tourism does not affect mortality or body condition. Based on the growth curves for different habitat types, trevally interacting with shark tourism grew to larger sizes at the same age than silver trevally from offshore or coastal habitats that are not exposed to supplemental feeding. Despite access to supplemental food, silver trevally from North Neptunes had comparable body condition to individuals from similar offshore habitats without supplemental food, suggesting that the surplus energy from consuming bait and berley is devoted to somatic growth rather than stored as excess fat. In addition, both trevally from North Neptunes and offshore habitats had greater body condition than trevally from coastal habitats. I also observed differences in essential fatty acid profiles between habitat types, with fish from North Neptunes having higher levels of OLA, EPA, and PAL, and lower levels of ARA, DHA, 16:0, and 18:0 compared to silver trevally from offshore and coastal habitats. Overall, these findings highlight that providing supplemental feed to non-focal species does not always lead to negative impacts on individuals and provides the first evidence of increases in growth of a non-focal species at a wildlife tourism site exposed to food-based provisioning.

Differences in growth rates and asymptotic lengths between North Neptunes and offshore and coastal habitats, suggests that resource availability is driving impacts on somatic growth. Animals typically respond to resource availability through changes in survival and somatic growth, whereby limited resources can increase mortality or result in slower growth (Zimmermann et al., 2018, Hale et al., 2020). Conversely, resource abundance, such as through the supplemental feeding at North Neptunes, may increase the rate at which fish grow. Most fish follow a biphasic growth relationship, growing rapidly as a juvenile, which subsequently decelerates as an adult (Von Bertalanffy, 1957, Skeeles and Clark, 2023). However, individuals with surplus energy (i.e., access to excess food through supplemental feeding), are not as limited by the energy requirements of reproduction at maturation, providing more energy for continued somatic growth (Skeeles and Clark, 2023). As silver trevally at North Neptunes have been exposed to supplemental feeding for up to 16 years (Bruce and Bradford, 2013), consumption of bait and berley likely provides surplus energy throughout their maturation, facilitating individuals to grow larger. In comparison, silver trevally in offshore locations had a similar growth rate, but smaller asymptotic size, likely following natural decelerations of growth due to reduced energy available during maturation (i.e., smaller individuals; Skeeles and Clark, 2023). Similarly, an overall reduction in food availability for silver trevally in coastal locations would drive the reduced asymptotic size compared to both offshore habitats and North Neptunes (Middleton et al., 2013, Doubleday et al., 2017, Messer et al., 2021). This finding is supported by the

physiological concepts underpinning the von Bertalanffy growth function, where density-dependent growth mediated by food affects the asymptotic size, not the growth rate (Lorenzen and Enberg, 2002).

Body condition provides a measure of physiological status that has been used to infer habitat suitability for pelagic fishes (Champion et al., 2020, Clarke et al., 2023). The greater body condition and faster growth of silver trevally from offshore and North Neptunes habitats (also an offshore island) compared to coastal habitats suggests that offshore regions might be more suitable for silver trevally and provide greater resource availability. Trevally from offshore habitats and North Neptunes were sampled between the Bonney Coast and the eastern Great Australian Bight (Kämpf, 2010, Richardson et al., 2020) where sporadic wind-driven summer upwelling events (Lewis, 1981, Kämpf et al., 2004) support high levels of primary productivity (Ward et al., 2006, van Ruth et al., 2010) and high densities of small pelagic fishes (McLeay et al., 2003, Dennis et al., 2021). This region provides abundant food with essential nutrients for many species, including silver trevally (Goldsworthy et al., 2013). In contrast, coastal silver trevally were collected in the South Australian gulfs (i.e., Gulf St. Vincent and Spencer Gulf), which can be nutrient limited (Middleton et al., 2013, Doubleday et al., 2017, Messer et al., 2021), due to the lack of riverine input (Dimmlich et al., 2004) and salinity-driven density fronts restricting mixing (Messer et al., 2021). The low productivity within these gulfs likely limits food availability, which in turns impacts the body condition of coastal silver trevally. As fish are ectotherms, the temperature of a habitat is also a key component of habitat suitability (Clarke and Johnston, 1999). Fish have an optimum thermal range (Valenza-Troubat et al., 2022), outside of which metabolic costs increase (Sebens, 1987) and oxygen transport to tissues becomes limited (Ern et al., 2016), slowing overall kinematics (Parisi et al., 2020) and thus prey capture (Valenza-Troubat et al., 2022). This can, in turn, affect growth as shown by a study recording a 50% increase in somatic growth in silver trevally kept at 20°C compared to those kept at 13°C (Valenza-Troubat et al., 2022). The temperature range in the coastal habitats (12–25°C; Roberts et al., 2012, Roberts et al., 2019), is greater and more variable (i.e., due to influence from climatic conditions; Roberts et al., 2019) than in offshore regions (15-22 °C) which are generally more consistent (Dimmlich et al., 2004, Richardson et al., 2018). Consequently, coastal silver trevally might be outside their optimum temperature range for longer periods and are subject to larger thermal fluctuations compared to offshore silver trevally. The high and variable temperature within the gulfs likely increases physiological demand, explaining lower somatic growth compared to offshore silver trevally.

The accelerated growth at North Neptunes raises concerns of whether the increase in silver trevally somatic growth compromises other aspects of their physiology (i.e., less energy allocated to other physiological processes; Marshall, 2007, McBride et al., 2015). However, the similar body condition of silver trevally from North Neptunes and offshore habitats indicates that the energy allocated for increased growth is not occurring at the cost of their physiological condition. Studies examining field metabolic rate at tourism sites revealed greater energetic costs from interactions with operators, resulting in increased

activity and metabolic rate compensating for consuming baits and/or berley (i.e., surplus energy compensates for increased energy expenditure, not toward increased physiological condition; Barnett et al., 2016, Clarke et al., 2023). However, silver trevally at North Neptunes did not increase activity around food-based operators, despite increased residency (daily and weekly), and occurring closer to the surface near to bait and berley (Chapter 2). Due to the extended exposure to supplemental food without additional energy expenditure, surplus energy was expected to lead to better body condition in the North Neptunes silver trevally. However, despite suspected surplus energy and observed increases in growth, energy from the bait and berley consumption did not lead to better condition, as the energy is likely allocated to somatic growth instead.

Trevally mortality was similar across all habitats. Yet, fish mortality is typically higher in coastal habitats than offshore regions because of increased fishing pressure due to accessibility for recreational and commercial fishing sectors (Johnson et al., 2015). However, South Australian recreational catches of silver trevally are similar between coastal and offshore regions (57% and 43%, respectively; Beckmann et al., 2023), reducing the expected discrepancy in fishing-related mortality between regions. Furthermore, most coastal and Neptune Islands silver trevally were caught within no-fishing sanctuary zones alleviating this source of mortality altogether. The lack of differences in mortality between silver trevally from offshore regions and the Neptune Islands suggests that, while supplemental feeding increase somatic growth, it does not affect mortality.

Immigration and emigration is a confounding factor of life-history parameters, whereby estimates (i.e., growth, mortality, condition, nutrition) can capture the effects of movements between regions (Ogle, 2018, Harry et al., 2022), leading to biased estimates being used for management purposes. While silver trevally at the Neptune Islands have high site fidelity, some individuals displayed transient behaviours, leaving the islands for extended periods (up to 7 months between detections; Chapter 2), even when provided with supplemental food. The spatial extent of this movement is however unknown, due to high mobility, silver trevally are capable of intermediate scales of movements (Fowler et al., 2018), indicating they may be residing in the offshore reefs surrounding the Neptune Islands, or could be undertaking large-scale migrations across geographic regions. Uncertainty in the population connectivity and post-settlement movements of silver trevally has contributed to broad fisheries management strategies (Smith-Vaniz and Jelks, 2006, Gomon et al., 2008). This uncertainty must be addressed to determine the extent of connectivity across regions and life-history stages, and if the cage-diving industry has the potential to interrupt important links and confound results here. Population genetic surveys have been conducted on similar carangids in the past (Miller et al., 2011), revealing stock structures and population stratification through genome-wide DNA markers (Alexander et al., 2009, Jombart and Ahmed, 2011). Furthermore, in conjunction with otolith chemistry (Gillanders, 2005, Elsdon et al., 2008, Reis-Santos et al., 2023), connectivity patterns at different life stages and between different areas (i.e., spawning and nursery areas,

and adult habitats) can be quantified using natural chemical tags in otoliths and other hard parts (i.e., isotopes and trace elements; Gillanders et al., 2015, Tanner et al., 2016). Understanding the population structure and dynamics of silver trevally through this future work provides essential information for the management of populations at biologically relevant spatial scales (Gillanders, 2002, Reis-Santos et al., 2018, Reis-Santos et al., 2023). Furthermore, understanding the connectivity of silver trevally across habitats and their life history addresses any confounding effects of movements on estimates of growth, mortality, body condition, and nutrition here, while also revealing potential impacts from the cage-diving industry if connectivity is interrupted.

While silver trevally at North Neptunes consume the bait and berley provided by cage-diving operators (Meyer et al., 2020), silver trevally at non-tourism sites feed on a wide range of prey items such as cephalopods, benthic invertebrates, zooplankton, and small benthopelagic fish (J Dennis, unpublished data; French et al., 2013). Due to the importance of essential fatty acids in maintaining physiological functions (Turchini et al., 2022) and their limited ability to synthesise fatty acids de novo (Sargent et al., 1995), essential fatty acid deficiencies from poor diet can reduce fish growth, survival, and development (Tocher et al., 2008). Arachidonic acid (ARA) and Docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) are essential omega-6 and omega-3 fatty acids that play essential roles in different physiological processes, and were found in low levels in North Neptunes Trevally due to the low levels of DHA and ARA found in bait and berley (Meyer et al., 2020). The unaltered body condition of North Neptunes silver trevally suggests this lower level is physiologically inconsequential, as the importance of DHA and ARA in fish is highly species, life history stage, sex, and location-specific (Xu et al., 2022). Alternatively, the lack of available DHA and ARA may not hamper growth but instead prevent the expected increase in body condition in silver trevally at North Neptunes. While the southern bluefin tuna used as bait and berley by cage-diving operators at the Neptune Islands is low in ARA and DHA, it is rich in EPA and OLA, and is likely the source of higher EPA and OLA in North Neptunes silver trevally (Meyer et al. 2020). Eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) is another essential omega-3 fatty acid and is highly abundant in marine ecosystems, originating from primary producers, which is then bioaccumulated and stored in higher trophic level species. Under natural conditions (i.e., when not fed bait and berley rich in EPA), silver trevally are not high trophic level species and contain low levels of EPA. EPA is important for multiple physiological functions including maintaining cellular membrane structure, immunity and inflammatory regulation, and metabolism modulation (Lutfi et al., 2023). Aquaculture fish fed diets formulated with high levels of EPA increase their growth, robustness, and condition (Tian et al., 2017, Lutfi et al., 2023). Similarly, the OLA found in high levels in North Neptunes silver trevally and in the bait and berley (Meyer et al. 2020) is a heavily catabolized fatty acid used for energy pertaining to growth and reproduction (Tocher, 2003). Controlled diet studies have shown OLA improves nutrient uptake without affecting growth, and mitigates negative impacts from excessively high-lipid diets (Martins et al., 2023). As such, the higher levels of EPA and OLA may nutritionally support the accelerated growth of silver trevally at

North Neptunes while maintaining the body condition of supplementally fed silver trevally to the same level as the offshore silver trevally feeding naturally.

5.6 Conclusions

Supplemental feeding at tourism sites can impact the physiology and diet of non-focal species consuming the attractant. This study identified the effects of a supplemental food source from white shark tourism on the growth, body condition, and diet of non-focal coastal fish, while also highlighting the suitability of offshore habitats throughout southern Australia. Despite supporting increases in growth, the supplemental feeding is not sufficient in volume, duration, or nutrition to concurrently increase body condition or decrease mortality. Importantly, higher levels of essential fatty acids that improve and support growth suggest that the bait and berley provided may be a nutritionally sufficient substitute for the natural diet of silver trevally, supporting accelerated growth. Future research should focus on understanding the connectivity across regions and life-history stages of silver trevally in southern Australia, to determine the population structure and dynamics throughout their life and across disparate coastal and offshore habitats; with a focus on if and how connectivity may be influenced by white shark tourism. Findings from this study contribute to the limited, but growing knowledge of the impacts of provisioning on non-focal species, highlighting the importance of accounting for non-focal species in the management of supplemental feeding (Meyer et al., 2021). Furthermore, I provide the first evidence of responses in the growth of a semi-resident benthopelagic fish at an offshore temperate island group exposed to supplemental feeding.



CHAPTER 6

General discussion



6.1 Thesis overview

Food-based attractants are often used in wildlife tourism to aggregate focal species, unintentionally attracting and in some cases feeding non-focal species. The impacts of such practices are poorly understood, with few studies exploring the topic (Trave et al., 2017, Meyer et al., 2021). Non-focal species can consume most of the food supplied (Donalty et al., 2003, Inslerman et al., 2006), but management strategies, policies, and research is focused on understanding and mitigating the impacts of provisioning on focal species. Yet, non-focal species are likely to be affected by wildlife tourism in different ways to focal animals.

Using a multidisciplinary approach, I investigated the impacts of wildlife tourism on the spatiotemporal distribution, activity, population abundance, growth, and physiology of silver trevally (Pseudocaranx georgianus) attracted by bait and berley (southern bluefin tuna Thunnus maccoyii) used by white shark (Carcharodon carcharias) cage-diving vessels. Specifically, this thesis shows changes to the space use and residency of silver trevally exposed to provisioning from wildlife tourism, with weekly (number of days silver trevally were present per week) and daily (number of hours per day at the Neptune Islands) residency increasing by 32% and 20%, respectively, when operators were present (Chapter 2). Cage-diving tourism also reduced the core space use of silver trevally, aggregating them close to food-based operators at the surface (< 5 m depth). Despite changes in space use and residency, and frequently observed bursts of acceleration, overall activity did not substantially increase when operators were present. Estimates of population size using novel mark-resight methods developed in this thesis (Chapter 3) revealed a population of up to ~4,000 silver trevally, with seasonal variations and abundance peaking in summer (Chapter 4). However, population size was not influenced by the monthly frequency of cage-diving operations. Notably, I also documented a seasonal exodus from the Neptune Islands by 76% of tagged individuals, triggered by low water temperature (Chapter 2), and seasonal variations in population size linked to temperature (Chapter 4), suggesting that silver trevally are not permanent residents at the Neptune Islands. The departure of silver trevally from this near-continuous food source suggests the bait and berley is not muting environmental cues or suppressing natural movements and behaviours. The silver trevally at North Neptune Islands that were frequently exposed to bait and berley were larger than silver trevally of the same age from offshore locations with similar habitats, but without supplemental feeding from cage-diving operations (Chapter 5). The accelerated growth is nutritionally supported by the higher levels of Eicosapentaenoic and Oleic acid in silver trevally from North Neptune Islands, as these fatty acids increase the overall growth performance, welfare, and condition of teleosts (Chapter 5). However, mortality rate and body condition was similar to control locations, indicating that while silver trevally may grow faster, the consumption of bait and berley does not change the survival, nor fitness of silver trevally (Chapter 5). My thesis is the first study to comprehensively assess the impacts of wildlife tourism on a nonfocal species, providing a baseline for impacts of supplemental feeding on a non-focal species. Overall, my

study used a multidisciplinary approach to show that small and non-focal species can be affected by provisioning, despite being often unaccounted for in management frameworks and studies assessing the impacts of wildlife tourism.

6.2 Ecological disruption: impacts on non-focal movement and behaviour

Environmental cues are important regulatory processes for animals, dictating when to reproduce (Juntti and Fernald, 2016), perform migratory behaviours (Winkler et al., 2014), or how they choose a suitable habitat (i.e., abundant resources, thermal optimum; Huijbers et al., 2012). Interruption of these environmental drivers is becoming more pervasive (i.e., through human-driven climate change; Altieri and Diaz, 2019; pollution; Olsén, 2010, Olivares-Rubio and Arce, 2023; habitat modifications; Dagorn et al., 2010, Dagorn et al., 2013, Johnson and Lyman, 2020), preventing ecologically important movements, and inadvertently trapping individuals in unsuitable areas with sub-optimal resources or outside their thermal ranges (Schlaepfer et al., 2002, Battin, 2004). Provisioning of wildlife has been shown to interrupt or prevent these important movements and migrations (i.e., for habitat selection; Boyce et al., 2016; foraging needs; Moorcroft and Barnett, 2008, Staniland et al., 2018; predator avoidance; Heupel and Hueter, 2002; or reproductive opportunities; Lassis et al., 2022). While this thesis shows that silver trevally exposed to provisioning were still undertaking movements away from the Neptune Islands (Chapters 2 & 4), the increasing residency with cage-diving operations suggests that cage-diving does affect movement patterns, and that higher intensity of cage-diving (e.g., greater number of days at the Neptune Islands) could lead to further disruptions to fine-scale movement, and potentially migrations. Silver trevally in other locations undertake large-scale migrations, with some exhibiting movements of over 500 km in 17 days, highlighting the mobility of the species (Rowling and Raines, 2000, Fowler et al., 2018). Such migrations would explain the extended time away from the Neptune Islands, which might be linked to pre-spawning behaviours as is suggested for silver trevally in other regions (Fowler et al., 2018). Spawning behaviours are key components of reproduction that drive a populations productivity and success (Tamario et al., 2019). As such, important reproductive behaviours could be hindered if responses to environmental cues were suppressed. Furthermore, the increased residency at the Neptune Islands longer than expected naturally could result in undue foraging pressure on prey species or expose silver trevally to temperatures outside their optimal thermal range. Temperature greatly affects the metabolic rate of teleosts (Clarke and Johnston, 1999), with individuals outside of their thermal range having higher energy expenditure (Sebens, 1987), restricted physiological processes (Neubauer and Andersen, 2019, Volkoff and Ronnestad, 2020), and reduced oxygen transport to tissues (Ern et al., 2016), prey capture and digestion (Valenza-Troubat et al., 2022), reproductive output (Pankhurst and Munday, 2011), and larval growth and survival (Moyano et al., 2017). Overall, my study showed that provisioning may interrupt ecologically important species-specific movements, preventing reproductive behaviours and trapping wildlife in unsuitable areas; highlighting the need for baseline studies of non-focal species to assess the natural behaviours and ecosystem services

which may be interrupted. Effects from Interrupting ecologically important movements and behaviours can also reach beyond non-focal species and extend to the ecosystems they are connected to and are supported through these movements (Polis et al., 1997, Teske et al., 2021).

Humans ability to provide resources to wildlife at a consistency, quantity, or quality beyond what is naturally available can create desirable cues in unsuitable habitats, increasing the likelihood of species falling into an ecological trap (Schlaepfer et al., 2002, Becker and Hall, 2014). Combined with anthropogenic pressures (i.e., fisheries; Block et al., 1998, Heino and Godø, 2002; habitat degradation; Marsac et al., 2000, Andersson, 2011; and climate change; Champion et al., 2018b, Petrik et al., 2020, Robinson et al., 2015, Golet et al., 2007), impacted species can be faced with cumulative challenges. However, the opposite might occur at the Neptune Islands where provisioning and spatial management are cumulatively beneficial (i.e., marine parks; McClanahan and Mangi, 2000, Smallwood et al., 2011, Laffoley et al., 2019). Current conditions at the Neptune Islands Group Marine Park resemble more of an ecological haven than an ecological trap (Chapters 2 & 4; Schlaepfer et al., 2002, Battin, 2004). Indeed, silver trevally are not subject to anthropogenic pressures but are supplied with supplemental food which increases their growth and physiological maintenance instead (Chapter 5). These benefits, however, remain conditional on provisioning not preventing natural behaviours by muting responses to environmental cues, in which case the Neptune Islands would default back to an ecological trap (Battin, 2004). Leveraging the benefits of an ecological haven provides a unique conservation strategy to support at-risk populations. As feeding endangered or at-risk populations is already successfully used in terrestrial conservation (Heard and Zimmerman, 2021), combining supplemental feed programs with wildlife tourism operations provide an opportunity to promote and support non-focal species populations that may be otherwise at risk, while allowing operators to provide an improved experience for participants through provisioning of focal species

6.3 Physiological toll: non-focal provisioning and energy budgets

Increased energy expenditure can lead to negative health impacts, as individuals expend more energy than they assimilate, reducing the energy available for important processes such as growth (Metcalfe, 1986), body condition (Silva et al., 2020), reproductive output (i.e., fecundity; McBride et al., 2015), overall fitness (Pankhurst and Munday, 2011, Chabot et al., 2016), and ultimately survival (Naidoo and Glassom, 2019). This was not observed at the Neptune Islands, as silver trevally do not expend additional energy when interacting with cage-diving vessels (Chapter 2), but instead grow larger (Chapter 5). The increase in somatic growth can be attributed to an energy surplus, given silver trevally consume a food source with greater caloric value than natural prey items (9.28 kj/g ± 0.63 *versus* cephalopod 3.3 kj/g; crustacean 3.93 kj/g; J Dennis, unpublished data). Increases in activity from interactions with wildlife provisioning have been observed in both focal and non-focal species, whereby the increased energy expenditure can be compensated by consuming supplemental feed (Barnett et al., 2016, Brunnschweiler et al., 2018, Huveneers et al., 2018a, Barry et al., 2023, Clarke et al., 2023), mitigating negative fitness impacts

associated with energy deficits. However, this is contingent on the food being accessible. This is particularly the case for other non-focal species which may increase energy expenditure in an attempt to consume seemingly available food, but are outcompeted and thus cannot recuperate energy losses. For example, while the silver trevally aggregate at the source of bait and berley, other species (i.e., leather jackets Meuschenia hippocrepis) may increase their movements in relation to the cage-diving vessels attempting to consume supplemental food (i.e., increased energy expenditure), but are subsequently outcompeted by the more mobile silver trevally. Thus, what is an *ecological haven* for some species may be an *ecological* trap for others. Findings from this thesis demonstrate that interactions with wildlife provisioning does not always result in increased energy expenditure and subsequent energy deficit, which would prevent important physiological processes, highlighting the complexity of responses to sources of provisioning. While findings produced here were conducted after long-term exposure of a single non-focal species to wildlife provisioning, assessing a species' field metabolic rate, energy requirements, and the caloric value of proposed provisioning prior to implementing operations will allow the proactive development of bioenergetic models (Boisclair and Leggett, 1989, Hansen et al., 1993). Predicting potential responses a priori allows modifications to proposed practices (i.e., sufficient caloric value to compensate for shifts in energy budgets) to mitigate potential negative impacts on species interacting with tourism.

Best practice for mitigating the impacts of provisioning is proactive management, performing detailed assessments of all species and environmental components prior to commencing the activity, preventing impacts from occurring from the onset. However, as many wildlife tourism industries are already well established and practices are often grandfathered in, in conjunction with impacts on non-focal species only recently gaining interest (Gallagher et al., 2015, Trave et al., 2017, Gallagher and Huveneers, 2018, Patroni et al., 2018, Meyer et al., 2020, Meyer et al., 2021), many species are likely already impacted or exposed to pressures from different forms of provisioning. With species potentially already dependent on provisioning as a food source (Marsac et al., 2000, Dagorn et al., 2010), reactive management practices can no longer simply remove the source of impact. Removal of the provisioning essentially eliminates a resource which a population might now rely on, resulting in significant resource-related mortality (Meakin and Qin, 2020), increased predation pressure on prey species (Koons et al., 2015, Malpass et al., 2017), or further physiological impacts than when provisioned. Similarly, associative learning with wildlife provisioning (Jensen et al., 2013, Pini-Fitzsimmons et al., 2018, Heinrich et al., 2021), can expose species to other anthropogenic pressures in the absence of provisioning (Block et al., 1998, Heino and Godø, 2002, Golet et al., 2007). For example, as silver trevally responded to olfactory stimulus (Chapter 2), exploitation of this response could make individuals susceptible to fishing-related pressures in the sudden absence of bait and berley or when they depart the Neptune Islands. Findings from this thesis highlight how assessments of impacts prior to changing or stopping provisioning practices can reveal potential change which can in fact worsen the effects on the individuals. The potential for future impacts under changing management

presents opportunities for future work to examine potential effects on the wider ecosystem which were not examined here.

6.4 Nutritional ecology: exploring balanced diets and eco-moderation

A balanced diet of essential nutrients and energy (i.e., vitamins, minerals, proteins, lipids, carbohydrates; Lall and Tibbetts, 2009) is required to meet the physiological needs of growth, reproduction, and health, but also influences an individual's plasticity and adaptability to stressors (Lall and Tibbetts, 2009, Raubenheimer et al., 2009, Raubenheimer, 2011). Disruption of this balance by providing food with limited nutritional value results in macronutrient-imbalanced diets, restricting animals from achieving intake targets (Raubenheimer and Simpson, 2019) and limiting physiological processes (Simpson and Raubenheimer, 2012). Despite silver trevally exhibiting a change in diet (Chapter 5; Meyer et al., 2020), they were in good body condition, had increased growth (Chapter 5), and the population fluctuated naturally with no increases in mortality (Chapters 4 and 5). The nutritional value of the southern bluefin tuna used may be a superior substitute for the natural diet of silver trevally (i.e., cephalopods, benthic invertebrates, zooplankton, and small benthopelagic fish; J Dennis, unpublished data; French et al., 2013). While showing enrichment of some fatty acids pertaining to growth (Chapter 5), southern bluefin tuna provides the essential macro and micronutrients required for maintaining the health and fitness of silver trevally (Hardy and Kaushik, 2021). While silver trevally unintentionally benefited from the type of provisioning used, it demonstrates that consideration of non-focal species through well-managed tourism and cooperation with policymakers can benefit both the focal and other non-focal species that may be exposed to provisioning (Ballantyne et al., 2009, Apps et al., 2018, Meyer et al., 2021). For example, altering supplemental feed to represent the natural diets of non-focal species, as is implemented for focal species (Brunnschweiler et al., 2018, Barry et al., 2023), would maintain the natural balance of nutrients and energy for impacted individuals. Reducing quantities of provisioning in line with non-focal species would alleviate impacts from occurring from the onset. However, when considering reductions in provisioning, prior assessments of energy use are required to ensure species are not dependent on provisioning as an energy source (Barnett et al., 2016, Brunnschweiler et al., 2018, Huveneers et al., 2018a, Barry et al., 2023, Clarke et al., 2023).

Silver trevally have been deemed eco-moderators (Chapter 5; Meyer et al., 2020), as they play an important role in moderating the impacts of bait and berley on other non-focal species inhabiting the Neptune Islands. The large aggregations of silver trevally (Chapter 4) spend extended periods of time in close proximity to operators (Chapter 2), outcompeting other species and consuming the berley at the surface before it reaches benthic species (Chapter 5; Meyer et al., 2020). Although negative impacts on the physiology, health, and fitness of silver trevally are limited (Chapter 5), there is the potential for provisioning to impact other species (i.e., limiting physiological process and condition; Brookhouse et al., 2013, Raubenheimer and Simpson, 2019), which at the Neptune Islands, is prevented through eco-

moderation by the silver trevally. Occurrences of eco-moderators have been observed outside of wildlife tourism, with wild fishes around aquaculture pens consuming waste (i.e., uneaten feed and fish waste) and limiting the impacts of eutrophication on the benthic environment (Felsing et al., 2005, Fernandez-Jover et al., 2011). Benefits of eco-moderation also extends beyond species at the immediate impact site. For example, bait and berley used at the Neptune Islands is sourced from local tuna ranching around Port Lincoln ~60 km north of the Neptune Islands (Ellis and Kiessling, 2016), consisting of whole tuna that would typically need to be disposed of through other means. Much like fishery discards around the globe (Berg, 2019, Gilman et al., 2020, Viglia et al., 2022, Standal and Hersoug, 2023), disposal of human-mediated food sources can create additive pressures and impacts on wildlife (Votier et al., 2004, Bicknell et al., 2013, Oro et al., 2013), but supplying the tuna to the cage-diving industry prevents broader impacts. Organic matter and food waste in national parks has been provided to residents for feeding cattle previously, preventing the likelihood of wildlife feeding on the disposed waste (Manfredi et al., 2010) In the world of reduce, reuse, recycle (Abdul-Rahman and Wright, 2014), findings from this thesis support the use of ecomoderators to divert sources of food-based waste products, as opposed to its haphazard dispersal which acts as a resource pulse potentially impacting susceptible species (Felsing et al., 2005, Oro et al., 2013). However, detailed assessments of the response of wild species to a source of provisioning, like has been detailed in this thesis, is required to prevent health and fitness implications for eco-moderator species.

6.5 Conserve, cull, compromise: a Neptune Islands case study

Management of wildlife tourism is essential for ensuring sustainable practices and mitigation of impacts (Trave et al., 2017, Patroni et al., 2018), but requires the complex balance between conservation, animal welfare, economic benefits, and participant satisfaction (Meyer et al., 2021). A number of management frameworks have been developed and applied to wildlife tourism industries (Higginbottom et al., 2003, Buckley, 2009, Dubois and Fraser, 2013, Agyeiwaah et al., 2017, Leung et al., 2018). However, frameworks did not consider non-focal or wider ecosystem impacts until recently (Meyer et al., 2021). The Neptune Islands cage-diving industry is an example of adaptive management practices that have been implemented to balance impacts to animal welfare and the socioeconomic benefits of tourism, although regulations only consider the focal white sharks. This thesis has determined that the cage-diving industry in South Australia has led to shifts in the spatiotemporal distribution (Chapter 2), population size (Chapter 4), somatic growth (Chapter 5), and diet (Chapter 5; Meyer et al., 2020) of silver trevally. Using the findings from this thesis, I have updated the existing assessment of the Neptune Islands white shark cage-diving industry on non-focal species (Meyer et al., 2021), addressing key knowledge gaps identified in the previous assessment of this industry (Figure 30; Table 14).

South Australia's white shark cage-diving industry consisted of three operators, running tours ~265 days per year for >10,000 participants. The *tractability* score of the industry was reduced for non-focal species from somewhat high (+0.50) to slightly high (+0.30), and the negative score is now very low (-0.60). While

the industry is small and highly regulated for the focal species, current regulations are only indirectly managing the non-focal species (Table 14). The use of provisioning that is attracting large numbers of silver trevally (Chapters 2 & 4) within a marine park is reducing public and political support for the industry, with operators calling for a cull, and customers experience being negatively impacted. Socioeconomic values remained unchanged from the previous assessment (somewhat high; +0.40; Table 14), as there has not been any indications that participants would not partake in cage-diving tours despite customer dissatisfaction because of the large number of silver trevally present (J Dennis pers. obs.). The industry is thus still providing substantial economic support, education, awareness of all species seen at the Neptune Islands, with non-focal species indirectly benefiting (Meyer et al., 2021). Conservation outcomes from the industry increased (+0.83 to +1) due to the influx of research opportunities on the non-focal silver trevally (Chapters 2, 3, 4, & 5), but also other non-focal species interacting with the industry (Rizzari et al., 2017, Clarke et al., 2022, Clarke et al., 2023). In addition, the Neptune Islands and industry may act as an ecological haven (see section 6.2), supporting the sustainability of the silver trevally population and reducing pressures from anthropogenic activities or impacts of resource limitation (see section 6.3). Meyer et al. (2021) identified a number of knowledge gaps in relation to the animal welfare and ecosystem impacts factors of the assessment, calling for an improved understanding of impacts on non-focal species, many of which have been addressed in this thesis (Table 14, Figure 30). The combination of positive and negative impacts identified through this thesis improved the positive scores for animal welfare (+0 to +0.20) due to good external physical condition and overall physiological condition of silver trevally (Chapter 5), and because they were still migrating away from the Neptune Islands during periods of low temperature (Chapter 2). Similarly, negative scores also improved (-0.65 to -0.5), as the severity of previously unknown effects were lessened (Table 14). Importantly, addressing unknowns for ecosystem impacts improved both positive (+0.15 to +0.30) and negative scores (-0.35 to -0.25), with silver trevally being identified as ecomoderators (see section 6.4). Overall, inclusion of findings from this thesis into the management framework not only reduced the number of knowledge gaps originally identified by Meyer et al. 2021 (i.e., 10 to 2), a key factor which limits the ability of managers to make informed decisions, but also improved both positive and negative scores for the cage-diving industry overall (Figure 30A, B).

Table 14. Updated Framework from Meyer et al. (2021) evaluating white shark Carcharodon carcharias cage-diving practices in South Australia, assessed by 26 factors within four categories: tractability, conservation outcomes, animal welfare, and ecosystem impacts. Scores are very high (+ +), somewhat high (+), somewhat low (-) or very low (--), null impact (\emptyset), and unknown (U). Proportion scores calculated as the number of positive (++ = 1) and negative scores (--=-1) divided by the count of potential scores for each category. Socioeconomic benefits were not included in this table as it remained unchanged. Red indicates negative impacts on silver trevally (*Pseudocaranx georgianus*), green indicates positive impacts, and orange indicates combined positive and negative impacts.

(Table on following page)

Factors	Focal	Non-focal (Meyer et al. 2021)	Non-focal (Dennis 2023)
Tractability		Non local (meyer et al. 2021)	
Practice linked to		L	+/
conventions and guidelines	++	+ indirect	+/-
conventions and guidelines	activity limits	Industry guidelines indirectly	manage poptarget species however
		manage nontarget species	should directly manage non-focal
		manage nontarget species	impacts
Feasible to	+	+	+
regulate/monitor/intervene	· Small industry with limited operator	Small industry with limited operator	· Small industry with limited operator
	licences & an industry management	licences an industry management	licences an industry management
	nlan	plan. & activity contained within a	plan. & activity contained within a
	pion	regulated marine protected area	regulated marine protected area
Public & political support	+/-	+	+/
	Polarized support	indirect	, Indirect for some species, industry
			calling for silver trevally to be culled.
			silver trevally impacting customers
Natural area stewardship	++	++	
			Attractant used in marine park,
			impacting non-focal species
Safe for the public	+	-	-
		Provisioned fish can be aggressive	Provisioned fish can be aggressive
		toward divers	toward divers
Proportion score	+0.70	+0.50	+0.30
	-0.10	-0.10	-0.60
Conservation outcomes			
Contributes to	++	+	++
understanding the species	History of providing opportunities for	Providing opportunities for research	Provided opportunities for growing
	research		research
Contributes to population	Ø	++	++
sustainability		Marine protected area, fish-based	Marine protected area, fish-based
		attractant nutritionally supports	attractant nutritionally supports the
		numerous species	increased growth, population size,
			and physiological condition of silver
			trevally
Does not facilitate illegal	+	++	++
use (i.e., poaching)	Presence of operators provides area	Supports the marine protected area,	Supports the marine protected area,
	surveillance	presence of operators provides area	presence of operators provides area
		surveillance	surveillance
Proportion score	+0.50	+0.83	+1
	-0	-0	-0
Animal welfare			
Effects relatively few	+		
individual animals	Relatively few sharks interact with	Many fish interact with the industry	~4000 silver trevally interact with
	the industry		the industry
Does not cause	U/Ø	0/-	+/-
physiological stress to		Large aggregations potentiate stress	Irevally are in good physiological
animal		from increased competition, or	condition, but could potentiate
		predation risk	stress from increased competition,
Doos not physically barm			or predation risk
wildlife	-	-	-
wildlife	cause injury	minor injury	minor injury
Does not facilitate harm to			+/_
conspecifics	- Bara aggressive competition	- Some fich are aggressively	'/ Some fish are aggressively
conspectives	Rate aggressive competition	som notifice	competitive however limited signs
		competitive	of harm observed in silver trevally
Does not facilitate disease	U/-	U/	+/-
	Aggregations potentiate higher	Large aggregations potentiate higher	Trevally were of good physiological
	parasite load and disease	parasite load and disease	condition, however, requires internal
	transmission	transmission	examination
Maintains normal	_	11/-	+/-
migration and movement	Increased residency	07	Trevally Increased residency
	increased residency		reduced space use but still
			undertook natural movements.
Does not facilitate	+	U/-	-
predation	Few white shark predators, with a	No observed successful predations	Observed successful predations
	single incident of predation by an	around diving boats	around diving boats
	orca at this site	Increased shark residency	Increased shark residency

Factors	Focal	Non-focal (Meyer et al. 2021)	Non-focal (Dennis 2023)
		potentiates natural predations on	potentiates natural predations on
		pinnipeds & benthic elasmobranchs	pinnipeds & benthic elasmobranchs
Maintains natural foraging	++		-
& energy budget	No change in diet or nutritional	Altered diet from consuming	Altered diet from consuming
	condition	attractant	attractant, energy surplus due to no
	-		(opposite for kingfish) but were in
	Increase energy expenditure		good condition and growing larger.
Impacts from conditioned	U/-	U/-	_
behaviour	Potential reduced foraging range,	Conditioned fish are more	Trevally respond to olfactory cues.
	reduced threat avoidance.	aggressive.	Conditioned fish are more
	Potentially conditioned to human	Reduced threat avoidance, including	aggressive.
	interaction, but unlikely	approaching boats, fishers & divers	approaching boats, fishers & divers
Does not impact on mental	U/-	U/-	U/-
state	Potential frustration with failure to	Increased fear of predation and	Increased fear of predation and
	capture bait, may compromise	stress from competition	stress from competition
	natural learning opportunities		
	U/+		
	arounds		
Proportion score	+0.29	+0	+0.2
	-0.29	-0.65	-0.5
Ecosystem impacts			
Maintains suitable	+	+	+
environment	Minimal traffic (3 boats max)	Minimal traffic (3 boats max)	Minimal traffic (3 boats max)
		—	 Light pollution can attract porturnal
		hirds and squid	birds and squid
			U/-
		Potential noise pollution	Potential noise pollution
		U/-	+/- Trevally moderate impact of
		Potential for nutrification from fish	attractant. lack of nutrification from
		aggregations and attractant	fish aggregations and attractant
			need to be confirmed
Does not strain natural	-	U/-	+/-
resources	Longer residency potentiates more	Provisioned fish may strain resources	when operators are absent however
		+/_	populations did not show decline
	Attractant is waste from local	'/ Attractant is waste from local	when absent for prolonged period
	aquaculture	aquaculture	+
		U/-	Attractant is waste from local
		Unbalanced pelagic fish assemblages	other species if dumped.
			U/-
			Unbalanced pelagic fish assemblages
Does not competitively	-	+	+
exclude species	Mid-trophic level elasmobranchs	Unaltered benthic fish assemblages	+
	excluded	Trevally and leatheriacket	Trevally dominance has not affected
		dominance likely to affect other	abundance of other species.
		species	
Does not facilitate invasive	Ø	Ø	Ø
species	10.22	10.15	10.2
Proportion score	-0.17	-0.35	-0.25



Figure 30. A. Updated proportion of known positive impacts (+ scores) and negative impacts (- scores) on non-focal species from cage-diving practices in South Australia for each management category. **B.** Updated proportion of factors within each category scored as unknown. Assessment scores from Meyer et al. 2021, and Dennis 2023 (this thesis). Symbols indicate management category. Socio-economic value is identical for both assessments. Arrows indicate change from Meyer et al. 2021 to Dennis 2023.

Cage-diving operators have raised concerns about the aggregations of silver trevally, which has the potential to lead to customer dissatisfaction, and even negative perception of the species and marine park outcomes (as per management framework, Table 14). One solution to reduce the number of silver trevally impacting customer satisfaction may be to reduce or cease the use of bait and berley. While removal of the provisioning from an already impacted site has the potential to cause further ecological implications (see section 6.3), effectiveness of the industry, facilitation of research, and the associated economic value may also be impacted. At the Neptune Islands, sound-based operators had a 37% chance of encountering sharks, compared to 75% with food-based provisioning (Figure 31A). The number of sharks sighted per day also increased with the use of food-based provisioning (sound-based: < 1 shark per day versus food-based provisioning: ~2–3 sharks per day; Figure 31B). Without the use of food-based provisioning, the successes of shark tourism would likely decrease, leading to poor customer satisfaction, potential financial impacts, and a loss of support for research that requires close encounters with focal and non-focal species. Another option may be the removal of silver trevally (i.e., culling or translocating), preventing the need for changes to provisioning. However, silver trevally act as eco-moderators, limiting the impacts of provisioning on other species (see section 6.4). Removing silver trevally may result in the provisioning influencing other species which may not be as transient or migratory as silver trevally (see section 6.2). Species which may be year-round residents at the Neptune Islands could be impacted, developing health and fitness impacts that were not observed for the silver trevally (see section 6.2–6.4). As the current impacts on the trevally are minimal, and they are essentially residing in an *ecological haven* (see section 6.2), current practices present the lowest ecological impacts compared to other provisioning scenario. Additionally, the minimal impacts of provisioning on the focal white sharks further supports the current practices, representing a holistic management approach of focal and non-focal species at the Neptune Islands.

While the known impacts are minimal, knowledge gaps have also been identified. Industry guidelines currently indirectly manage the non-focal species, but future guidelines should consider and directly manage impacts on non-focal species. Direct management efforts might include restrictions on anchorage location to reduce habituation by ensuring operators utilise more of the island, or reviewing current provisioning practices (i.e., type and quantity of provisioning) to better align with the natural diets of non-focal species. Alterations to pre-existing practices, does require prior assessment to ensure changes do not result in, or worsen effects on the non-focal individuals (i.e., ensure species are not dependent on provisioning). Future research understanding the daily energy expenditure of trevally would support modifications to provisioning, ensuring sufficient caloric value is supplied, mitigating potential negative impacts. In addition, understanding and identifying potential environmental impacts (i.e., eutrophication or repeated anchoring) on the benthic habitat should be prioritised by future research and policymakers. This may include determining concentrations of organic material in the sediment or impacts to the benthic environment, both of which would be alleviated through the proposed direct management efforts.



Figure 31. A. Proportion of total operating days from March 2020 to November 2023 when white sharks were sighted by sound-based (Adventure Bay Charters) and food-based (Calypso Star Charters; Rodney Fox Shark Expeditions) cagediving operators at the Neptune Islands, South Australia. **B.** Daily number of sharks sighted by sound-based and food-based cage-diving operators. Error bars indicate standard error.

6.6 Conclusions

This is the first study to comprehensively assess the impacts of wildlife tourism on a non-focal species. My thesis aimed to determine the effects of cage-diving on silver trevally by: 1) identifying the effects on movements, behaviour, and abundance of silver trevally (Chapters 2, 3 & 4); 2) revealing the impacts of provisioning on the physiology of silver trevally (Chapters 2 & 5); and 3) observing natural movements, behaviours, and physiological processes of silver trevally exposed to provisioning (Chapters 2, 4 & 5; Figure 32). Findings from this thesis provide a baseline for impacts of supplemental feeding on a nonfocal species. Despite the effects described in this thesis, exodus from the Neptune Islands during cold periods and the effect of temperature on population size indicates that silver trevally are still undergoing natural movements and behaviours triggered by temperature. I synthesised concepts of the Neptune Islands Group acting as an ecological haven for the silver trevally, which could potentially be leveraged to support at risk populations. Findings from this study were used to address knowledge gaps identified in the previous assessment of the sustainability and acceptability of white shark cage-diving industry, highlighting the importance of detailed understandings of both focal and non-focal species at tourism sites. Ultimately, consideration of non-focal species in tourism management is an essential component that continues to lack appropriate representation, underpinning any consideration of operations being labelled sustainable. Overall, my thesis comprehensively assess the ecology of silver trevally through a multidisciplinary approach, showing that small and non-focal species can be affected by provisioning, further highlighting the need for a more inclusive holistic ecosystem approach to wildlife research.



Figure 32. Thesis overall conclusion and outcomes with each chapter's contribution

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Abadi, F., Botha, A. & Altwegg, R. 2013. Revisiting the effect of capture heterogeneity on survival estimates in capture-mark-recapture studies: does it matter? *PloS one*, **8**, e62636.
- Abdul-Rahman, F. & Wright, S. E. 2014. Reduce, reuse, recycle: alternatives for waste management. NM State University, Cooperative Extension Service.
- Agyeiwaah, E., Mckercher, B. & Suntikul, W. 2017. Identifying core indicators of sustainable tourism: A path forward? *Tourism Management Perspectives*, 24, 26-33.
- Alava, J. J., Mcmullen, K., Jones, J., Barragán-Paladines, M. J., Hobbs, C., Tirape, A., Calle, P., Alarcon, D., Muñoz-Pérez, J. P. & Muñoz-Abril, L. 2023. Multiple anthropogenic stressors in the Galápagos Islands' complex social–ecological system: Interactions of marine pollution, fishing pressure, and climate change with management recommendations. *Integrated Environmental Assessment and Management*, 19, 870-895.
- Alexander, D. H., Novembre, J. & Lange, K. 2009. Fast model-based estimation of ancestry in unrelated individuals. *Genome research*, 19, 1655-1664.
- Alexander, H. M., Slade, N. A. & Kettle, W. D. 1997. Application of mark–recapture models to estimation of the population size of plants. *Ecology*, 78, 1230-1237.
- Allen, M. S. & Hightower, J. E. 2010. Fish population dynamics: mortality, growth, and recruitment. *Inland Fisheries Management in North America, 3rd edition. American Fisheries Society, Bethesda, Maryland*, 43-79.
- Alonso, R. S., Mcclintock, B. T., Lyren, L. M., Boydston, E. E. & Crooks, K. R. 2015. Mark-recapture and markresight methods for estimating abundance with remote cameras: a carnivore case study. *PloS one*, 10, e0123032.
- Altieri, A. H. & Diaz, R. J. 2019. Dead zones: oxygen depletion in coastal ecosystems. *World seas: An environmental evaluation.* Elsevier.
- Anders, N., Howarth, K., Totland, B., Handegard, N. O., Tenningen, M. & Breen, M. 2019. Effects on individual level behaviour in mackerel (*Scomber scombrus*) of sub-lethal capture related stressors: Crowding and hypoxia. *PLoS One*, 14, e0213709.
- Andersson, M. H. 2011. *Offshore wind farms ecological effects of noise and habitat alteration on fish.* Stockholm University.
- Apps, K., Dimmock, K. & Huveneers, C. 2018. Turning wildlife experiences into conservation action: Can white shark cage-dive tourism influence conservation behaviour? *Marine Policy*, 88, 108-115.
- Araujo, G., Labaja, J., Snow, S., Huveneers, C. & Ponzo, A. 2020. Changes in diving behaviour and habitat use of provisioned whale sharks: implications for management. *Scientific Reports*, 10, 16951.
- Armstrong, S. G., Wyllie, S. G. & Leach, D. N. 1994. Effects of season and location of catch on the fatty acid compositions of some Australian fish species. *Food Chemistry*, 51, 295-305.
- Bailey, L. A., Childs, A. R., James, N. C., Winkler, A. & Potts, W. M. 2022. Links between behaviour and metabolic physiology in fishes in the Anthropocene. *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries*, 32, 555-579.
- Bailey, S. A. 2015. An overview of thirty years of research on ballast water as a vector for aquatic invasive species to freshwater and marine environments. *Aquatic Ecosystem Health & Management*, 18, 261-268.
- Baker, J. 2004. Towards a system of ecologically representative Marine Protected Areas in South Australian marine bioregions - technical report. Prepared for Coast and Marine Conservation Branch, Department for Environment and Heritage, South Australia.
- Ballantyne, R., Packer, J. & Hughes, K. 2009. Tourists' support for conservation messages and sustainable management practices in wildlife tourism experiences. *Tourism management*, 30, 658-664.
- Bannister, R. J., Johnsen, I. A., Hansen, P. K., Kutti, T. & Asplin, L. 2016. Near-and far-field dispersal modelling of organic waste from Atlantic salmon aquaculture in fjord systems. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 73, 2408-2419.

- Barbraud, C., Bertrand, A., Bouchón, M., Chaigneau, A., Delord, K., Demarcq, H., Gimenez, O., Torero, M. G., Gutiérrez, D. & Oliveros-Ramos, R. 2018. Density dependence, prey accessibility and prey depletion by fisheries drive Peruvian seabird population dynamics. *Ecography*, 41, 1092-1102.
- Barnes, J., Burgess, J. & Pearce, D. 2019. Wildlife tourism. *Economics for the Wilds*. Routledge.
- Barnett, A., Abrantes, K. G., Seymour, J. & Fitzpatrick, R. 2012. Residency and spatial use by reef sharks of an isolated seamount and its implications for conservation. *PloS one*, 7, e36574.
- Barnett, A., Payne, N. L., Semmens, J. M. & Fitzpatrick, R. 2016. Ecotourism increases the field metabolic rate of whitetip reef sharks. *Biological Conservation*, 199, 132-136.
- Barrett, L. T., Swearer, S. E. & Dempster, T. 2019. Impacts of marine and freshwater aquaculture on wildlife: a global meta-analysis. *Reviews in Aquaculture*, 11, 1022-1044.
- Barry, C., Legaspi, C., Clarke, T. M., Araujo, G., Bradshaw, C. J., Gleiss, A. C., Meyer, L. & Huveneers, C. 2023. Estimating the energetic cost of whale shark tourism. *Biological Conservation*, 284, 110164.
- Barton, K. 2019. Package 'MuMIn'. *R package version*, 1, 439.
- Baskin, Y. 2006. Sea sickness: the upsurge in marine diseases. *BioScience*, 56, 464-469.
- Battin, J. 2004. When good animals love bad habitats: ecological traps and the conservation of animal populations. *Conservation Biology*, 18, 1482-1491.
- Bauer, S. & Hoye, B. J. 2014. Migratory animals couple biodiversity and ecosystem functioning worldwide. *Science*, 344, 1242552.
- Baum, J. K. & Worm, B. 2009. Cascading top-down effects of changing oceanic predator abundances. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 78, 699-714.
- Becker, D. J. & Hall, R. J. 2014. Too much of a good thing: resource provisioning alters infectious disease dynamics in wildlife. *Biology letters*, 10, 20140309.
- Becker, D. J., Streicker, D. G. & Altizer, S. 2015. Linking anthropogenic resources to wildlife–pathogen dynamics: a review and meta-analysis. *Ecology letters*, 18, 483-495.
- Beckmann, C. L., Durante, L. M., Graba-Landry, A., Stark, K. & Tracey, S. R. 2023. Survey of Recreational Fishing in South Australia in 2021-22. Report to PIRSA Fisheries and Aquaculture. South Australian Research and Development Institute (Aquatic Sciences), Adelaide. SARDI publication No. F2022/000385-1 SARDI Research Report Series No. 1161.
- Behringer, D. C., Wood, C. L., Krkošek, M. & Bushek, D. 2020. Disease in fisheries and aquaculture. *Marine Disease Ecology*, 183.
- Béné, C., Arthur, R., Norbury, H., Allison, E. H., Beveridge, M., Bush, S., Campling, L., Leschen, W., Little, D. & Squires, D. 2016. Contribution of fisheries and aquaculture to food security and poverty reduction: assessing the current evidence. *World development*, 79, 177-196.
- Bennett, N. J., Alava, J. J., Ferguson, C. E., Blythe, J., Morgera, E., Boyd, D. & Côté, I. M. 2023. Environmental (in) justice in the Anthropocene ocean. *Marine policy*, 147, 105383.
- Berg, H. S. F. 2019. *Estimation of discard of cod (Gadus morhua) in Norwegian gillnet fisheries.* Thesis submitted to the University of Bergen.
- Bergman, J. N., Buxton, R. T., Lin, H.-Y., Lenda, M., Attinello, K., Hajdasz, A. C., Rivest, S. A., Tran Nguyen, T., Cooke, S. J. & Bennett, J. R. 2022. Evaluating the benefits and risks of social media for wildlife conservation. *Facets*, 7, 360-397.
- Bernaldo De Quirós, Y., Fernandez, A., Baird, R., Brownell Jr, R., Aguilar De Soto, N., Allen, D., Arbelo, M.,
 Arregui, M., Costidis, A. & Fahlman, A. 2019. Advances in research on the impacts of anti-submarine sonar on beaked whales. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 286, 20182533.
- Beverton, R. J. & Holt, S. J. 1957. On the dynamics of exploited fish populations, fishery investigations series II volume XIX, Ministry of Agriculture. *Fisheries and Food*, 22.
- Bicknell, A. W., Oro, D., Camphuysen, K. & Votier, S. C. 2013. Potential consequences of discard reform for seabird communities. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 50, 649-658.
- Biebach, H., Falk, H. & Krebs, J. R. 1991. The effect of constant light and phase shifts on a learned timeplace association in garden warblers (*Sylvia borin*): hourglass or circadian clock? *Journal of Biological Rhythms*, 6, 353-365.
- Bird, T., Lyon, J., Nicol, S., Mccarthy, M. & Barker, R. 2014. Estimating population size in the presence of temporary migration using a joint analysis of telemetry and capture–recapture data. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 5, 615-625.
- Block, B. A., Dewar, H., Farwell, C. & Prince, E. D. 1998. A new satellite technology for tracking the movements of Atlantic bluefin tuna. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 95, 9384-9389.
- Boisclair, D. & Leggett, W. 1989. The importance of activity in bioenergetics models applied to actively foraging fishes. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 46, 1859-1867.
- Bollens, S. M., Rollwagen-Bollens, G., Quenette, J. A. & Bochdansky, A. B. 2011. Cascading migrations and implications for vertical fluxes in pelagic ecosystems. *Journal of Plankton Research*, 33, 349-355.
- Bowler, D. E. & Benton, T. G. 2005. Causes and consequences of animal dispersal strategies: relating individual behaviour to spatial dynamics. *Biological reviews of the Cambridge Philosophical Society*, 80, 205-25.
- Bowley, J., Baker-Austin, C., Porter, A., Hartnell, R. & Lewis, C. 2021. Oceanic hitchhikers–assessing pathogen risks from marine microplastic. *Trends in Microbiology*, 29, 107-116.
- Boyce, M. S., Johnson, C. J., Merrill, E. H., Nielsen, S. E., Solberg, E. J. & Van Moorter, B. 2016. Can habitat selection predict abundance? *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 85, 11-20.
- Boyd, C. E., Mcnevin, A. A. & Davis, R. P. 2022. The contribution of fisheries and aquaculture to the global protein supply. *Food Security*, 14, 805-827.
- Bradshaw, C. J., Mollet, H. F. & Meekan, M. G. 2007. Inferring population trends for the world's largest fish from mark–recapture estimates of survival. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 76, 480-489.
- Bravington, M. V., Grewe, P. M. & Davies, C. R. 2016. Absolute abundance of southern bluefin tuna estimated by close-kin mark-recapture. *Nature Communications*, **7**, 13162.
- Brookhouse, N., Bucher, D. J., Rose, K., Kerr, I. & Gudge, S. 2013. Impacts, risks and management of fish feeding at Neds Beach, Lord Howe Island Marine Park, Australia: a case study of how a seemingly innocuous activity can become a serious problem. *Journal of Ecotourism*, 12, 165-181.
- Brown, R. D. & Cooper, S. M. 2006. In my opinion: the nutritional, ecological, and ethical arguments against baiting and feeding white-tailed deer. *Wildlife Society Bulletin*, 34, 519-524.
- Bruce, B. D. & Bradford, R. W. 2013. The effects of shark cage-diving operations on the behaviour and movements of white sharks, *Carcharodon carcharias*, at the Neptune Islands, South Australia. *Marine Biology*, 160, 889-907.
- Brunnschweiler, J., Payne, N. & Barnett, A. 2018. Hand feeding can periodically fuel a major portion of bull shark energy requirements at a provisioning site in Fiji. *Animal Conservation*, 21, 31-35.
- Brunnschweiler, J. M., Abrantes, K. G. & Barnett, A. 2014. Long-term changes in species composition and relative abundances of sharks at a provisioning site. *PLoS One*, 9, e86682.
- Brunnschweiler, J. M. & Barnett, A. 2013. Opportunistic visitors: long-term behavioural response of bull sharks to food provisioning in Fiji. *PLoS One*, *8*, e58522.
- Buckley, R. 2009. Evaluating the net effects of ecotourism on the environment: a framework, first assessment and future research. *Journal of Sustainable Tourism*, **17**, 643-672.
- Burnham, K. P. & Anderson, D. R. 2002. *Model selection and multimodel inference: A practical informationtheoretic approach,* New York, Springer-Verlag.
- Burnham, K. P. & Anderson, D. R. 2004. Multimodel inference understanding AIC and BIC in model selection. *Sociological Methods & Research*, 33, 261-304.
- Burt, S. A., Vos, C. J., Buijs, J. A. & Corbee, R. J. 2021. Nutritional implications of feeding free-living birds in public urban areas. *Journal of Animal Physiology and Animal Nutrition*, 105, 385-393.
- Buschmann, A. H., Cabello, F., Young, K., Carvajal, J., Varela, D. A. & Henríquez, L. 2009. Salmon aquaculture and coastal ecosystem health in Chile: analysis of regulations, environmental impacts and bioremediation systems. *Ocean & Coastal management*, 52, 243-249.
- Callier, M. D., Byron, C. J., Bengtson, D. A., Cranford, P. J., Cross, S. F., Focken, U., Jansen, H. M., Kamermans, P., Kiessling, A. & Landry, T. 2018. Attraction and repulsion of mobile wild organisms to finfish and shellfish aquaculture: a review. *Reviews in Aquaculture*, 10, 924-949.
- Campbell, H. A., Watts, M. E., Dwyer, R. G. & Franklin, C. E. 2012. V-Track: software for analysing and visualising animal movement from acoustic telemetry detections. *Marine and Freshwater Research*, 63, 815-820.
- Carlisle, A. B., Tickler, D., Dale, J. J., Ferretti, F., Curnick, D. J., Chapple, T. K., Schallert, R. J., Castleton, M. & Block, B. A. 2019. Estimating Space Use of Mobile Fishes in a Large Marine Protected Area With Methodological Considerations in Acoustic Array Design. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 6, 256.

- Cattano, C., Claudet, J., Domenici, P. & Milazzo, M. 2018. Living in a high CO2 world: A global meta-analysis shows multiple trait-mediated fish responses to ocean acidification. *Ecological Monographs*, 88, 320-335.
- Chabot, D., Steffensen, J. & Farrell, A. 2016. The determination of standard metabolic rate in fishes. *Journal* of Fish Biology, 88, 81-121.
- Challenger, W., English, K. K., Robichaud, D. & Nelson, T. C. 2019. Status of White Sturgeon in the Lower Fraser River in 2018 Derived Using an Integrated Spatial and Age Mark Recapture (ISAMR) Model.
- Champion, C., Hobday, A. J., Pecl, G. T. & Tracey, S. R. 2020. Oceanographic habitat suitability is positively correlated with the body condition of a coastal-pelagic fish. *Fisheries Oceanography*, 29, 100-110.
- Champion, C., Hobday, A. J., Tracey, S. R. & Pecl, G. T. 2018a. Rapid shifts in distribution and high-latitude persistence of oceanographic habitat revealed using citizen science data from a climate change hotspot. *Global Change Biology*, 24, 5440-5453.
- Champion, C., Hobday, A. J., Zhang, X., Pecl, G. T. & Tracey, S. R. 2018b. Changing windows of opportunity: past and future climate-driven shifts in temporal persistence of kingfish (*Seriola lalandi*) oceanographic habitat within south-eastern Australian bioregions. *Marine and Freshwater Research*, -.
- Chapman, R. & Jones, D. N. 2009. Just feeding the ducks: quantifying a common wildlife-human interaction. *The Sunbird*, 39, 19-28.
- Choi, A., Lee, T. K., Cho, H., Lee, W.-C. & Hyun, J.-H. 2022a. Shifts in benthic bacterial communities associated with farming stages and a microbiological proxy for assessing sulfidic sediment conditions at fish farms. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 178, 113603.
- Choi, A. Y., Lee, T. K., Cho, H., Lee, W.-C. & Hyun, J.-H. Effects of Fish Farming on Benthic Bacterial Communities and Sediment Biogeochemistry: A Study on Microbiological Proxies for Environmental Assessment. The 12th Asian Symposium on Microbial Ecology, 2022b.
- Chow, C. K. 2007. Fatty acids in foods and their health implications, CRC press.
- Claassens, L. & Harasti, D. 2020. Life history and population dynamics of an endangered seahorse (*Hippocampus capensis*) within an artificial habitat. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 97, 974-986.
- Clarke, A. & Johnston, N. M. 1999. Scaling of metabolic rate with body mass and temperature in teleost fish. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 68, 893-905.
- Clarke, C., Lea, J. & Ormond, R. F. 2013. Changing relative abundance and behaviour of silky and grey reef sharks baited over 12 years on a Red Sea reef. *Marine & Freshwater Research*, 64, 909-919.
- Clarke, T. M., Whitmarsh, S. K., Champion, C., Pederson, H., Meyer, L., Dennis, J. D., Dwyer, R. G. & Huveneers, C. 2023. Influence of shark tourism on the activity and physiological condition of a nonfocal pelagic fish. *ICES journal of Marine Science*, fsad093.
- Clarke, T. M., Whitmarsh, S. K., Dwyer, R. G., Udyawer, V., Pederson, H. & Huveneers, C. 2022. Effects of shark tourism on the daily residency and movements of a non-focal pelagic teleost. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 687, 133-+.
- Clementi, G. M., Babcock, E. A., Valentin-Albanese, J., Bond, M. E., Flowers, K. I., Heithaus, M. R., Whitman, E. R., Bergmann, M. P. V. Z., Guttridge, T. L. & Shea, O. R. 2021. Anthropogenic pressures on reefassociated sharks in jurisdictions with and without directed shark fishing. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 661, 175-186.
- Collie, J., Hiddink, J. G., Van Kooten, T., Rijnsdorp, A. D., Kaiser, M. J., Jennings, S. & Hilborn, R. 2017. Indirect effects of bottom fishing on the productivity of marine fish. *Fish and Fisheries*, 18, 619-637.
- Connolly, R., Jinks, K., Shand, A., Taylor, M., Gaston, T., Becker, A. & Jinks, E. 2023. Out of the shadows: Automatic fish detection from acoustic cameras. *Aquatic Ecology*, 57, 833-844.
- Conover, M. R. & Conover, D. O. 2022. Human-wildlife interactions: from conflict to coexistence.
- Cooke, S. J., Twardek, W. M., Reid, A. J., Lennox, R. J., Danylchuk, S. C., Brownscombe, J. W., Bower, S. D., Arlinghaus, R., Hyder, K. & Danylchuk, A. J. 2019. Searching for responsible and sustainable recreational fisheries in the Anthropocene. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 94, 845-856.
- Cooper, N. W., Sherry, T. W. & Marra, P. P. 2014. Modeling three-dimensional space use and overlap in birds. *The Auk: Ornithological Advances*, 131, 681-693.
- Cooper, S. M. & Ginnett, T. F. 2000. Potential effects of supplemental feeding of deer on nest predation. *Wildlife Society Bulletin*, 660-666.

- Corcoran, M. J., Wetherbee, B. M., Shivji, M. S., Potenski, M. D., Chapman, D. D. & Harvey, G. M. 2013. Supplemental feeding for ecotourism reverses diel activity and alters movement patterns and spatial distribution of the southern stingray, *Dasyatis americana*. *PLoS One*, 8, e59235.
- Corradini, A., Peters, W., Pedrotti, L., Hebblewhite, M., Bragalanti, N., Tattoni, C., Ciolli, M. & Cagnacci, F.
 2021. Animal movements occurring during COVID-19 lockdown were predicted by connectivity models. *Global Ecology and Conservation*, 32, e01895.
- Cowey, C. & Sargent, J. 1972. Fish nutrition. *Advances in Marine Biology*. Elsevier.
- Cox, D. T. & Gaston, K. J. 2018. Human–nature interactions and the consequences and drivers of provisioning wildlife. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society: Biological Sciences*, 373, 20170092.
- Cox, K. W. & Heintz, R. 2009. Electrical phase angle as a new method to measure fish condition. *Fishery Bulletin*.
- Cox, M., Heintz, R. & Hartman, K. 2011. Measurements of resistance and reactance in fish with the use of bioelectrical impedance analysis: sources of error. *Fishery Bulletin*.
- Curtin, S. & Kragh, G. 2014. Wildlife tourism: Reconnecting people with nature. *Human Dimensions of Wildlife*, 19, 545-554.
- Cury, P. & Shannon, L. 2004. Regime shifts in upwelling ecosystems: observed changes and possible mechanisms in the northern and southern Benguela. *Progress in Oceanography*, 60, 223-243.
- Dagorn, L., Holland, K. N. & Filmalter, J. 2010. Are drifting FADs essential for testing the ecological trap hypothesis? *Fisheries Research*, 106, 60-63.
- Dagorn, L., Holland, K. N., Restrepo, V. & Moreno, G. 2013. Is it good or bad to fish with FAD s? What are the real impacts of the use of drifting FAD s on pelagic marine ecosystems? *Fish and Fisheries*, 14, 391-415.
- Dayer, A. A., Rosenblatt, C., Bonter, D. N., Faulkner, H., Hall, R. J., Hochachka, W. M., Phillips, T. B. & Hawley, D. M. 2019. Observations at backyard bird feeders influence the emotions and actions of people that feed birds. *People and Nature*, 1, 138-151.
- De Souza, A. F. L., Petenuci, M. E., Camparim, R., Visentainer, J. V. & Da Silva, A. J. I. 2020. Effect of seasonal variations on fatty acid composition and nutritional profiles of siluriformes fish species from the amazon basin. *Food Research International*, 132, 109051.
- Defeo, O. & Elliott, M. 2021. The 'triple whammy' of coasts under threat–Why we should be worried! *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 163.
- Dennis, J. D., Grammer, G., Ward, T., Smart, J. & Huveneers, C. 2021. Using otolith chronologies to identify extrinsic drivers of growth of 2 commercially targeted small pelagic fish species. *Fishery Bulletin*, 119.
- Depestele, J., Feekings, J., Reid, D. G., Cook, R., Gascuel, D., Girardin, R., Heath, M., Hernvann, P.-Y., Morato, T. & Soszynski, A. 2019. The impact of fisheries discards on scavengers in the sea. *The European Landing Obligation*, 129.
- Dettloff, K. 2023. Assessment of bias and precision among simple closed population mark-recapture estimators. *Fisheries Research*, 265, 106756.
- Dew 2016. South Australian White Shark Tour Licensing Policy.
- Dewnr 2012. Neptune Islands group (Ron and Valerie Taylor) Marine Park, Management Plan 2012.
- Díaz, S., Settele, J., Brondízio, E. S., Ngo, H. T., Agard, J., Arneth, A., Balvanera, P., Brauman, K. A., Butchart, S. H. & Chan, K. M. 2019. Pervasive human-driven decline of life on Earth points to the need for transformative change. *Science*, 366, eaax3100.
- Dimmlich, W., Breed, W., Geddes, M. & Ward, T. 2004. Relative importance of gulf and shelf waters for spawning and recruitment of Australian anchovy, *Engraulis australis*, in South Australia. *Fisheries Oceanography*, 13, 310-323.
- Ditria, E. M., Lopez-Marcano, S., Sievers, M., Jinks, E. L., Brown, C. J. & Connolly, R. M. 2020. Automating the analysis of fish abundance using object detection: optimizing animal ecology with deep learning. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, **7**, 429.
- Ditton, R. B., Holland, S. M. & Anderson, D. K. 2002. Recreational fishing as tourism. *Fisheries*, 27, 17-24.
- Donalty, S., Henke, S. E. & Kerr, C. L. 2003. Use of winter food plots by nongame wildlife species. *Wildlife Society Bulletin*, 774-778.

- Doney, S. C., Busch, D. S., Cooley, S. R. & Kroeker, K. J. 2020. The impacts of ocean acidification on marine ecosystems and reliant human communities. *Annual Review of Environment and Resources*, 45, 83-112.
- Doubleday, Z. A., Jones, A. R., Deveney, M. R., Ward, T. M. & Gillanders, B. M. 2017. Eight habitats, 38 threats and 55 experts: Assessing ecological risk in a multi-use marine region. *PloS One*, 12, e0177393.
- Drew, J. A. & Mckeon, M. 2019. Shark-based tourism presents opportunities for facultative dietary shift in coral reef fish. *Plos One*, 14, e0221781.
- Drew, M., Rogers, T., Mcgarvey, R., Feenstra, J., Matthews, D., Matthews, J., Earl, J., Smart, J., Noell, C. & Fowler, A. 2022. Snapper (*Chrysophrys auratus*) Stock Assessment Report 2022. Report to PIRSA Fisheries and Aquaculture. South Australian Research and Development Institute (Aquatic Sciences), Adelaide. SARDI publication No. F2007/000523-7 SARDI Research Report Series No. 1155. 178pp.
- Duarte, C. M., Chapuis, L., Collin, S. P., Costa, D. P., Devassy, R. P., Eguiluz, V. M., Erbe, C., Gordon, T. A., Halpern, B. S. & Harding, H. R. 2021. The soundscape of the Anthropocene ocean. *Science*, 371, eaba4658.
- Dubois, S. & Fraser, D. 2013. A framework to evaluate wildlife feeding in research, wildlife management, tourism and recreation. *Animals*, **3**, 978-994.
- Dudgeon, C. L., Pollock, K. H., Braccini, J. M., Semmens, J. M. & Barnett, A. 2015. Integrating acoustic telemetry into mark–recapture models to improve the precision of apparent survival and abundance estimates. *Oecologia*, 178, 761-772.
- Duncan, M. I., Bates, A. E., James, N. C. & Potts, W. M. 2019. Exploitation may influence the climate resilience of fish populations through removing high performance metabolic phenotypes. *Scientific Reports*, 9, 11437.
- Ellis, D. & Kiessling, I. 2016. Ranching of southern bluefin tuna in Australia. *Advances in Tuna Aquaculture*. Elsevier.
- Ellis, E. C. 2011. Anthropogenic transformation of the terrestrial biosphere. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences,* 369, 1010-1035.
- Elsdon, T. S., Wells, B. K., Campana, S. E., Gillanders, B. M., Jones, C. M., Limburg, K. E., Secor, D. H., Thorrold, S. R. & Walther, B. D. 2008. Otolith chemistry to describe movements and life-history parameters of fishes: hypotheses, assumptions, limitations and inferences. *Oceanography and Marine Biology: an annual review*, 46, 297-330.
- Elvines, D. M., Macleod, C. K., Ross, D. J., Hopkins, G. A. & White, C. A. 2023. Fate and effects of fish farm organic waste in marine systems: Advances in understanding using biochemical approaches with implications for environmental management. *Reviews in Aquaculture*.
- Erbe, C., Marley, S. A., Schoeman, R. P., Smith, J. N., Trigg, L. E. & Embling, C. B. 2019. The effects of ship noise on marine mammals—A review. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 6, 606.
- Erbe, C. & Mcpherson, C. 2017. Underwater noise from geotechnical drilling and standard penetration testing. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, 142, EL281-EL285.
- Ern, R., Norin, T., Gamperl, A. K. & Esbaugh, A. J. 2016. Oxygen dependence of upper thermal limits in fishes. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 219, 3376-3383.
- Espinoza, M., Farrugia, T. J., Webber, D. M., Smith, F. & Lowe, C. G. 2011. Testing a new acoustic telemetry technique to quantify long-term, fine-scale movements of aquatic animals. *Fisheries Research*, 108, 364-371.
- Ewen, J. G., Walker, L., Canessa, S. & Groombridge, J. J. 2015. Improving supplementary feeding in species conservation. *Conservation Biology*, 29, 341-349.
- Fairclough, D., Potter, I., Lek, E., Bivoltsis, A. & Babcock, R. 2011. The fish communities and main fish populations of the Jurien Bay Marine Park.
- Fao 2022. The State of World Fisheries and Aquaculture 2022. Towards Blue Transformation. Rome: FAO.
- Farmaki, E. G., Thomaidis, N. S., Pasias, I. N., Baulard, C., Papaharisis, L. & Efstathiou, C. E. 2014.
 Environmental impact of intensive aquaculture: Investigation on the accumulation of metals and nutrients in marine sediments of Greece. *Science of the Total Environment*, 485, 554-562.
- Farmer, B., French, D., Potter, I., Hesp, S. & Hall, N. 2005. Determination of the biological parameters for managing the fisheries for Mulloway and Silver Trevally in Western Australia.

- Felsing, M., Glencross, B. & Telfer, T. 2005. Preliminary study on the effects of exclusion of wild fauna from aquaculture cages in a shallow marine environment. *Aquaculture*, 243, 159-174.
- Fernandez-Jover, D., Arechavala-Lopez, P., Martinez-Rubio, L., Tocher, D. R., Bayle-Sempere, J. T., Lopez-Jimenez, J. A., Martinez-Lopez, F. J. & Sanchez-Jerez, P. 2011. Monitoring the influence of marine aquaculture on wild fish communities: benefits and limitations of fatty acid profiles. *Aquaculture Environment Interactions*, 2, 39-47.
- Findlay, D. L., Podemski, C. L. & Kasian, S. E. 2009. Aquaculture impacts on the algal and bacterial communities in a small boreal forest lake. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 66, 1936-1948.
- Fitzpatrick, R., Abrantes, K. G., Seymour, J. & Barnett, A. 2011. Variation in depth of whitetip reef sharks: does provisioning ecotourism change their behaviour? *Coral Reefs*, 30, 569-577.
- Fordham, B. S. & Trippel, E. 1999. Feeding behaviour of cod (*Gadus morhua*) in relation to spawning. Journal of Applied Ichthyology, 15, 1-9.
- Forrester, G. E. & Steele, M. A. 2004. Predators, prey refuges, and the spatial scaling of density-dependent prey mortality. *Ecology*, 85, 1332-1342.
- Fowler, A. M., Chick, R. C. & Stewart, J. 2018. Patterns and drivers of movement for a coastal benthopelagic fish, *Pseudocaranx georgianus*, on Australia's southeast coast. *Scientific Reports*, 8, 16738.
- Fowler, A. M., Dowling, N. A., Lyle, J. M., Alós, J., Anderson, L. E., Cooke, S. J., Danylchuk, A. J., Ferter, K., Folpp, H. & Hutt, C. 2023. Toward sustainable harvest strategies for marine fisheries that include recreational fishing. *Fish and Fisheries*.
- Freeman, A. 2006. Size-dependent trait-mediated indirect interactions among sea urchin herbivores. *Behavioral Ecology*, 17, 182-187.
- French, B., Platell, M. E., Clarke, K. R. & Potter, I. C. 2012. Ranking of length-class, seasonal and regional effects on dietary compositions of the co-occurring *Pagrus auratus* (Sparidae) and *Pseudocaranx georgianus* (Carangidae). *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science*, 115, 309-325.
- French, B., Potter, I. C., Platell, M. & Clarke, K. 2013. Determination of the diets of Snapper and Silver Trevally and construction of a food web for the demersal fish community in south-western Australia.
- Froese, R., Thorson, J. T. & Reyes Jr, R. 2014. A Bayesian approach for estimating length-weight relationships in fishes. *Journal of Applied Ichthyology*, 30, 78-85.
- Gallagher, A. J. & Huveneers, C. P. M. 2018. Emerging challenges to shark-diving tourism. *Marine Policy*, 96, 9-12.
- Gallagher, A. J., Vianna, G. M. S., Papastamatiou, Y. P., Macdonald, C., Guttridge, T. L. & Hammerschlag, N.
 2015. Biological effects, conservation potential, and research priorities of shark diving tourism.
 Biological Conservation, 184, 365-379.
- Gaston, A. T., Gilchrist, H. G., Mallory, M. L. & Smith, P. A. 2009. Changes in Seasonal Events, Peak Food Availability, and Consequent Breeding Adjustment in a Marine Bird: A Case of Progressive Mismatching. *Condor*, 111, 111-119.
- Gervais, C. R., Champion, C. & Pecl, G. T. 2021. Species on the move around the Australian coastline: A continental-scale review of climate-driven species redistribution in marine systems. *Global Change Biology*, 27, 3200-3217.
- Gillanders, B. M. 2002. Connectivity between juvenile and adult fish populations: do adults remain near their recruitment estuaries? *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 240, 215-223.
- Gillanders, B. M. 2005. Using elemental chemistry of fish otoliths to determine connectivity between estuarine and coastal habitats. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science,* 64, 47-57.
- Gillanders, B. M., Izzo, C., Doubleday, Z. A. & Ye, Q. 2015. Partial migration: growth varies between resident and migratory fish. *Biology Letters*, 11, 20140850.
- Gilman, E., Roda, A. P., Huntington, T., Kennelly, S., Suuronen, P., Chaloupka, M. & Medley, P. 2020. Benchmarking global fisheries discards. *Scientific Reports*, 10, 1-8.
- Goldsworthy, S. D., Page, B., Rogers, P. J., Bulman, C., Wiebkin, A., Mcleay, L. J., Einoder, L., Baylis, A. M., Braley, M. & Caines, R. 2013. Trophodynamics of the eastern Great Australian Bight ecosystem: Ecological change associated with the growth of Australia's largest fishery. *Ecological Modelling*, 255, 38-57.

- Golet, W. J., Cooper, A. B., Campbell, R. & Lutcavage, M. 2007. Decline in condition of northern bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*) in the Gulf of Maine. *Fishery Bulletin*, 105, 390-395.
- Gomon, M. F., Bray, D. J. & Kuiter, R. H. 2008. *Fishes of Australia's southern coast*, New Holland Chatswood, Australia.
- González-Gaya, B., García-Bueno, N., Buelow, E., Marin, A. & Rico, A. 2022. Effects of aquaculture waste feeds and antibiotics on marine benthic ecosystems in the Mediterranean Sea. *Science of The Total Environment*, 806, 151190.
- Green, R. J. & Higginbottom, K. 2000. The effects of non-consumptive wildlife tourism on free-ranging wildlife: a review. *Pacific Conservation Biology*, 6, 183-197.
- Grossman, G. D. & Simon, T. N. 2020. Density-dependent effects on salmonid populations: A review. *Ecology of Freshwater Fish*, 29, 400-418.
- Guerra, A. S., Kao, A. B., Mccauley, D. J. & Berdahl, A. M. 2020. Fisheries-induced selection against schooling behaviour in marine fishes. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 287, 20201752.
- Häder, D.-P., Banaszak, A. T., Villafañe, V. E., Narvarte, M. A., González, R. A. & Helbling, E. W. 2020.
 Anthropogenic pollution of aquatic ecosystems: Emerging problems with global implications.
 Science of the Total Environment, 713, 136586.
- Hale, R., Blumstein, D. T., Mac Nally, R. & Swearer, S. E. 2020. Harnessing knowledge of animal behavior to improve habitat restoration outcomes. *Ecosphere*, 11, e03104.
- Hale, R. & Swearer, S. E. 2016. Ecological traps: current evidence and future directions. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 283, 20152647.
- Halpern, B. S., Frazier, M., Potapenko, J., Casey, K. S., Koenig, K., Longo, C., Lowndes, J. S., Rockwood, R. C., Selig, E. R. & Selkoe, K. A. 2015. Spatial and temporal changes in cumulative human impacts on the world's ocean. *Nature Communications*, 6, 1-7.
- Hamilton, A. M., Freedman, A. H. & Franz, R. 2002. Effects of deer feeders, habitat and sensory cues on predation rates on artificial turtle nests. *The American Midland Naturalist*, 147, 123-134.
- Hammond, P. S. 2009. Mark-recapture. Encyclopedia of Marine Mammals. Elsevier.
- Hansen, M. F., Kaburu, S. S., Morrow, K. S. & Maréchal, L. 2023. Primate Tourism. *Primates in Anthropogenic Landscapes: Exploring Primate Behavioural Flexibility Across Human Contexts.* Springer.
- Hansen, M. J., Boisclair, D., Brandt, S. B., Hewett, S. W., Kitchell, J. F., Lucas, M. C. & Ney, J. J. 1993.
 Applications of bioenergetics models to fish ecology and management: where do we go from here? *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society*, 122, 1019-1030.
- Hardy, R. W. & Kaushik, S. J. 2021. Fish nutrition, Academic press.
- Hargrave, B., Phillips, G., Doucette, L., White, M., Milligan, T., Wildish, D. & Cranston, R. Assessing benthic impacts of organic enrichment from marine aquaculture. The Interactions Between Sediments and Water: Proceedings of the 7th International Symposium, Baveno, Italy 22–25 September 1996, 1997. Springer, 641-650.
- Harry, A., Smart, J. & Pardo, S. 2022. Understanding the age and growth of Chondrichthyan fishes. *Biology* of Sharks and Their Relatives, 177-202.
- Hart, A. M., Murphy, D., Hesp, S. A. & Leporati, S. 2019. Biomass estimates and harvest strategies for the Western Australian Octopus *aff. tetricus* fishery. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, **76**, 2205-2217.
- Hartman, K. J., Margraf, F. J., Hafs, A. W. & Cox, M. K. 2015. Bioelectrical impedance analysis: a new tool for assessing fish condition. *Fisheries*, 40, 590-600.
- Haviland-Howell, G., Frankel, A. S., Powell, C. M., Bocconcelli, A., Herman, R. L. & Sayigh, L. S. 2007.
 Recreational boating traffic: a chronic source of anthropogenic noise in the Wilmington, North Carolina Intracoastal Waterway. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, 122, 151-160.
- Haxton, T. J. & Friday, M. J. 2019. Are we overestimating recovery of sturgeon populations using mark/recapture surveys? *Journal of Applied Ichthyology*, 35, 336-343.
- He, Q. & Silliman, B. R. 2019. Climate change, human impacts, and coastal ecosystems in the Anthropocene. *Current Biology*, 29, R1021-R1035.
- Healy, T. J., Hill, N. J., Barnett, A. & Chin, A. 2020. A global review of elasmobranch tourism activities, management and risk. *Marine Policy*, 118, 103964.
- Heard, D. C. & Zimmerman, K. L. 2021. Fall supplemental feeding increases population growth rate of an endangered caribou herd. *PeerJ*, 9, e10708.

- Hedley, S. L. & Buckland, S. T. 2004. Spatial models for line transect sampling. *Journal of Agricultural, Biological, and Environmental Statistics,* 9, 181.
- Heino, M. & Godø, O. R. 2002. Fisheries-induced selection pressures in the context of sustainable fisheries. *Bulletin of Marine Science*, 70, 639-656.
- Heinrich, D., Dhellemmes, F., Guttridge, T. L., Smukall, M., Brown, C., Rummer, J., Gruber, S. & Huveneers, C. 2021. Short-term impacts of daily feeding on the residency, distribution and energy expenditure of sharks. *Animal Behaviour*, 172, 55-71.
- Henchion, M., Hayes, M., Mullen, A. M., Fenelon, M. & Tiwari, B. 2017. Future protein supply and demand: strategies and factors influencing a sustainable equilibrium. *Foods*, 6, 53.
- Herath, S. S. & Satoh, S. 2022. Environmental impacts of nitrogen and phosphorus from aquaculture. *Feed and Feeding Practices in Aquaculture*. Elsevier.
- Heupel, M. R. & Hueter, R. E. 2002. Importance of prey density in relation to the movement patterns of juvenile blacktip sharks (*Carcharhinus limbatus*) within a coastal nursery area. *Marine and Freshwater Research*, 53, 543-550.
- Hiddink, J. G., Mackenzie, B. R., Rijnsdorp, A., Dulvy, N., Nielsen, E. E., Bekkevold, D., Heino, M., Lorance, P.
 & Ojaveer, H. 2008. Importance of fish biodiversity for the management of fisheries and ecosystems. *Fisheries Research*, 90, 6-8.
- Higginbottom, K., Green, R. & Northrope, C. 2003. A framework for managing the negative impacts of wildlife tourism on wildlife. *Human Dimensions of Wildlife*, 8, 1-24.
- Higginbottom, K. & Tribe, A. 2004. Contributions of wildlife tourism to conservation. *Wildlife Tourism: Impacts, Management and Planning*, 99-123.
- Hijmans, R. J., Williams, E., Vennes, C. & Hijmans, M. R. J. 2017. Package 'geosphere'. *Spherical Trigonometry*, **1**, 1-45.
- Hildebrand, J. A. 2009. Anthropogenic and natural sources of ambient noise in the ocean. *Marine Ecology Progress Series,* 395, 5-20.
- Hines, K. N. 2011. Effects of ecotourism on endangered northern Bahamian Rock Iguanas (*Cyclura cychlura*). *Herpetological Conservation and Biology*, 6, 250-259.
- Hixon, M. A., Pacala, S. W. & Sandin, S. A. 2002. Population regulation: historical context and contemporary challenges of open vs. closed systems. *Ecology*, 83, 1490-1508.
- Hoffmann, A. A., Rymer, P. D., Byrne, M., Ruthrof, K. X., Whinam, J., Mcgeoch, M., Bergstrom, D. M., Guerin, G. R., Sparrow, B. & Joseph, L. 2019. Impacts of recent climate change on terrestrial flora and fauna: Some emerging Australian examples. *Austral Ecology*, 44, 3-27.
- Holmlund, C. M. & Hammer, M. 1999. Ecosystem services generated by fish populations. *Ecological Economics*, 29, 253-268.
- Hradsky, B. A., Robley, A., Alexander, R., Ritchie, E. G., York, A. & Di Stefano, J. 2017. Human-modified habitats facilitate forest-dwelling populations of an invasive predator, *Vulpes vulpes*. *Scientific Reports*, 7, 12291.
- Huang, A. C., Nelson, C., Elliott, J. E., Guertin, D. A., Ritland, C., Drouillard, K., Cheng, K. M. & Schwantje, H.
 M. 2018. River otters (*Lontra canadensis*)"trapped" in a coastal environment contaminated with persistent organic pollutants: demographic and physiological consequences. *Environmental Pollution*, 238, 306-316.
- Huijbers, C. M., Nagelkerken, I., Lössbroek, P. A., Schulten, I. E., Siegenthaler, A., Holderied, M. W. & Simpson, S. D. 2012. A test of the senses: fish select novel habitats by responding to multiple cues. *Ecology*, 93, 46-55.
- Hussey, N. E., Kessel, S. T., Aarestrup, K., Cooke, S. J., Cowley, P. D., Fisk, A. T., Harcourt, R. G., Holland, K.
 N., Iverson, S. J., Kocik, J. F., Mills Flemming, J. E. & Whoriskey, F. G. 2015. ECOLOGY. Aquatic animal telemetry: A panoramic window into the underwater world. *Science*, 348, 1255642.
- Huveneers, C., Jaine, F. R. A., Barnett, A., Butcher, P. A., Clarke, T. M., Currey-Randall, L. M., Dwyer, R. G., Ferreira, L. C., Gleiss, A. C., Hoenner, X., Ierodiaconou, D., Ledee, E. J. I., Meekan, M. G., Pederson, H., Rizzari, J. R., Van Ruth, P. D., Semmens, J. M., Taylor, M. D., Udyawer, V., Walsh, P., Heupel, M. R. & Harcourt, R. 2021. The power of national acoustic tracking networks to assess the impacts of human activity on marine organisms during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Biological Conservation*, 256, 108995.

- Huveneers, C. & Lloyd, M. 2017. Residency of white sharks, *Carcharodon carcharias*, at the Neptune Islands Group Marine Park (2016-17). *Report to the Department of the Environment, Water and Natural Resources. Adelaide, South Australia, Flinders University.*
- Huveneers, C., Meekan, M. G., Apps, K., Ferreira, L. C., Pannell, D. & Vianna, G. M. 2017a. The economic value of shark-diving tourism in Australia. *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries*, 27, 665-680.
- Huveneers, C., Meekan, M. G., Apps, K., Ferreira, L. C., Pannell, D. & Vianna, G. M. S. 2017b. The economic value of shark-diving tourism in Australia. *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries*, 27, 665-680.
- Huveneers, C., Rogers, P. J., Beckmann, C., Semmens, J. M., Bruce, B. D. & Seuront, L. 2013. The effects of cage-diving activities on the fine-scale swimming behaviour and space use of white sharks. *Marine Biology*, 160, 2863-2875.
- Huveneers, C., Watanabe, Y. Y., Payne, N. L. & Semmens, J. M. 2018a. Interacting with wildlife tourism increases activity of white sharks. *Conservation Physiology*, 6, 19.
- Huveneers, C., Whitmarsh, S., Thiele, M., Meyer, L., Fox, A. & Bradshaw, C. J. 2018b. Effectiveness of five personal shark-bite deterrents for surfers. *PeerJ*, 6, e5554.
- Ignatius, S. & Haapasaari, P. 2018. Justification theory for the analysis of the socio-cultural value of fish and fisheries: The case of Baltic salmon. *Marine Policy*, 88, 167-173.
- Insight, F. M. 2022. *Wildlife Tourism Market Snapshot (2022-2032)* [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.futuremarketinsights.com/reports/wildlife-tourism-sector-outlook-and-analysis#</u> [Accessed 10/02/2023 2023].
- Inslerman, R., Miller, J., Baker, D., Kennamer, J., Cumberland, R., Stinson, E., Doerr, P. & Williamson, S. 2006. Baiting and supplemental feeding of game wildlife species. *The Wildlife Society Technical Reviews*, 06-1.
- James, G. 1984. *Trevally, Caranx georgianus Cuvier: age determination, population biology and the fishery,* Fisheries Research Division, New Zealand Ministry of Agriculture and Fisheries.
- Jennings, S. & Kaiser, M. J. 1998. The effects of fishing on marine ecosystems. *Advances in Marine Biology*. Elsevier.
- Jensen, A. L. M., Delfour, F. & Carter, T. 2013. Anticipatory behavior in captive bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*): A preliminary study. *Zoo Biology*, 32, 436-444.
- Johnson, G. C. & Lyman, J. M. 2020. Warming trends increasingly dominate global ocean. *Nature Climate Change*, 10, 757-761.
- Johnson, H. E., Scott Mills, L., Wehausen, J. D. & Stephenson, T. R. 2010. Combining ground count, telemetry, and mark–resight data to infer population dynamics in an endangered species. *Journal* of Applied Ecology, 47, 1083-1093.
- Johnson, K. F., Monnahan, C. C., Mcgilliard, C. R., Vert-Pre, K. A., Anderson, S. C., Cunningham, C. J., Hurtado-Ferro, F., Licandeo, R. R., Muradian, M. L. & Ono, K. 2015. Time-varying natural mortality in fisheries stock assessment models: identifying a default approach. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 72, 137-150.
- Jolly, G. M. 1965. Explicit estimates from capture-recapture data with both death and immigrationstochastic model. *Biometrika*, 52, 225-247.
- Jombart, T. & Ahmed, I. 2011. adegenet 1.3-1: new tools for the analysis of genome-wide SNP data. *Bioinformatics*, 27, 3070-3071.
- Jones, C. G., Heck, W., Lewis, R. E., Mungroo, Y., Slade, G. & Cade, T. 1995. The restoration of the Mauritius kestrel *Falco punctatus* population. *Ibis*, 137, S173-S180.
- Judge, J., Wilson, G. J., Macarthur, R., Mcdonald, R. A. & Delahay, R. J. 2017. Abundance of badgers (*Meles meles*) in England and Wales. *Scientific Reports*, **7**, 1-8.
- Juntti, S. A. & Fernald, R. D. 2016. Timing reproduction in teleost fish: cues and mechanisms. *Current opinion in neurobiology*, 38, 57-62.
- Kalish, J. & Johnston, M. 1997. Validation of age and growth in silver trevally *Pseudocaranx dentex* from Australian waters. *Interim Report. FRDC*.
- Kämpf, J. 2010. On preconditioning of coastal upwelling in the eastern Great Australian Bight. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Oceans*, 115.
- Kämpf, J., Doubell, M., Griffin, D., Matthews, R. L. & Ward, T. M. 2004. Evidence of a large seasonal coastal upwelling system along the southern shelf of Australia. *Geophysical Research Letters*, 31.

- Kaplan, I. C., Francis, T. B., Punt, A. E., Koehn, L. E., Curchitser, E., Hurtado-Ferro, F., Johnson, K. F., Lluch-Cota, S. E., Sydeman, W. J. & Essington, T. E. 2019. A multi-model approach to understanding the role of Pacific sardine in the California Current food web. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 617, 307-321.
- Kassamali-Fox, A., Christiansen, F., May-Collado, L. J., Ramos, E. A. & Kaplin, B. A. 2020. Tour boats affect the activity patterns of bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*) in Bocas del Toro, Panama. *PeerJ*, 8, e8804.
- Keenleyside, M. H. 1955. Some aspects of the schooling behaviour of fish. *Behaviour*, 183-248.
- Koons, D. N., Colchero, F., Hersey, K. & Gimenez, O. 2015. Disentangling the effects of climate, density dependence, and harvest on an iconic large herbivore's population dynamics. *Ecological Applications*, 25, 956-967.
- Krams, R., Krama, T., Elferts, D., Daukšte, J., Raibarte, P., Brūmelis, G., Dauškane, I., Strode, L. & Krams, I. A.
 2022. High Blood Parasite Infection Rate and Low Fitness Suggest That Forest Water Bodies
 Comprise Ecological Traps for Pied Flycatchers. *Birds*, 3, 221-233.
- Kurita, H. 2014. Provisioning and tourism in free-ranging Japanese macaques. *Primate Tourism: a tool for conservation*, 44-56.
- Laake, J. L. 2013. RMark: an R interface for analysis of capture-recapture data with MARK.
- Lafferty, K. D., Harvell, C. D., Conrad, J. M., Friedman, C. S., Kent, M. L., Kuris, A. M., Powell, E. N., Rondeau, D. & Saksida, S. M. 2015. Infectious diseases affect marine fisheries and aquaculture economics. Annual review of Marine Science, 7, 471-496.
- Laffoley, D., Baxter, J. M., Day, J. C., Wenzel, L., Bueno, P. & Zischka, K. 2019. Marine protected areas. *World seas: An environmental evaluation.* Elsevier.
- Lall, S. P. & Tibbetts, S. M. 2009. Nutrition, feeding, and behavior of fish. *Veterinary Clinics of North America: Exotic Animal Practice*, 12, 361-372.
- Lamarre, J. F., Legagneux, P., Gauthier, G., Reed, E. T. & Bêty, J. 2017. Predator-mediated negative effects of overabundant snow geese on arctic-nesting shorebirds. *Ecosphere*, 8, e01788.
- Lassis, R., Festa-Bianchet, M. & Pelletier, F. 2022. Breeding migrations by bighorn sheep males are driven by mating opportunities. *Ecology and Evolution*, 12, e8692.
- Laundré, J. W., Hernández, L. & Ripple, W. J. 2010. The landscape of fear: ecological implications of being afraid. *The Open Ecology Journal*, 3.
- Lee, K., Huveneers, C., Gimenez, O., Peddemors, V. & Harcourt, R. 2014. To catch or to sight? A comparison of demographic parameter estimates obtained from mark-recapture and mark-resight models. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 23, 2781–2800.
- Leung, Y.-F., Spenceley, A., Hvenegaard, G., Buckley, R. & Groves, C. 2018. *Tourism and visitor management in protected areas: Guidelines for sustainability*, IUCN Gland, Switzerland.
- Levin, P. & Poe, M. R. 2017. Conservation for the Anthropocene ocean: interdisciplinary science in support of nature and people, Academic Press.
- Lewis, R. 1981. Seasonal upwelling along the south-eastern coastline of South Australia. *Marine and Freshwater Research*, 32, 843-854.
- Lewis, S. L. & Maslin, M. A. 2015. Defining the anthropocene. *Nature*, 519, 171-180.
- Lima, J. S., Zalmon, I. R. & Love, M. 2019. Overview and trends of ecological and socioeconomic research on artificial reefs. *Marine Environmental Research*, 145, 81-96.
- Lima, S. L. 1998. Nonlethal effects in the ecology of predator-prey interactions. *Bioscience*, 48, 25-34.
- Lindberg, M. S. J. 2012. A review of designs for capture–mark–recapture studies in discrete time. *Journal of Ornithology*, 152, 355-370.
- Lindegren, M., Checkley Jr, D. M., Rouyer, T., Maccall, A. D. & Stenseth, N. C. 2013. Climate, fishing, and fluctuations of sardine and anchovy in the California Current. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 110, 13672-13677.
- Lorenzen, K. & Enberg, K. 2002. Density-dependent growth as a key mechanism in the regulation of fish populations: evidence from among-population comparisons. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences*, 269, 49-54.
- Lusseau, D. 2004. The hidden cost of tourism: detecting long-term effects of tourism using behavioral information. *Ecology and Society*, 9.

- Lutfi, E., Berge, G. M., Bæverfjord, G., Sigholt, T., Bou, M., Larsson, T., Mørkøre, T., Evensen, Ø., Sissener, N.
 H. & Rosenlund, G. 2023. Increasing dietary levels of the n-3 long-chain PUFA, EPA and DHA, improves the growth, welfare, robustness and fillet quality of Atlantic salmon in sea cages. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 129, 10-28.
- Magurran, A. E. The adaptive significance of schooling as an anti-predator defence in fish. Annales Zoologici Fennici, 1990. JSTOR, 51-66.
- Maljković, A. & Côté, I. M. 2011. Effects of tourism-related provisioning on the trophic signatures and movement patterns of an apex predator, the Caribbean reef shark. *Biological Conservation*, 144, 859-865.
- Malone, T. C. & Newton, A. 2020. The globalization of cultural eutrophication in the coastal ocean: causes and consequences. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, **7**, 670.
- Malpass, J. S., Rodewald, A. D. & Matthews, S. N. 2017. Species-dependent effects of bird feeders on nest predators and nest survival of urban American Robins and Northern Cardinals. *The Condor: Ornithological Applications*, 119, 1-16.
- Manfredi, E. C., Flury, B., Viviano, G., Thakuri, S., Khanal, S. N., Jha, P. K., Maskey, R. K., Kayastha, R. B., Kafle, K. R. & Bhochhibhoya, S. 2010. Solid waste and water quality management models for Sagarmatha National Park and Buffer Zone, Nepal. *Mountain Research and Development*, 30, 127-142.
- Maréchal, L., Semple, S., Majolo, B. & Maclarnon, A. 2016. Assessing the effects of tourist provisioning on the health of wild Barbary macaques in Morocco. *PloS one*, **11**, e0155920.
- Marques, A. T., Santos, C. D., Hanssen, F., Muñoz, A. R., Onrubia, A., Wikelski, M., Moreira, F., Palmeirim, J.
 M. & Silva, J. P. 2020. Wind turbines cause functional habitat loss for migratory soaring birds. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 89, 93-103.
- Marsac, F., Fonteneau, A. & Ménard, F. Drifting FADs used in tuna fisheries: an ecological trap? Pêche thonière et dispositifs de concentration de poissons, Caribbean-Martinique, 15-19 Oct 1999, 2000.
- Marshall, C. T. 2007. Disentangling the causes of maturation trends in exploited fish populations. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*.
- Martínez-Abraín, A. & Oro, D. 2013. Preventing the development of dogmatic approaches in conservation biology: a review. *Biological Conservation*, 159, 539-547.
- Martins, N., Magalhães, R., Vieria, L., Couto, A., Serra, C. R., Maia, M. R., Fonseca, A. J., Cabrita, A. R., Pousão-Ferreira, P. & Castro, C. 2023. Dietary oleic acid supplementation improves feed efficiency and modulates fatty acid profile and cell signaling pathway in European sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*) juveniles fed high-lipid diets. *Aquaculture*, 739870.
- Matyjasiak, P., Chacińska, P. & Książka, P. 2023. Anthropogenic noise interacts with the predation risk assessment in a free-ranging bird. *Current Zoology*, zoad019.
- Maynard, L. D., Carvalho, P. C. & Davoren, G. K. 2020. Seabirds vary responses to supplemental food under dynamic natural prey availability and feeding aggregation composition. *The Auk: Ornithological Advances*, 137, ukz062.
- Mcbride, R. S., Somarakis, S., Fitzhugh, G. R., Albert, A., Yaragina, N. A., Wuenschel, M. J., Alonso-Fernández, A. & Basilone, G. 2015. Energy acquisition and allocation to egg production in relation to fish reproductive strategies. *Fish and Fisheries*, 16, 23-57.
- Mcclanahan, T. R. & Mangi, S. 2000. Spillover of exploitable fishes from a marine park and its effect on the adjacent fishery. *Ecological Applications*, 10, 1792-1805.
- Mcclintock, B. T., Hill, J. M., Fritz, L., Chumbley, K., Luxa, K. & Diefenbach, D. R. 2014. Mark-resight abundance estimation under incomplete identification of marked individuals. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 5, 1294-1304.
- Mcclintock, B. T. & White, G. C. 2009. A less field-intensive robust design for estimating demographic parameters with mark–resight data. *Ecology*, 90, 313-320.
- Mcclintock, B. T. & White, G. C. 2012. From NOREMARK to MARK: software for estimating demographic parameters using mark–resight methodology. *Journal of Ornithology*, 152, 641-650.
- Mcclintock, B. T., White, G. C., Antolin, M. F. & Tripp, D. W. 2009a. Estimating abundance using markresight when sampling is with replacement or the number of marked individuals is unknown. *Biometrics*, 65, 237-246.

- Mcclintock, B. T., White, G. C., Burnham, K. P. & Pryde, M. A. 2009b. A generalized mixed effects model of abundance for mark-resight data when sampling is without replacement. *Modeling Demographic Processes in Marked Populations*, 271-289.
- Mcleay, L., Sorokin, S., Rogers, P. & Ward, T. 2003. Benthic Protection Zone of the Great Australian Bight Marine Park: 1. Literature Review. *South Australia Research and Development Institute*.
- Meakin, C. A. & Qin, J. G. 2020. Evaluation of food competition and resource partitioning of recruiting fish with permanent residents in a seagrass habitat. *New Zealand Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research*, 54, 149-166.
- Messer, L. F., Brown, M. V., Van Ruth, P. D., Doubell, M. & Seymour, J. R. 2021. Temperate southern Australian coastal waters are characterised by surprisingly high rates of nitrogen fixation and diversity of diazotrophs. *PeerJ*, 9, e10809.
- Metcalfe, N. 1986. Intraspecific variation in competitive ability and food intake in salmonids: consequences for energy budgets and growth rates. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 28, 525-531.
- Meyer-Gutbrod, E. L., Love, M. S., Schroeder, D. M., Claisse, J. T., Kui, L. & Miller, R. J. 2020. Forecasting the legacy of offshore oil and gas platforms on fish community structure and productivity. *Ecological Applications*, 30, e02185.
- Meyer, L., Apps, K., Bryars, S., Clarke, T., Hayden, B., Pelton, G., Simes, B., Vaughan, L. M., Whitmarsh, S. K. & Huveneers, C. 2021. A multidisciplinary framework to assess the sustainability and acceptability of wildlife tourism operations. *Conservation Letters*, 14, e12788.
- Meyer, L., Barry, C., Araujo, G., Barnett, A., Brunnschweiler, J. M., Chin, A., Gallagher, A., Healy, T., Kock, A. & Newsome, D. 2022. Redefining provisioning in marine wildlife tourism. *Journal of Ecotourism*, 21, 210-229.
- Meyer, L., Pethybridge, H., Beckmann, C., Bruce, B. & Huveneers, C. 2019. The impact of wildlife tourism on the foraging ecology and nutritional condition of an apex predator. *Tourism Management*, 75, 206-215.
- Meyer, L., Whitmarsh, S. K., Nichols, P. D., Revill, A. T. & Huveneers, C. 2020. The effects of wildlife tourism provisioning on non-target species. *Biological Conservation*, 241, 108317.
- Middleton, J., Doubell, M., James, C. E., Luick, J. & Van Ruth, P. 2013. *PIRSA Initiative II: Carrying Capacity of Spencer Gulf: Hydrodynamic and Biogeochemical Measurement Modelling and Performance Monitoring: Final Report for the Fisheries Research and Development Corporation*, South Australian Research and Development Institute, SARDI Aquatic Sciences.
- Milazzo, M., Anastasi, I. & Willis, T. J. 2006. Recreational fish feeding affects coastal fish behavior and increases frequency of predation on damselfish *Chromis chromis* nests. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 310, 165-172.
- Miller, P. A., Fitch, A. J., Gardner, M., Hutson, K. S. & Mair, G. 2011. Genetic population structure of Yellowtail Kingfish (*Seriola lalandi*) in temperate Australasian waters inferred from microsatellite markers and mitochondrial DNA. *Aquaculture*, 319, 328-336.
- Milner, J. M., Van Beest, F. M., Schmidt, K. T., Brook, R. K. & Storaas, T. 2014. To feed or not to feed? Evidence of the intended and unintended effects of feeding wild ungulates. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*, 78, 1322-1334.
- Mitchell, J., Mclean, D., Collin, S. & Langlois, T. 2018. Shark depredation in commercial and recreational fisheries. *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries*, 28, 715-748.
- Moe, S. J., Nater, C., Rustadbakken, A., Vøllestad, L. A., Lund, E., Qvenild, T., Hegge, O. & Aass, P. 2020. Long-term mark-recapture and growth data for large-sized migratory brown trout (*Salmo trutta*) from Lake Mjøsa, Norway. *Biodiversity Data Journal*, 8, e52157.
- Moorcroft, P. R. & Barnett, A. 2008. Mechanistic home range models and resource selection analysis: a reconciliation and unification. *Ecology*, 89, 1112-9.
- Moraes, G. & De Almeida, L. C. 2020. Nutrition and functional aspects of digestion in fish. *Biology and Physiology of Freshwater Neotropical Fish.* Elsevier.
- Morales, J. M., Moorcroft, P. R., Matthiopoulos, J., Frair, J. L., Kie, J. G., Powell, R. A., Merrill, E. H. & Haydon, D. T. 2010. Building the bridge between animal movement and population dynamics. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 365, 2289-301.
- Mota, L. & Frausto, O. 2014. The use of scuba diving tourism for marine protected area management. International Journal of Social, Education, Economics and Management Engineering, 8, 3171-3176.

- Moyano, M., Candebat, C., Ruhbaum, Y., Alvarez-Fernandez, S., Claireaux, G., Zambonino-Infante, J.-L. & Peck, M. A. 2017. Effects of warming rate, acclimation temperature and ontogeny on the critical thermal maximum of temperate marine fish larvae. *PLoS One*, 12, e0179928.
- Muller, E. B., Lika, K., Nisbet, R. M., Schultz, I. R., Casas, J., Gergs, A., Murphy, C. A., Nacci, D. & Watanabe,
 K. H. 2019. Regulation of Reproductive Processes with Dynamic Energy Budgets. *Functional Ecology*, 33, 819-832.
- Muloin, S. 1998. Wildlife tourism: The psychological benefits of whale watching. *Pacific Tourism Review*, 2, 199-213.
- Murphy, S. M., Wilckens, D. T., Augustine, B. C., Peyton, M. A. & Harper, G. C. 2019. Improving estimation of puma (*Puma concolor*) population density: clustered camera-trapping, telemetry data, and generalized spatial mark-resight models. *Scientific Reports*, 9, 4590.
- Murray, M. H., Becker, D. J., Hall, R. J. & Hernandez, S. M. 2016. Wildlife health and supplemental feeding: a review and management recommendations. *Biological Conservation*, 204, 163-174.
- Naidoo, T. & Glassom, D. 2019. Decreased growth and survival in small juvenile fish, after chronic exposure to environmentally relevant concentrations of microplastic. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 145, 254-259.
- Nakagawa, S. & Schielzeth, H. 2013. A general and simple method for obtaining R2 from generalized linear mixed-effects models. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 4, 133-142.
- Naughton, G. P., Keefer, M. L., Clabough, T. S., Jepson, M. A., Lee, S. R., Peery, C. A. & Caudill, C. C. 2011. Influence of pinniped-caused injuries on the survival of adult Chinook salmon (*Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*) and steelhead trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) in the Columbia River basin. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 68, 1615-1624.
- Naylor, R. L., Hardy, R. W., Buschmann, A. H., Bush, S. R., Cao, L., Klinger, D. H., Little, D. C., Lubchenco, J., Shumway, S. E. & Troell, M. 2021. A 20-year retrospective review of global aquaculture. *Nature*, 591, 551-563.
- Nazimi, L., Robbins, W. D., Schilds, A. & Huveneers, C. 2018. Comparison of industry-based data to monitor white shark cage-dive tourism. *Tourism Management*, 66, 263-273.
- Neubauer, P. & Andersen, K. H. 2019. Thermal performance of fish is explained by an interplay between physiology, behaviour and ecology. *Conservation Physiology*, **7**, coz025.
- Neuenfeldt, S., Bartolino, V., Orio, A., Andersen, K. H., Andersen, N. G., Niiranen, S., Bergström, U., Ustups, D., Kulatska, N. & Casini, M. 2020. Feeding and growth of Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua L*.) in the eastern Baltic Sea under environmental change. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 77, 624-632.
- Ngatia, L., Grace Iii, J. M., Moriasi, D. & Taylor, R. 2019. Nitrogen and phosphorus eutrophication in marine ecosystems. *Monitoring of marine pollution*, **1**, 1-17.
- Ngoprasert, D., Lynam, A. J. & Gale, G. A. 2017. Effects of temporary closure of a national park on leopard movement and behaviour in tropical Asia. *Mammalian Biology*, 82, 65-73.
- Nieukirk, S. L., Stafford, K. M., Mellinger, D. K., Dziak, R. P. & Fox, C. G. 2004. Low-frequency whale and seismic airgun sounds recorded in the mid-Atlantic Ocean. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, 115, 1832-1843.
- Noack, J., Heyns, L., Rodenwoldt, D. & Edwards, S. 2019. Leopard density estimation within an enclosed reserve, Namibia using spatially explicit capture-recapture models. *Animals*, 9, 724.
- Norris, D. R., Flockhart, D. T. & Strickland, D. 2013. Contrasting patterns of survival and dispersal in multiple habitats reveal an ecological trap in a food-caching bird. *Oecologia*, 173, 827-835.
- Ogle, D. H. 2018. Introductory fisheries analyses with R, CRC press.
- Olivares-Rubio, H. F. & Arce, E. 2023. Effects of chemical pollution on the behaviour of cichlid fish. *Environmental Biology of Fishes*, 106, 1149-1176.
- Olsén, K. H. 2010. Effects of pollutants on olfactory mediated behaviors in fish and crustaceans. *Chemical Communication in Crustaceans*. Springer.
- Orams, M. B. 2002. Feeding wildlife as a tourism attraction: a review of issues and impacts. *Tourism management*, 23, 281-293.
- Oro, D., Genovart, M., Tavecchia, G., Fowler, M. S. & Martinez-Abrain, A. 2013. Ecological and evolutionary implications of food subsidies from humans. *Ecology Letters*, 16, 1501-14.
- Orrell, D. L. & Hussey, N. E. 2022. Using the VEMCO Positioning System (VPS) to explore fine-scale movements of aquatic species: applications, analytical approaches and future directions. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 687, 195-+.

- Ouboter, D. A., Kadosoe, V. S. & Ouboter, P. E. 2021. Impact of ecotourism on abundance, diversity and activity patterns of medium-large terrestrial mammals at Brownsberg Nature Park, Suriname. *PLoS One,* 16, e0250390.
- Panfili, J., De Pontual, H., Troadec, H. & Wright, P. J. 2002. *Manual of fish sclerochronology*, Ifremer-IRD coedition.
- Pankhurst, N. W. & Munday, P. L. 2011. Effects of climate change on fish reproduction and early life history stages. *Marine and Freshwater Research*, 62, 1015-1026.
- Parisi, M., Cramp, R., Gordos, M. & Franklin, C. 2020. Dataset associated with" Can the impacts of coldwater pollution on fish be mitigated by thermal plasticity?". *Conservation Physiology*.
- Parrish, C. C., Nichols, P. D., Pethybridge, H. & Young, J. W. 2015. Direct determination of fatty acids in fish tissues: quantifying top predator trophic connections. *Oecologia*, 177, 85-95.
- Parsons, T. R., Takahashi, M. & Hargrave, B. 2013. *Biological oceanographic processes*, Elsevier.
- Parton, K. J., Galloway, T. S. & Godley, B. J. 2019. Global review of shark and ray entanglement in anthropogenic marine debris. *Endangered Species Research*, 39, 173-190.
- Pascoe, S., Paredes, S. & Coglan, L. 2023. The Indirect Economic Contribution of Fisheries to Coastal Communities through Tourism. *Fishes*, 8, 138.
- Patroni, J., Simpson, G. & Newsome, D. 2018. Feeding wild fish for tourism—A systematic quantitative literature review of impacts and management. *International Journal of Tourism Research*, 20, 286-298.
- Payne, N. L., Gillanders, B. M., Seymour, R. S., Webber, D. M., Snelling, E. P. & Semmens, J. M. 2011. Accelerometry estimates field metabolic rate in giant Australian cuttlefish *Sepia apama* during breeding. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 80, 422-430.
- Pelicice, F. M. & Agostinho, A. A. 2008. Fish-passage facilities as ecological traps in large neotropical rivers. *Conservation biology*, 22, 180-188.
- Penteriani, V., Delgado, M. D. M., Krofel, M., Jerina, K., Ordiz, A., Dalerum, F., Zarzo-Arias, A. & Bombieri, G.
 2018. Evolutionary and ecological traps for brown bears *Ursus arctos* in human-modified landscapes. *Mammal Review*, 48, 180-193.
- Pérez-Jiménez, A., Cardenete, G., Hidalgo, M. D. C., García-Alcázar, A., Abellán, E. & Morales, A. E. 2012. Metabolic adjustments of *Dentex dentex* to prolonged starvation and refeeding. *Fish Physiology and Biochemistry*, 38, 1145-1157.
- Petrik, C. M., Stock, C. A., Andersen, K. H., Van Denderen, P. D. & Watson, J. R. 2020. Large pelagic fish are most sensitive to climate change despite pelagification of ocean food webs. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 7, 1023.
- Petroelje, T. R., Belant, J. L., Beyer Jr, D. E. & Svoboda, N. J. 2019. Subsidies from anthropogenic resources alter diet, activity, and ranging behavior of an apex predator (*Canis lupus*). *Scientific reports*, 9, 13438.
- Pfaller, J. B., Williams, K. L., Frick, M. G., Shamblin, B. M., Nairn, C. J. & Girondot, M. 2019. Genetic determination of tag loss dynamics in nesting loggerhead turtles: a new chapter in "the tag loss problem". *Marine Biology*, 166, 97.
- Pikitch, E. K., Rountos, K. J., Essington, T. E., Santora, C., Pauly, D., Watson, R., Sumaila, U. R., Boersma, P. D., Boyd, I. L. & Conover, D. O. 2014. The global contribution of forage fish to marine fisheries and ecosystems. *Fish and Fisheries*, 15, 43-64.
- Pini-Fitzsimmons, J., Knott, N. A. & Brown, C. 2018. Effects of food provisioning on site use in the short-tail stingray *Bathytoshia brevicaudata*. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 600, 99-110.
- Pitcher, T. J. 1993. Functions of shoaling behaviour in teleosts. *The Behaviour of Teleost Fishes*. Springer.
- Polis, G. A., Anderson, W. B. & Holt, R. D. 1997. Toward an integration of landscape and food web ecology: the dynamics of spatially subsidized food webs. *Annual review of Ecology and Systematics*, 28, 289-316.
- Popper, A. N. & Hawkins, A. D. 2019. An overview of fish bioacoustics and the impacts of anthropogenic sounds on fishes. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 94, 692-713.
- Post, J. R. & Parkinson, E. 2001. Energy allocation strategy in young fish: allometry and survival. *Ecology*, 82, 1040-1051.
- Post, J. R., Parkinson, E. & Johnston, N. 1999. Density-dependent processes in structured fish populations: interaction strengths in whole-lake experiments. *Ecological Monographs*, 69, 155-175.

- Pratchett, M. S., Caballes, C. F., Hobbs, J.-P. A., Dibattista, J. D., Bergseth, B., Waldie, P., Champion, C., Mc Cormack, S. P. & Hoey, A. S. 2023. Variation in the Physiological Condition of Common Coral Trout (*Plectropomus leopardus*) Unrelated to Coral Cover on the Great Barrier Reef, Australia. *Fishes*, 8, 497.
- Price, C., Black, K. D., Hargrave, B. T. & Morris Jr, J. A. 2015. Marine cage culture and the environment: effects on water quality and primary production. *Aquaculture Environment Interactions*, 6, 151-174.
- Proulx, R., Waldinger, J. & Koper, N. 2019. Anthropogenic landscape changes and their impacts on terrestrial and freshwater soundscapes. *Current Landscape Ecology Reports*, 4, 41-50.
- Raboin, M. & Elias, D. O. 2019. Anthropogenic noise and the bioacoustics of terrestrial invertebrates. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 222, jeb178749.
- Raubenheimer, D. 2011. Toward a quantitative nutritional ecology: The right-angled mixture triangle. *Ecological Monographs*, 81, 407-427.
- Raubenheimer, D. & Simpson, S. J. 2019. Protein leverage: theoretical foundations and ten points of clarification. *Obesity*, 27, 1225-1238.
- Raubenheimer, D., Simpson, S. J. & Mayntz, D. 2009. Nutrition, ecology and nutritional ecology: toward an integrated framework. *Functional Ecology*, 4-16.
- Rees, M., Knott, N., Davis, T., Davis, A., Gudge, S., Neilson, J., Fetterplace, L. & Jordan, A. 2021. Temporal stability in a protected and isolated fish community within marine parks surrounding Lord Howe Island. *Regional Studies in Marine Science*, 48, 102038.
- Reis-Santos, P., Gillanders, B. M., Sturrock, A. M., Izzo, C., Oxman, D. S., Lueders-Dumont, J. A., Hüssy, K., Tanner, S. E., Rogers, T. & Doubleday, Z. A. 2023. Reading the biomineralized book of life: expanding otolith biogeochemical research and applications for fisheries and ecosystem-based management. *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries*, 33, 411-449.
- Reis-Santos, P., Tanner, S. E., Aboim, M. A., Vasconcelos, R. P., Laroche, J., Charrier, G., Pérez, M., Presa, P., Gillanders, B. M. & Cabral, H. N. 2018. Reconciling differences in natural tags to infer demographic and genetic connectivity in marine fish populations. *Scientific Reports*, 8, 10343.
- Reisinger, R. R. & Karczmarski, L. 2010. Population size estimate of Indo-Pacific bottlenose dolphins in the Algoa Bay region, South Africa. *Marine Mammal Science*, 26, 86-97.
- Richardson, L., Middleton, J., James, N., Kyser, T. K. & Opdyke, B. 2020. Upwelling characteristics and nutrient enrichment of the Kangaroo Island upwelling region, South Australia. *Continental Shelf Research*, 200, 104111.
- Richardson, L., Middleton, J., James, N. P., Kyser, T. K. & Opdyke, B. 2018. Water masses and their seasonal variation on the Lincoln Shelf, South Australia. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 63, 1944-1963.
- Rider, M. J., Mcdonnell, L. H. & Hammerschlag, N. 2021. Multi-year movements of adult and subadult bull sharks (*Carcharhinus leucas*): philopatry, connectivity, and environmental influences. *Aquatic Ecology*, 55, 559-577.
- Righetti, D., Vogt, M., Gruber, N., Psomas, A. & Zimmermann, N. E. 2019. Global pattern of phytoplankton diversity driven by temperature and environmental variability. *Science Advances*, 5, eaau6253.
- Rindorf, A., Van Deurs, M., Howell, D., Andonegi, E., Berger, A., Bogstad, B., Cadigan, N., Elvarsson, B. P., Hintzen, N. & Savina Roland, M. 2022. Strength and consistency of density dependence in marine fish productivity. *Fish and Fisheries*, 23, 812-828.
- Rizzari, J. R., Semmens, J. M., Fox, A. & Huveneers, C. 2017. Observations of marine wildlife tourism effects on a non-focal species. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 91, 981-988.
- Robb, G. N., Mcdonald, R. A., Chamberlain, D. E. & Bearhop, S. 2008. Food for thought: supplementary feeding as a driver of ecological change in avian populations. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 6, 476-484.
- Roberts, S., Dixon, C. & Andreacchio, L. 2012. Temperature dependent larval duration and survival of the western king prawn, *Penaeus (Melicertus) latisulcatus Kishinouye*, from Spencer Gulf, South Australia. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, 411, 14-22.
- Roberts, S. D., Van Ruth, P. D., Wilkinson, C., Bastianello, S. S. & Bansemer, M. S. 2019. Marine heatwave, harmful algae blooms and an extensive fish kill event during 2013 in South Australia. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 6, 610.

- Robinson, L., Hobday, A., Possingham, H. & Richardson, A. J. 2015. Trailing edges projected to move faster than leading edges for large pelagic fish habitats under climate change. *Deep Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography*, 113, 225-234.
- Robinson, W. D., Bowlin, M. S., Bisson, I., Shamoun-Baranes, J., Thorup, K., Diehl, R. H., Kunz, T. H., Mabey,
 S. & Winkler, D. W. 2010. Integrating concepts and technologies to advance the study of bird
 migration. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 8, 354-361.
- Rowling, K. R. & Raines, L. P. 2000. *Description of the biology and an assessment of the fishery for silver trevally Pseudocaranx dentex off New South Wales*, NSW Fisheries Research Institute Cronulla, Australia.
- Rykaczewski, R. R. & Checkley, D. M. 2008. Influence of ocean winds on the pelagic ecosystem in upwelling regions. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 105, 1965-1970.
- Sargent, J., Bell, J., Bell, M., Henderson, R. & Tocher, D. 1995. Requirement criteria for essential fatty acids. *Journal of Applied Ichthyology*, 11, 183-198.
- Sawyer, J. M., Arts, M. T., Arhonditsis, G. & Diamond, M. L. 2016. A general model of polyunsaturated fatty acid (PUFA) uptake, loss and transformation in freshwater fish. *Ecological Modelling*, 323, 96-105.
- Schatz, B., Lachaud, J.-P. & Beugnon, G. 1999. Spatio-temporal learning by the ant Ectatomma ruidum. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 202, 1897-1907.
- Scheyvens, R. 1999. Ecotourism and the empowerment of local communities. *Tourism Management*, 20, 245-249.
- Schlaepfer, M. A., Runge, M. C. & Sherman, P. W. 2002. Ecological and evolutionary traps. *Trends in ecology* & evolution, 17, 474-480.
- Schmidt, K. T. & Hoi, H. 2002. Supplemental feeding reduces natural selection in juvenile red deer. *Ecography*, 25, 265-272.
- Schoech, S. J., Bridge, E. S., Boughton, R. K., Reynolds, S. J., Atwell, J. W. & Bowman, R. 2008. Food supplementation: A tool to increase reproductive output? A case study in the threatened Florida Scrub-Jay. *Biological Conservation*, 141, 162-173.
- Schoech, S. J. & Hahn, T. P. 2007. Food supplementation and timing of reproduction: does the responsiveness to supplementary information vary with latitude? *Journal of Ornithology*, 148, 625-632.
- Sebens, K. P. 1987. The ecology of indeterminate growth in animals. *Annual review of Ecology and Systematics*, 18, 371-407.
- Seber, G. A. & Schofield, M. R. 2019. Tagging Methods and Tag Loss. *Capture-Recapture: Parameter Estimation for Open Animal Populations.* Springer.
- Semeniuk, C. A. 2009. Unifying ecological and social sciences into a management framework for wildlifebased tourism: a case study of feeding stingrays as a marine tourism attraction in the Cayman Islands. Thesis submitted to Simon Fraser University.
- Semeniuk, C. A., Bourgeon, S., Smith, S. L. & Rothley, K. D. 2009. Hematological differences between stingrays at tourist and non-visited sites suggest physiological costs of wildlife tourism. *Biological Conservation*, 142, 1818-1829.
- Semeniuk, C. A. & Rothley, K. D. 2008. Costs of group-living for a normally solitary forager: effects of provisioning tourism on southern stingrays *Dasyatis americana*. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 357, 271-282.
- Semeniuk, C. A., Speers-Roesch, B. & Rothley, K. D. 2007. Using fatty-acid profile analysis as an ecologic indicator in the management of tourist impacts on marine wildlife: a case of stingray-feeding in the Caribbean. *Environmental Management*, 40, 665-677.
- Semeniuk, V. & Cresswell, I. 2018. Australian mangroves: Anthropogenic impacts by industry, agriculture, ports, and urbanisation. *Threats to Mangrove Forests: hazards, vulnerability, and management*, 173-197.
- Sengupta, A., Mcconkey, K. R. & Kwit, C. 2021. The influence of provisioning on animal-mediated seed dispersal. *Oikos*.
- Sengupta, A. & Radhakrishna, S. 2018. The hand that feeds the monkey: mutual influence of humans and rhesus macaques (*Macaca mulatta*) in the context of provisioning. *International Journal of Primatology*, 39, 817-830.

- Senigaglia, V., Christiansen, F., Bejder, L., Sprogis, K. & Cantor, M. 2022. Human food provisioning impacts the social environment, home range and fitness of a marine top predator. *Animal Behaviour*, 187, 291-304.
- Shakouri, B., Khoshnevis Yazdi, S. & Fashandi, A. Overfishing. 2010 2nd International Conference on Chemical, Biological and Environmental Engineering, 2010. IEEE, 229-234.
- Shankar, A., Graham, C. H., Canepa, J. R., Wethington, S. M. & Powers, D. R. 2019. Hummingbirds budget energy flexibly in response to changing resources. *Functional Ecology*, 33, 1904-1916.
- Shlepr, K., Ronconi, R., Hayden, B., Allard, K. & Diamond, A. 2021. Estimating the relative use of anthropogenic resources by Herring Gull (*Larus argentatus*) in the Bay of Fundy, Canada. *Avian Conservation and Ecology*, 16.
- Shutt, J. D. & Lees, A. C. 2021. Killing with kindness: Does widespread generalised provisioning of wildlife help or hinder biodiversity conservation efforts? *Biological Conservation*, 261, 109295.
- Silva, F. C. D., Ferreira Junior, A. L., Artoni, R. F. & Bessa, E. 2020. Impact of feeding fish as a tourist attraction on a coral reef invertivorous fish's diet and growth. *Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems*, 30, 2327-2335.
- Simpfendorfer, C. A., Heupel, M. R. & Hueter, R. E. 2002. Estimation of short-term centers of activity from an array of omnidirectional hydrophones and its use in studying animal movements. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 59, 23-32.
- Simpfendorfer, C. A., Olsen, E. M., Heupel, M. R. & Moland, E. 2012. Three-dimensional kernel utilization distributions improve estimates of space use in aquatic animals. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 69, 565-572.
- Simpson, S. J. & Raubenheimer, D. 2012. *The nature of nutrition: a unifying framework from animal adaptation to human obesity*, Princeton university press.
- Skeeles, M. R. & Clark, T. D. 2023. Evidence for energy reallocation, not oxygen limitation, driving the deceleration in growth of adult fish. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 226.
- Smallwood, C. B., Beckley, L. E., Moore, S. A. & Kobryn, H. T. 2011. Assessing patterns of recreational use in large marine parks: A case study from Ningaloo Marine Park, Australia. Ocean & Coastal Management, 54, 330-340.
- Smart, J., Mcgarvey, R., Feenstra, J., Drew, M., Earl, J., Durante, L. M., Beckmann, C., Matthews, D., Mark, K., Bussell, J., Davey, J., Tsolos, A. & Noell, C. 2023. Assessment of the South Australian Marine Scalefish Fishery in 2021/22. Report to PIRSA Fisheries and Aquaculture. South Australian Research and Development Institute (Aquatic Sciences), Adelaide. SARDI publication No. F2017/000427-6 SARDI Research Report Series No. 1184. 296pp.
- Smart, J. J., Chin, A., Tobin, A. J. & Simpfendorfer, C. A. 2016. Multimodel approaches in shark and ray growth studies: strengths, weaknesses and the future. *Fish and Fisheries*, 17, 955-971.
- Smart, J. J. & Grammer, G. L. 2021. Modernising fish and shark growth curves with Bayesian length-at-age models. *PLoS One*, 16, e0246734.
- Smith-Vaniz, W. F. & Jelks, H. L. 2006. Australian trevallies of the genus *Pseudocaranx* (Teleostei: Carangidae), with description of a new species from Western Australia. *Memoirs of Museum Victoria*, 63, 97-106.
- Smith, C. R., Roman, J. & Nation, J. 2019. A metapopulation model for whale-fall specialists: The largest whales are essential to prevent species extinctions. *Journal of Marine Research*.
- Sollmann, R., Gardner, B., Parsons, A. W., Stocking, J. J., Mcclintock, B. T., Simons, T. R., Pollock, K. H. & O'connell, A. F. 2013. A spatial mark–resight model augmented with telemetry data. *Ecology*, 94, 553-559.
- Søndergaard, M. & Jeppesen, E. 2007. Anthropogenic impacts on lake and stream ecosystems, and approaches to restoration. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 44, 1089-1094.
- Soofiani, N. & Hawkins, A. 1985. Field studies of energy budgets. *Fish Energetics: new perspectives*, 283-307.
- Sorrell, K. J., Clarke, R. H., Holmberg, R. & Mcintosh, R. R. 2019. Remotely piloted aircraft improve precision of capture–mark–resight population estimates of Australian fur seals. *Ecosphere*, 10, e02812.
- Spinu, V., Grolemund, G. & Wickham, H. 2018. lubridate: Make Dealing with Dates a Little Easier, R package version 1.7. 4.

- Sprogis, K. R. & Waddell, T. L. 2022. Marine mammal distribution on the western coast of Exmouth Gulf, Western Australia. *Report to the Australian Marine Conservation Society.*(*Aarhus University and Carijoa Marine Environmental Consulting: Rivervale, WA, Australia) p,* 17.
- Stallings, C. D., Coleman, F. C., Koenig, C. C. & Markiewicz, D. A. 2010. Energy allocation in juveniles of a warm-temperate reef fish. *Environmental Biology of Fishes*, 88, 389-398.
- Standal, D. & Hersoug, B. 2023. Illegal fishing: A challenge to fisheries management in Norway. *Marine Policy*, 155, 105750.
- Staniland, I. J., Ratcliffe, N., Trathan, P. N. & Forcada, J. 2018. Long term movements and activity patterns of an Antarctic marine apex predator: The leopard seal. *PLoS One*, 13, e0197767.
- Svane, I. & Barnett, J. 2008. The occurrence of benthic scavengers and their consumption at tuna farms off Port Lincoln, South Australia. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, 363, 110-117.
- Syahailatua, A., Taylor, M. D. & Suthers, I. M. 2011. Growth variability and stable isotope composition of two larval carangid fishes in the East Australian Current: The role of upwelling in the separation zone. Deep Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography, 58, 691-698.
- Tabak, M. A., Piaggio, A. J., Miller, R. S., Sweitzer, R. A. & Ernest, H. B. 2017. Anthropogenic factors predict movement of an invasive species. *Ecosphere*, 8, e01844.
- Takahata, Y., Uchida, K., Shimamoto, T., Kutsukake, N., Shirai, K., Tanaka, K. & Ito, M. 2023. Supplemental feedings affect diet seasonality and niche width in urban Eurasian red squirrels. *Journal of Mammalogy*, gyad089.
- Tamario, C., Sunde, J., Petersson, E., Tibblin, P. & Forsman, A. 2019. Ecological and evolutionary consequences of environmental change and management actions for migrating fish. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution*, **7**, 271.
- Tanner, S. E., Reis-Santos, P. & Cabral, H. N. 2016. Otolith chemistry in stock delineation: a brief overview, current challenges and future prospects. *Fisheries Research*, 173, 206-213.
- Taylor, M. D., Van Der Meulen, D. E., Brodie, S., Cadiou, G. & Knott, N. A. 2018. Applying acoustic telemetry to understand contaminant exposure and bioaccumulation patterns in mobile fishes. *Science of The Total Environment*, 625, 344-354.
- Team, R. D. C. 2016. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. URL <u>https://www.R-project.org/</u>.
- Teske, P. R., Emami-Khoyi, A., Golla, T. R., Sandoval-Castillo, J., Lamont, T., Chiazzari, B., Mcquaid, C. D., Beheregaray, L. B. & Van Der Lingen, C. D. 2021. The sardine run in southeastern Africa is a mass migration into an ecological trap. *Science Advances*, 7, eabf4514.
- Tian, J.-J., Lei, C.-X., Ji, H., Kaneko, G., Zhou, J.-S., Yu, H.-B., Li, Y., Yu, E.-M. & Xie, J. 2017. Comparative analysis of effects of dietary arachidonic acid and EPA on growth, tissue fatty acid composition, antioxidant response and lipid metabolism in juvenile grass carp, *Ctenopharyngodon idellus*. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 118, 411-422.
- Tjørve, K. M. & Tjørve, E. 2017. The use of Gompertz models in growth analyses, and new Gompertz-model approach: An addition to the Unified-Richards family. *PloS one*, 12, e0178691.
- Tocher, D. R. 2003. Metabolism and functions of lipids and fatty acids in teleost fish. *Reviews in Fisheries Science*, 11, 107-184.
- Tocher, D. R., Bendiksen, E. Å., Campbell, P. J. & Bell, J. G. 2008. The role of phospholipids in nutrition and metabolism of teleost fish. *Aquaculture*, 280, 21-34.
- Trave, C., Brunnschweiler, J., Sheaves, M., Diedrich, A. & Barnett, A. 2017. Are we killing them with kindness? Evaluation of sustainable marine wildlife tourism. *Biological Conservation*, 209, 211-222.
- Tsoularis, A. & Wallace, J. 2002. Analysis of logistic growth models. *Mathematical Biosciences*, 179, 21-55.
- Tucker, A. M., Mcgowan, C. P., Robinson, R. A., Clark, J. A., Lyons, J. E., Derose-Wilson, A., Du Feu, R., Austin, G. E., Atkinson, P. W. & Clark, N. A. 2019. Effects of individual misidentification on estimates of survival in long-term mark–resight studies. *The Condor: Ornithological Applications*, 121, duy017.
- Turchini, G. M., Francis, D. S., Du, Z.-Y., Olsen, R. E., Ringø, E. & Tocher, D. R. 2022. The lipids. *Fish Nutrition*. Elsevier.
- Twining-Ward, L., Li, W., Bhammar, H. & Wright, E. 2018. Supporting sustainable livelihoods through wildlife tourism.

Udyawer, V., Dwyer, R. G., Hoenner, X., Babcock, R. C., Brodie, S., Campbell, H. A., Harcourt, R. G., Huveneers, C., Jaine, F. R. & Simpfendorfer, C. A. 2018. A standardised framework for analysing animal detections from automated tracking arrays. *Animal Biotelemetry*, 6, 1-14.

- Udyawer, V., Simpfendorfer, C. A. & Heupel, M. R. 2015. Diel patterns in three-dimensional use of space by sea snakes. *Animal Biotelemetry*, **3**, 1-9.
- Uglem, I., Karlsen, Ø., Sanchez-Jerez, P. & Sæther, B.-S. 2014. Impacts of wild fishes attracted to open-cage salmonid farms in Norway. *Aquaculture Environment Interactions*, 6, 91-103.
- Vagabov, M. M. & Eldarov, E. M. 2019. Development of hunting tourism in Dagestan: problems and prospects. *Ponte Academic Journal*, 75.

Valentine, P. & Birtles, A. 2004. Wildlife watching. Common Ground Publishing.

- Valenza-Troubat, N., Davy, M., Storey, R., Wylie, M. J., Hilario, E., Ritchie, P. & Wellenreuther, M. 2022. Differential expression analyses reveal extensive transcriptional plasticity induced by temperature in New Zealand silver trevally (*Pseudocaranx georgianus*). *Evolutionary Applications*, 15, 237-248.
- Van Ruth, P. D., Ganf, G. G. & Ward, T. M. 2010. Hot-spots of primary productivity: an alternative interpretation to conventional upwelling models. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science*, 90, 142-158.
- Veech, J. A., Ott, J. R. & Troy, J. R. 2016. Intrinsic heterogeneity in detection probability and its effect on Nmixture models. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, **7**, 1019-1028.
- Viglia, S., Brown, M. T., Love, D. C., Fry, J., Neff, R. A. & Hilborn, R. 2022. Wild caught Alaska sockeye salmon: A case study of the food energy water nexus for a sustainable wild catch fishery. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 369, 133263.
- Vignon, M., Sasal, P., Johnson, R. L. & Galzin, R. 2010. Impact of shark-feeding tourism on surrounding fish populations off Moorea Island (French Polynesia). *Marine and Freshwater Research*, 61, 163-169.
- Volkoff, H. & Ronnestad, I. 2020. Effects of temperature on feeding and digestive processes in fish. *Temperature*, **7**, 307-320.
- Von Bertalanffy, L. 1938. A quantitative theory of organic growth (inquiries on growth laws. II). *Human Biology*, 10, 181-213.
- Von Bertalanffy, L. 1957. Quantitative laws in metabolism and growth. *The Quarterly Review of Biology*, 32, 217-231.
- Votier, S. C., Furness, R. W., Bearhop, S., Crane, J. E., Caldow, R. W., Catry, P., Ensor, K., Hamer, K. C., Hudson, A. V. & Kalmbach, E. 2004. Changes in fisheries discard rates and seabird communities. *Nature*, 427, 727-730.
- Wacker, S., Skaug, H. J., Forseth, T., Solem, Ø., Ulvan, E. M., Fiske, P. & Karlsson, S. 2021. Considering sampling bias in close-kin mark–recapture abundance estimates of Atlantic salmon. *Ecology and Evolution*, 11, 3917-3932.
- Walsh, C., Horn, P., Mckenzie, J., Maolagáin, C., Buckthought, D. & Sutton, C. 2014. Age determination protocol for trevally (*Pseudocaranx dentex*). *New Zealand Fisheries Assessment Report*, 52.
- Ward-Paige, C., Flemming, J. M. & Lotze, H. K. 2010. Overestimating fish counts by non-instantaneous visual censuses: consequences for population and community descriptions. *PLoS One*, **5**, e11722.
- Ward, T. M., Mcleay, L. J., Dimmlich, W. F., Rogers, P. J., Mcclatchie, S., Matthews, R., Kaempf, J. & Van Ruth, P. D. 2006. Pelagic ecology of a northern boundary current system: effects of upwelling on the production and distribution of sardine (*Sardinops sagax*), anchovy (*Engraulis australis*) and southern bluefin tuna (*Thunnus maccoyii*) in the Great Australian Bight. *Fisheries Oceanography*, 15, 191-207.
- Wearing, S. & Neil, J. 2009. *Ecotourism*, Routledge.
- Wen, C. K., Chen, K.-S., Tung, W.-C., Chao, A., Wang, C.-W., Liu, S.-L. & Ho, M.-J. 2019. The influence of tourism-based provisioning on fish behavior and benthic composition. *Ambio*, 48, 779-789.
- Wheeler, C. R., Gervais, C. R., Johnson, M. S., Vance, S., Rosa, R., Mandelman, J. W. & Rummer, J. L. 2020. Anthropogenic stressors influence reproduction and development in elasmobranch fishes. *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries*, 30, 373-386.
- White, G. C. & Burnham, K. P. 1999. Program MARK: survival estimation from populations of marked animals. *Bird study*, 46, S120-S139.
- Whitmarsh, S. 2019. Investigating the Anthropocene Influence on Temperate Fish Assemblages Through Baited Remote Underwater Video Stations (BRUVS). Flinders University, College of Science and Engineering.

- Whitmarsh, S. K., Amin, D. B., Costi, J. J., Dennis, J. D. & Huveneers, C. 2019. Effectiveness of novel fabrics to resist punctures and lacerations from white shark (*Carcharodon carcharias*): Implications to reduce injuries from shark bites. *PloS one*, 14, e0224432.
- Williams, R., Lusseau, D. & Hammond, P. S. 2006. Estimating relative energetic costs of human disturbance to killer whales (*Orcinus orca*). *Biological Conservation*, 133, 301-311.
- Willis, J. & Hobday, A. J. 2008. Application of bioelectrical impedance analysis as a method for estimating composition and metabolic condition of southern bluefin tuna (*Thunnus maccoyii*) during conventional tagging. *Fisheries Research*, 93, 64-71.
- Winkler, D. W., Jørgensen, C., Both, C., Houston, A. I., Mcnamara, J. M., Levey, D. J., Partecke, J., Fudickar,
 A., Kacelnik, A. & Roshier, D. 2014. Cues, strategies, and outcomes: how migrating vertebrates track
 environmental change. *Movement Ecology*, 2, 1-15.
- Wood, S. & Wood, M. S. 2015. Package 'mgcv'. *R package version*, 1, 729.
- Wttc. 2023. *Economic impact research* [Online]. Available: <u>https://wttc.org/research/economic-impact</u> [Accessed 30/11/2023].
- Xu, H., Meng, X., Wei, Y., Ma, Q., Liang, M. & Turchini, G. M. 2022. Arachidonic acid matters. *Reviews in Aquaculture*, 14, 1912-1944.
- Yang, L. H., Bastow, J. L., Spence, K. O. & Wright, A. N. 2008. What can we learn from resource pulses. *Ecology*, 89, 621-634.
- Yirga, G., De Iongh, H. H., Leirs, H., Gebrihiwot, K., Deckers, J. & Bauer, H. 2012. Adaptability of large carnivores to changing anthropogenic food sources: diet change of spotted hyena (*Crocuta crocuta*) during Christian fasting period in northern Ethiopia. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 81, 1052-1055.
- Zimmermann, F., Ricard, D. & Heino, M. 2018. Density regulation in Northeast Atlantic fish populations: density dependence is stronger in recruitment than in somatic growth. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 87, 672-681.

APPENDICES

Supplementary material 1. Link to trevally impeding cage-diving tourist's view. https://drive.google.com/file/d/1eM8EDxxkodDmhY9EJHt6vQmhBVFszefk/view?usp=sharing

Supplementary material 2. Link to video of silver trevally bursting towards fresh baits thrown by the cage-diving industry.

https://drive.google.com/file/d/1jkJuGB21UgfWXB9HW90d7vHnucdRcrCl/view?usp=sharing

Supplementary material 3. Acoustic tag specifications.

V9AP transmitter settings were: 270–330s interval delay between high power transmissions, depth resolution of 0.1504 m and range of 34 m, accelerometer range of \pm 4.9 m/s², and acceleration/depth transmission ratio of 3:1. Acceleration was sampled at 12.5 Hz for 15 seconds prior to each transmission and converted using the root mean square value of all three axes (activity = $\sqrt{X^2 + Y^2 + Z^2}$), averaged over time). The static contribution to the overall acceleration (g) was filtered out prior to root mean square calculation. The root mean square acceleration resolution was 0.01922 m/s².

Supplementary material 4. Link to video of swim pass survey conducted to resight ID tags for mark-resight abundance estimates.

https://drive.google.com/file/d/1xBoUugOTY05sglwVdIQt5DngMpVJNzWA/view?usp=drive_link

Supplementary table 1. R² values for each top-ranked model and each variables included in these models.

Model	Variable	R ² (%)
Time spent	Full model	28.30
	Operator type	3.60
	Month	20.20
	TagID	4.40
Weekly Residency	Full model	31.70
	Operating days	2.50
	Month	25.50
	TagID	2.90
3DKUD-50 volume	Full model	47.10
	Operator presence	11.10
	Month	34.30
	TagID	2.20
3DKUD-95 volume	Full model	53.90
	Operator presence	9.10
	Month	38.80
	TagID	3.90
Distance	Full model	18.11
	Hour	3.42
	Operator type	8.16
	Hour*Operator type	12.84
	Month	5.37
	TagID	0.75
Depth	Full model	31.00
•	Distance	1.38
	Hour	0.21
	Month	5.59
	Operator type	0.25
	Distance*Operator type	2.94
	TagID	28.28
Activity	Full model	17.01
······,	Depth	8.48
	Distance	0.027
	Hour	0.95
	Operator type	0.15
	Distance*Operator type	0.86
	Hour*Operator type	1.65
	Month	3.42
	TagID	9.29
Davs since last boat	Full model	5.80
	Days since	0.70

Supplementary table 2. Mark-resight model selection table for three mark-resight models (IELNE^{MR}, PLNE^{MR}, IELNE^{AC}) for two sampling years (2020; 2021): IELNE^{MR} and PLNE^{MR}: ID-tagged individuals and untagged individuals during surveys. IELNE^{AC}: Acoustic detections during surveys and untagged individuals during surveys. Model parameters are resighting probability (*p*), individual heterogeneity (σ), difference in population size and the mean population size (α), the mean population size (N^-), the super-population size (N^*), apparent survival (φ), the total number of unmarked individuals in the population (U), and the probability of transitioning from an unobservable state (γ''). Modelled as constant (.) or varying over time (t). AIC_c, Akaike's information criterion corrected for small sample size; ΔAIC_c , difference in AIC_c between the current and the top-ranked model; *w*AIC_c, model probability; Only the top 4 ranked models are presented for table clarity.

Model	AIC _c	ΔAIC _c	wAICc	Model likelihood	# Par	Deviance
IELNE ^{MR}						
2020						
p(.) σ (0) α (0) Ν [*] (t) Ν⁻ (t)	2490.21	0	0.87	1	30	2402.21
p(t) σ (0) α (0) N [*] (t) N ⁻ (t)	2494.05	3.84	0.13	0	41	2385.02
p(.) σ (0) α (.) N [*] (t) N ⁻ (t)	2518.06	27.84	0	0	31	2450.43
p(.) σ (0) α (t) N [*] (t) N ⁻ (t)	2530.41	40.23	0	0	40	2465.04
2021						
p(.) σ (0) α (0) Ν*(t) Ν⁻ (t)	3100.726	0	1	1	30	2779.17
p(t) σ (0) α (0) N [*] (t) N ⁻ (t)	3104.736	4.01	0	0	41	3019.03
p(.) σ (0) α (.) N [*] (t) N ⁻ (t)	3181.556	80.83	0	0	31	3116.15
p(.) σ (0) α (t) N*(t) N- (t)	3199.077	98.35	0	0	40	3135.89
IELNE ^{AC}						
2020						
p(t) σ (.) α (t) N*(t) N- (t)	2577.358	0	1	1	41	2489.35
p(t) σ (.) α (.) N*(t) N– (t)	2584.568	7.21	0	0	32	2501.54
p(.) σ (.) α (t) N*(t) N– (t)	2594.418	9.85	0	0	32	2510.65
p(.) σ (.) α (.) N*(t) N- (t)	2614.898	20.48	0	0	23	2594.54
2021						
p(t) σ (.) α (t) N*(t) N- (t)	2639.25	0	1	1	69	2589.42
p(t) σ (.) α (.) N*(t) N– (t)	2642.53	3.28	0	0	53	2601.25
p(.) σ (.) α (t) N*(t) N– (t)	2657.77	15.24	0	0	53	2610.59
p(.) σ (.) α (.) N*(t) N- (t)	2695.66	37.89	0	0	37	2661.21
PLNE ^{MR}						
2020						
φ(.) σ (0) α (.) γ"(.) U(t)	15815.72	0	1	1	12	15791.61
φ(.) σ (0) α (t) γ''(.) U(t)	15867.34	51.62	0	0	19	15831.09
$φ(t) \sigma$ (0) α (.) γ''(.) U(t)	15880.20	64.48	0	0	18	15844.05
φ(.) σ (0) α (.) γ''(t) U(t)	15889.15	73.43	0	0	18	15862.52
2021						
φ(.) σ (0) α (.) γ"(.) U(t)	2550.14	0	1	1	14	2505.85
φ(t) σ (0) α (.) γ''(t) U(t)	2583.06	32.92	0	0	22	2538.77
φ(t) σ (0) α (.) γ"(.) U(t)	2655.23	105.09	0	0	22	2594.70
φ(.) σ (0) α (.) γ"(t) U(t)	2666.64	116.51	0	0	30	2638.52

Supplementary table 3. Number of samples of silver trevally (*Pseudocaranx georgianus*) for different sampling habitats (North Neptune, Offshore, Coastal) and analysis types (Growth = length-at-age analysis, BIA = Bioelectrical Impedance Analysis, FA = Fatty acid analysis) in South Australia. Numbers in parentheses indicates location numbers on Figure 24.

Location	Growth	BIA	FA
North Neptune (1)	207	448	7
Offshore			
Liguana (2)	7	-	5
South Neptune (3)	73	144	-
The Pages (4)	52	47	10
Saunders Bank (5)	32	-	
Coastal			
Aldinga (6)	8	-	-
Arno Bay (7)	4	-	-
Cape Elizabeth (8)	13	-	-
Coffin bay (9)	8	-	-
Dangerous reef (10)	117	56	24
Point Turton (11)	27	-	-
Port Kenny (12)	22	-	-
The Passage (13)	34	-	



Supplementary figure 1. A. Weight frequency distribution of 700 randomly sampled silver trevally (*Pseudocaranx georgianus*) from the Neptune Islands Group Marine Park, South Australia. Weight was calculated using a bayesian length-weight relationship (weight = $10^{\log 10(0.0141)} + 2.96 * \log_{10}(\text{length})$) for measured lengths. **B.** Total length frequency distribution of 700 randomly sampled silver trevally.



Supplementary figure 2. Age structures of silver trevally (*Pseudocaranx georgianus*) for different habitat types from South Australia. North Neptunes unaged age estimates calculated from an age-length-key using lengths of a random catch of individuals. Coastal n = 233 (8 locations), North Neptune unaged n = 694 (1 location), Offshore n = 164 (5 locations). Bin widths are 1 year.